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December 20, 2023

The Honorable Mayor John Kirkland,
Members of the Town Council, and
Citizens of the Town of River Bend, NC

State Law requires that all general-purpose local governments publish, within six months of
the close of each fiscal year, a complete set of financial statements presented in conformity
with generally accepted auditing principles (GAAP) and audited in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards by a firm of licensed certified public accountants. Pursuant to that
requirement, the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report of the Town of River Bend, North
Carolina for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 is presented herewith for your review.

This report is presented by the management of the Town of River Bend, which is responsible
for the completeness and reliability of the information included in this report. To provide
reasonable assurance that the information contained in the financial statements is complete and
accurate, the Town has developed an internal control framework that is designed to protect the
government’s assets from loss, theft, or misuse and maintain reliable records for compilation
and presentation. The Town has a small administrative staff but employees are cross-trained
and checks and balances have been included in financial procedures. The concept of reasonable
assurance recognizes that: (1) the cost of control should not exceed the benefits likely derived;
and (2) the evaluation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management.

All internal control evaluations occur within the above framework. After a significant
investment in accounting software and utilization of the controls and safeguards afforded by
this system, we believe the Town’s internal accounting controls adequately safeguard assets
and provide reasonable assurance of proper recording of financial transactions.

The Town’s financial statements and supplemental schedules in the Financial Section have
been audited by the independent, certified public accounting firm of Thompson, Price, Scott,
Adams & Co., P.A. The goal of the independent audit was to provide reasonable assurance
that the financial statements of the Town, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 are free of
material misstatement. The independent audit involved examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the basic financial statements; assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management; and evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation.

The independent auditors concluded, based on the audit, that there was reasonable basis for
rendering an unmodified opinion that the Town’s basic financial statements for the year ended
June 30, 2023 were presented in conformity with GAAP. The independent auditors’ report is
presented as the first component of the financial section of this report. GAAP require that
management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the basic
financial statements in the form of Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A).
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This letter of transmittal is designed to complement the MD&A and should be read in
conjunction with it. The Town’s MD&A can be found immediately following the report of the
independent auditors.

Community Profile

Founded as the City of River Bend Plantation, it was renamed the Town of River Bend in 1981
when it was incorporated. Located in Craven County a few miles south of historic New Bern,
River Bend, North Carolina encompasses three square miles of wooded area, bordered by the
Trent River on the south and a navigable canal system on the east. The Town of River Bend is
primarily a residential community. A privately owned 18-hole golf course winds throughout
the town and a privately owned marina serves the needs of recreational boaters along with a
public kayak launch on the Trent River.

Town Government

The Governing Body of the Town of River Bend is composed of a Mayor and five Council
members. All five members of the Town Council (Council) are elected at-large to serve four-
year terms. Terms of office are staggered so an election for at least a portion of the Council is
held every two years.

The Mayor is elected directly by the voters to serve a four-year term and presides at all
meetings of the Council and represents the Town at official functions. The Mayor, and each
member of the Council, serves as liaisons to Advisory Boards, or in other administrative
capacities in support of the function of the Town. The Mayor Pro-Tem is a member of the
Council, selected by the Council to assume the duties of the Mayor in the Mayor's absence.

The North Carolina General Assembly recently amended the Charter of the Town of River
Bend with the passage of North Carolina Session Law 2021-39. This amendment changed the
voting schedule for the office of Mayor and Council members to coincide with State and
Federal elections, which occur in even-numbered years. Historically, municipal elections in
North Carolina were held in odd-numbered years. Therefore, the General Assembly extended
the terms of the current Mayor and each current member of the Council by one year.

The Town of River Bend operates under the Council-Manager form of government. The
Council appoints the Town Manager to handle the administrative affairs of the Town. The
Manager is the supervisor of Town staff and, by law, the Town's budget officer. The Manager
provides the Council with weekly and monthly reports regarding the operational and financial
condition of the Town and works with the Council to establish and implement long range plans.
The Council also appoints volunteer boards to serve in advisory, planning and quasi-judicial
capacities in accordance with their charge.
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Land Use

According to the US Census Bureau, the town has a total
area of 2.8 square miles, of which 2.6 square miles is land
and 0.2 square mile is water. The latest Craven County
GIS data indicates land is divided into 1,758 parcels, of
which 1,557 are developed and 201 undeveloped. The
Town owns 103 acres that are currently designated as a
Wildlife Preserve and are thus not available for
development. The chart to the right shows that nearly
90% of our lots are developed.

Population

The 2020 Census report for the population of River Bend provided an accurate count of 2,902
residents, which is a 7.0% decrease from the 2010 Census count of 3,119. According to data
available from the North Carolina Office of State Budget and Management (OSBM), the July
1, 2022 certified population estimate of River Bend is 2,893. The chart below shows the change
in population since 2015.

According to the North Carolina Office of Budget and Management (OBM), there are 551
municipalities in North Carolina and the Town of River Bend is the 194th largest by population.
The (2020) median age in River Bend is 56.7 years old. According to the 2020 Census, veterans
make up 15.4% of our population, compared to a national percentage of 6.4%.

Housing

River Bend’s occupancy rate, as reported in the 2020 Census, was 86.4% of the Town’s
housing units. Of these occupied units, 61.2% are owner-occupied, and 38.8% of the units are
renter-occupied.

Assessed values, particularly home values in River Bend, decreased in 2019 after Hurricane
Florence. They have, for most, recovered and are higher now than pre-hurricane values.
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The chart below shows the Town’s total assessed value since FY 2017. Craven County’s four-
year revaluation, slated for FY2020-21, was postponed again until January 1, 2023, which
affects FY2023-24. Based on estimates by the Craven County Tax Department, the value of
real property will increase $115,000,000 (42.5%) over the values from the prior year.

Water and Wastewater

The Town of River Bend operates two enterprises: the water system, and the sewer system.
River Bend purchased these two businesses from a private company, Carolina Water Service,
in 1995. The enterprises are operated as businesses - all revenues and expenditures accounted
for separately from other functions of the Town, and rates are established that cover all
expenditures and debt service of the enterprise.

Water

Our water system withdraws
from the Castle Hayne aquifer
through three wells with a
combined capacity of 925, 000
gallons per day. Two elevated
storage tanks with a total
capacity of 400,000 gallons
ensure a consistent supply and
adequate pressure throughout
the system. In 2022 (calendar
year), we treated 103,369,000
gallons with a daily average of
283,123 gallons. In 2021, we
treated 92,512,000 gallons of
water, an average of 253,418
per day.

The water in the Castle Hayne aquifer, while plentiful, requires treatment to remove iron and
manganese. Using pH adjustment, pressure filters and adding chlorine, our operators ensure
that clean water is ready for our customers to use.
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Water is available to approximately 1,560 households and businesses through 19 miles of pipe
ranging in size from two to eight inches in diameter. In addition to providing water for
consumption, our system also stands ready in the event of fire. There are 112 hydrants located
throughout the system to give the fire department ample access to water for their work.

Our water system is monitored, regulated and permitted to operate by the State of North
Carolina. In accordance with State standards, water samples are tested at an independent
laboratory for bacteria and other harmful contaminants. Each customer receives a copy of our
annual report showing the results of our testing.

Wastewater

The Town of River Bend owns and operates a wastewater treatment and collection system that
currently serves approximately 960 households and businesses. Wastewater is collected from
our customers and transmitted via 11 miles of gravity and force main pipes. Eleven lift stations
pressurize portions of the system so the waste is efficiently moved to our treatment facility on
Gull Pointe Drive. Seven of these lift stations, and the treatment plant itself, have backup
power supplied by fixed location generators. The other four lift stations can be powered by one
of our mobile generators.

In calendar year 2022, we
treated 40.6 million gallons of
wastewater compared to 43.0
million gallons in 2021. The
daily average treatment rate
was 111,315 gallons in 2022
and 118,170 gallons in 2021.
The State standard for waste
treatment capacity is 330
gallons per day per household,
which in our case translates to
318,780 gallons per day. This
standard shows that we should
be using 97% of our permitted
capacity. On average, in 2022,
we used 34% of our permitted
capacity.

The North Carolina Department of Water Quality (DWQ) administers federal and state
regulations designed to protect the quality of the receiving waters. Part of this administration
is the issuance of permits for treatment facilities like the one we operate in River Bend. Our
treatment plant has a permitted capacity of 330,000 gallons per day and discharges treated
effluent to the Trent River. We take weekly samples of our effluent to test for chemical and
nutrient content to ensure our plant is operating effectively and we are within the limits
established by DWQ. In the summer months, we also sample river water up and downstream
from our discharge point to determine what, if any, affect we are having upon the Trent River.
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The Town holds three discharge permits, one for the main wastewater plant, and the other two
to allow us to discharge backwash from our water treatment filters. These backwash discharge
permits allow us to discharge up to 7,000 gallons per day at each site.

Economy

The 2020 Census reported that the majority of River Bend’s workers were employed in the
educational, health and social services (28.3%), and the manufacturing (18.1%) industries. Of
our population over 16 years old, 60.7% were listed as “not in the labor force” in 2020. This
reflects the level of retirees in the Town. Table 13 on page 124 of this report provides the top
ten employers in Craven County. The predominant employers within the Town’s corporate
limits are the RHA Howell Care Center, the River Bend Golf and Country Club (Trent River
Adventures LLC) and Riverstone Health Management.

 RHA Howell Center serves children and adults with developmental disabilities on a
16-acre campus and has a 125-bed capacity.

 The River Bend Golf and Country Club is an eighteen-hole facility that includes a 6,000
square foot clubhouse with a banquet facility and a large swimming pool.

 Riverstone is a 40-bed licensed assisted living facility and offers a complex of one and
two bedroom apartments with a total of thirty-two apartments available. Services
offered in this complex depend upon the amenities requested from tenants.

River Bend is conveniently located to all of the major employers within Craven, Jones, and
Onslow Counties.

The chart below tracks unemployment over the past three full years comparing the State and
County rates. Craven County and North Carolina had experienced a downward trend of rates
until the effects of the COVID-19 virus pandemic, starting in March 2020. At the end of June
2023, the Craven County and State seasonally adjusted unemployment rates were 3.3%
compared to the national rate of 3.6%.

The median household income recorded in the 2020 Census was $72,102 compared to a
national median household income of $70,784. Only 8.4% of our population has an income
below the poverty level, compared to a national poverty rate of 11.6%. For residents 25 years
of age and older, 93.6% have a high school or higher education; 37.4% have a bachelor's degree
or higher, and 15% have a graduate or professional degree.
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Initiatives

The Town of River Bend utilizes a well-planned and reasoned approach to major initiatives
through the use of a capital improvement plan (CIP), which is addressed in the Town’s
Financial and Budgetary Policies. The purpose of the CIP is to forecast and match projected
revenues and major capital needs over a five-year period. Capital planning is an important
management tool that strengthens the linkage between community infrastructure needs and the
financial capacity of the Town. The River Bend CIP achieves five major objectives as a
component of the Town’s budget and financial planning process:

1. Helps the Town rationally and intelligently plan for the repair, replacement, and

acquisition of capital items that are necessary in providing high quality services to the

citizens of River Bend.

2. Assists in fiscal planning by forecasting capital demands together with future

revenues and expenditures.

3. Ensures better coordination, evaluation, and planning of projects to serve the

community and its needs.

4. Serves together with the annual budget and other financial plans as a guide to

decision-making for the Town Council, Town Manager, and staff.

5. Serves as a systematic and comprehensive analysis of capital needs increasing the

probability of making rational budgetary judgments since improvements are

identified, prioritized, and matched to the projected fiscal resources of the Town.

Generally defined, CIP expenditures are those of major value that recur irregularly, result in
the acquisition (or significant modification) of a capital asset, and have a useful life greater
than one year. The CIP is updated annually as part of the Town’s regular budget process.
Projects are reviewed and evaluated based on the Mayor’s and Council’s priorities, other Town
infrastructure needs, the financial capacity of the Town and the impact the projects will create
on the Town’s operating budget.

Once the projects are evaluated, a recommended CIP is developed that identifies the selection
and timing of capital projects into future fiscal years. First-year projects are incorporated into
the recommended annual operating budget. The Mayor and Council are presented the future
planning years for their consideration, review, and endorsement so staff can proceed with
planning and evaluation of potential capital projects.

Numerous economic uncertainties have presented challenges during the annual budget process
over the past several years. We have recovered from Hurricane Florence (September 2018)
where hundreds of homes were inundated with more than four feet of water and the Town
incurred about $1,000,000 in hurricane related expenses. We will likely continue to see effects
from the COVID-19 virus pandemic, which also has impacted economies and budgets at the
national and state levels.

In planning for the 2023-24 fiscal year, the Town Council and staff were mindful of the need
to control costs while continuing to provide necessary services and maintain our infrastructure.
We plan to continue our efforts to be good custodians of our public facilities by making
necessary repairs and improvements.
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Each year our contracted engineer reviews the evaluation he performs on all our streets in order
to determine the priority for our paving funds. We budget to follow the plan - paving and
providing patching in miscellaneous areas, for a budgeted amount of $179,700 this year, which
includes engineering and project management fees. Paving funds provided by the State (Powell
Bill by name) via a direct appropriation of state dollars are based upon our population and
number of miles of roads. Powell Bill revenue was budgeted for $91,000, so local revenue in
the amount of $88,700 was budgeted to complete this project.

In this budget, we have allocated $7,500 for bulkhead replacement and other repairs as needed
in the Town. All the work we do relative to managing storm water is aimed at not only
providing relief for emergent drainage problems but also at being conscious of the
environmental impact storm water can have on receiving streams. The Town, in many ways,
serves as a model for good storm water management practices, using grassy swales rather than
the traditional urban model of curbs and gutters. During FY2022-23, the Town completed a
$278,295 drainage project in the Channel Run area. The project consisted of re-grading and
re-sloping the natural drainage infrastructure throughout the area to promote efficient and
effective water flow out of the area. The project was mostly funded by a $250,000 grant the
Town received from the Golden LEAF Foundation.

Our IT replacement plan, which is also funded through our Capital Improvement Plan reserves,
provides for $3,504 in hardware upgrades this fiscal year. In fiscal year 2012, we migrated
away from maintaining our IT infrastructure on-site to “the cloud” model, thereby eliminating
the more expensive components of our infrastructure. We continue to replace certain pieces of
hardware to keep our system viable, but have reduced our IT hardware inventory by 40%. Our
estimate of cost savings show that we will save nearly $31,000 over the first eight years of
using this approach to IT. During FY2022-23 we finalized the conversion process to our new
Enterprise Resources Planning (ERP) software, which has aided in the efficiency and
streamlined operations with accessibility to information.

Programs are being funded to support the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board which plans
to continue its efforts to provide yoga, craft making, and special events throughout the year,
the largest of which is the annual 4th of July parade and picnic.

For the enterprise funds, water and sewer, we utilize a professionally designed utility rate
model so the impact of the proposed expenditures and desired level of reserves can be
compared to revenue at various rate levels. The Town Council voted for no change in the rates
for this budget.

Plans for the water utility include routine maintenance of buildings and replacement of
equipment. All equipment maintenance contracts are funded. The Water Fund Capital
Improvement Plan budgeted $23,500 and these funds support the vehicle replacement plan,
well pump replacements, and all other planned or emergency cash-funded capital expenditures.
Capital expenditures planned for the Water Fund include replacement of a pump at Well #1,
$23,000. During FY2022-23 the Town nearly completed the project to purchase and install
new radio-read water meters and associated equipment. This project was partially funded by a
$602,500 grant the Town received from the State of North Carolina and will be completed in
FY2023-2024. It is projected that Water Fund cash reserves will be at 30% of expenditures at
the end of FY 2026.
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The state budget for FY2023-24 includes $1.9 billion of funding for water and wastewater
infrastructure projects. The Town of River Bend is listed as the recipient of $9,393,000 and
this funding will be used to construct a new water treatment facility.

The Sewer Fund budget provides for the purchase of a utility trailer, $11,000. As with the
Water Fund, all equipment preventative maintenance contracts are funded. Our permit renewal
in 2018 for the wastewater treatment plant required no major changes from the application
submitted. Sewer Fund cash reserves are projected to be at least 59% of expenditures for the
next three years.

The Town received a grant totaling $9,108,500 from the State of North Carolina to fund
wastewater treatment plan enhancements. Specifically, these funds will be used to fund a major
upgrade and rehabilitation of the existing treatment plan, which will essentially result in a new
treatment plant.

In July 2022, the Town was awarded two Asset Inventory and Assessment (AIA) grants,
$150,000 each. The AIA grant received from the North Carolina Environmental Quality
Drinking Water Reserve will be used to assess the condition of, produce a map of and inventory
components of the water system. The AIA grant received from the North Carolina
Environmental Quality Wastewater Reserve will be used to assess the condition of, produce a
map of and inventory components of the sewer system.

One major consideration during the budget preparation this year was the tax rate. The Council
approved a rate of $0.24 per 100 dollars of valuation, which is a 7.7% decrease from last fiscal
year. The decreased tax rate is due to the 2023 reappraisal of real property and resulting
increase in property tax values. The Council chose to balance the General Fund budget by
using $198,597 from fund balance; this will enable the Town Council to meet the policy
establishing an unassigned fund balance amount of no less than 50% of expenditures for the
then completed fiscal year.

Financial Management

The Town of River Bend maintains comprehensive financial and budgetary policies covering
a broad range of the elements of the Town’s financial plans and financial systems that underlay
the management of overall financial resources. These policies have major objectives to be
achieved that include:

 To link long-term financial planning with short-term daily operations and decision-
making.

 To maintain and improve the Town’s financial position.
 To maintain and improve the Town’s credit ratings by meeting or exceeding the

requirements of rating agencies through sound financial policies.
 To maintain and increase investor confidence in the Town and to provide credibility to

the citizens of the Town regarding financial operations.
 To comply with the North Carolina Budget and Fiscal Control Act and the policies of

the North Carolina Local Government Commission (the “LGC”).
 To effectively conduct asset-liability management of the Town’s balance sheet.
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The Town’s recently amended Financial and Budgetary Policies states that the target goal for
the General Fund’s unrestricted and unassigned fund balance shall be no less than 50% of the
actual expenditures of the then completed fiscal year, with the total amount of unassigned fund
balance at $2,000,000. The Town Council is committed to achieving and maintaining this
level of fund balance.

Budgetary Control

In accordance with the North Carolina Local Government Budget and Fiscal Control Act, the
Town adopts a budget ordinance containing balanced budgets for each of the three major funds
for the fiscal year beginning on July 1 and ending on June 30. The budget ordinance also
includes, as required by the Act, the property tax levy and rate. Budgeted expenditures are
approved by the ordinance at the department level.

The Town of River Bend employs a progressive and transparent budget development process
that allows for significant participation from elected officials, advisory boards, staff, and the
public. The process formally begins with a kick-off meeting where the Council discusses its
priorities for the coming fiscal year in terms of how they respond to the Town’s Mission
Statement, which is presented below. The Budget Officer leads a general discussion
concerning the current fiscal year and trends observed that might impact the budget planning
process.

1818



The Council also approves a schedule of budget workshops. At these workshops, the
professional staff presents details of revenue and expenses in each fund. Through direct
interaction with the Council in a less formal setting, the staff is able to get the consensus of the
elected body in terms of the details contained in the budget. The Council is also able to hear
from residents who attend these sessions in an informal setting. Following the last of these
workshops, the professional staff prepares the Budget Message and the final budget document.

Independent Bond Rating

In FY 2013, we refinanced our general obligation bond debt for the Water and Sewer funds,
saving nearly $300,000 over the remaining life of the bonds, ending in FY 2027. In the process
of refunding our bond debt, we obtained updated ratings from the agencies who analyze and
rate our debt. The following summarizes their findings:

Standard and Poor’s
In 2009, we received an upgrade from S&P from A to A+. Following their review in 2013,
we received another upgrade from A+ to AA-. Here is an excerpt from their rating rationale:

“The upgrade reflects our assessment of, what we consider, the Town's historically strong
financial performance due, in part, to, what we regard as, conservative budgeting practices
that have helped the town historically maintain, in our view, extremely strong available
general fund reserves.”

Moody’s
Following their review in 2023, we received confirmation of their Aa3 rating. Here is an
excerpt from their rating rationale:

“The upgrade of the town’s issuer rating to Aa3 is driven by its strong financial position with
low long-term liabilities and fixed costs that are expected to remain manageable absent
plans to issue additional debt in the medium term.”

These favorable reviews are a testimony to the financial strength of this Town. Through good
planning and making difficult decisions, River Bend will remain viable and strong for the
future of this community.

Conclusion and Acknowledgements

Long-range planning and budgeting efforts focus on maintenance of current services, Town-
owned property and infrastructure while attempting to keep rates and fees reasonable. Our
Town Council members accept their responsibility with great conviction and sincerity, and
remain well-informed and engaged in the operation of this government. These financial
statements reflect the Council’s commitment to maintaining and improving this community,
and positioning it to be financially sound in the future.

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA)
awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the Town of
River Bend for its Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2022. This was the twelfth year the Town of River Bend received this prestigious
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OUR LOCATION 
 
River Bend is located in Eastern North Carolina on the Atlantic Coast. We are located half 
way between Virginia and South Carolina. It is 110 miles to Raleigh, our State Capital. 
Myrtle Beach, SC, a national tourist destination, is only 162 miles away from River Bend.   
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TOWN OF RIVER BEND 
NORTH CAROLINA 

 

Appointed and Administrative Positions 

as of June 30, 2023 

 

MAYOR 

John Kirkland 
 

TOWN COUNCIL 

James Castranova 

Brian Leonard 

Barbara Maurer 

Morris “Buddy” Sheffield* 

Jeff Weaver 

 

*also serves as Mayor Pro Tem 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF 

Delane Jackson Town Manager 

Mandy Gilbert Finance Director 

Kristie Nobles Town Clerk 

Sean Joll Police Chief 

Brandon Mills Public Works Director 
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American	Institute	of	CPAs	–	N.C.	Association	of	CPAs	–	AICPA	Division	of	Firms	

 

Thompson, Price, Scott, Adams & Co., P.A. 
4024 Oleander Drive Suite 103 
Wilmington, North Carolina 28403 
Telephone (910) 791-4872 
Fax (910) 239-8294 
 
 
 

 
Independent	Auditor’s	Report	

 
To the Mayor and Members of the Town Council 
River Bend, North Carolina 

 
Report on the Audit of Financial Statements 
 
Opinions 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the 
Town of River Bend, North Carolina as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise Town of River Bend’s basic financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Town of River Bend 
as of June 30, 2023, and the respective changes in financial position, and cash flows thereof and 
the respective budgetary comparison for the General Fund, for the year then ended in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
  
Basis for Opinions 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the 
Town of River Bend and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant 
ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.  
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; and 
for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raises substantial doubt about the Town of 
River Bend’s ability to continue as a going concern for the twelve months beyond the financial 
statement date, including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly 
thereafter. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and 
Governmental Auditing Standards will always detect material statement when it exists. 
 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if 
there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.  
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Governmental Auditing Standards we 
 

• exercised professional judgement and maintained professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsible to those risks. 
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town of River Bend’s internal control. Accordingly, 
no such opinion is expressed. 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

• conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the 
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Town of River Bend’s ability to continue 
as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. 
 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal 
control-related matters that we identified during the audit. 
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Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, and the Law Enforcement Officers’ Special Separation 
Allowance Schedules of Funding Progress and Employer Contributions, the Local Government 
Employees’ Retirement System’s Schedules of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Asset 
(Liability) and presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the 
responsibility of management, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of the 
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, 
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America, which consist of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the 
basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express 
an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Supplementary Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Town of River Bend’s basic financial statements. The combining and 
individual fund financial statements, budgetary schedules, other schedules are presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such 
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The 
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic 
financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America the 
combining and individual fund financial statements, budgetary schedules, other schedules are fairly 
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report September 7, 
2023, on our consideration of the Town of River Bend’s internal control over financial reporting 
and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to 
provide an opinion on the effectiveness of Town of River Bend’s internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering Town of River Bend’s internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance. 

 

Other Information  

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other 
information comprises the introductory information and the statistical sections but does not include 
the basic financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial 
statements do not cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of 
assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information 
and the basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement 
of the other information exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 
 
 
Thompson, Price, Scott, Adams & Co., PA  
Wilmington,	North	Carolina	
September	7,	2023	
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Town of River Bend 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2023 
 
 
As management of the Town of River Bend, we offer readers of the Town of River Bend’s financial 
statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the Town of River Bend (the 
Town), for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023.  We encourage readers to read the information presented 
here in conjunction with additional information that we have furnished in the Town’s financial statements, 
which follow this narrative.  
 
Financial Highlights 
 
• The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the Town exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows 

of resources by $9,725,812 (net position) at the close of the fiscal year.   
• For governmental type activities, the Town’s net position showed an increase of 27.1% at the close of 

the fiscal year at $7,526,985. Net position for business-type activities, which exclusively include the 
Water and Sewer Enterprise Funds, were $1,141,151 and $1,057,676, respectively, for a total of 
$2,198,827. This represents an increase of $96,657 in the value of net position in the Water Fund, and 
a decrease of $375,189 in the value of net position in the Sewer Fund. On-going depreciation of the 
infrastructure, a total of $137,770, continues to be a significant expense. The government’s total net 
position increased by $1,325,274. 

• As of the close of the current fiscal year, the Town’s governmental funds reported combined ending 
fund balances of $2,595,684, which was an increase of $729,424. Approximately 6.7% of this amount, 
or $174,010 is restricted or non-spendable. 

• At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was $919,547 or 
44% of total General Fund expenditures for the fiscal year.  The Town Council’s policy is that this ratio 
should be no less than 50% of the completed fiscal year's actual expenditures.  For the year ending June 
30, 2023, total General Fund expenditures amounted to $2,102,201. 

• The Town's total General Obligation bond debt decreased by $240,000 (20%) during the current fiscal 
year. The key factor in this decrease is the timely payments of debt service expenditures.   

• The Town holds an AA+ bond rating by Standard and Poor’s Rating Services on its G.O. Series 2013 
refunding bonds. The original bonds were used to purchase and upgrade the water and wastewater 
operations. Moody’s Investor Service recently upgraded the Town of River Bend’s bond rating to Aa3 
from A1.  
 

Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
This discussion and analysis serves as an introduction to the Town's basic financial statements.  The Town’s 
basic financial statements consist of three components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund 
financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements (see Figure 1). The basic financial statements 
present two different views of the Town with the use of government-wide statements and fund financial 
statements.  In addition to the basic financial statements, this report contains other supplemental information 
that will enhance the reader’s understanding of the financial condition of the Town of River Bend. 
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Required Components of Annual Financial Report 

Figure 1 
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Basic Financial Statements 
 
The first two statements (Exhibits 1 and 2) in the basic financial statements are the Government-Wide 
Financial Statements.  They provide both short and long-term information about the Town’s financial 
status.  
 
The next statements (Exhibits 3 through 8) are Fund Financial Statements.  These statements focus on 
the activities of the individual parts of the Town’s government.  These statements provide more detail than 
the government-wide statements.  There are four parts to the fund financial statements:  1) the governmental 
funds statements, 2) the budgetary comparison statements, 3) the proprietary fund statements, and 4) the 
fiduciary fund statements. 
 
The next section of the basic financial statements is the Notes.  The notes to the financial statements explain 
in detail some of the data contained in those statements.  After the notes is the Required Supplemental 
Information containing funding information about the Town's pension benefits.  Supplemental 
Information provides detail about the Town’s individual funds. Budgetary information required by the 
General Statutes is located in this part of the statements.  
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Government-Wide Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide the reader with a broad overview of the 
Town’s finances, similar in format to a financial statement of a private-sector business. The government-
wide statements provide short and long-term information about the Town’s financial status as a whole.  
 
The two government-wide statements report the changes in the Town’s net position. Net position is the 
difference between the Town’s total assets and deferred outflows of resources and the total liabilities and 
deferred inflows of resources. Measuring net position is one way to gauge the Town’s financial condition.   
 
The government-wide statements are divided into two categories: 1) governmental activities and 2) 
business-type activities. The governmental activities include most of the Town’s basic services, such as 
public safety, transportation, cultural and recreational, and general administration.  Property taxes and State 
distributed sales tax, franchise revenues, and Powell Bill funds finance most of these activities.  The 
business-type activities are those that the Town charges customers to provide services. These include the 
water and sewer services provided by the Town of River Bend. 
 
The government-wide financial statements are on Exhibits 1 and 2 of this report.  
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
The fund financial statements provide a more detailed look at the Town’s most significant activities.  A 
fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been 
segregated for specific activities or objectives. The Town of River Bend, like all other governmental entities 
in North Carolina, uses fund accounting to ensure and reflect compliance (or non-compliance) with finance-
related legal requirements, such as the General Statutes or the Town’s budget ordinance. All of the funds 
of the Town of River Bend can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and 
fiduciary funds. 
 
Governmental Funds.  Governmental funds account for those functions reported as governmental 
activities in the government-wide financial statements.  Most of the Town’s basic services are accounted 
for in governmental funds.  These funds focus on how assets can readily be converted into cash flow in and 
out, and what monies are left at year-end that will be available for spending in the next year.  Governmental 
funds are reported using an accounting method called modified accrual accounting. This method also has 
a current financial resources focus.  As a result, the governmental fund financial statements give the reader 
a detailed short-term view that helps him or her determine if there are more or less financial resources 
available to finance the Town’s programs.  The relationship between government activities (reported in the 
Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) and governmental funds are described in a 
reconciliation that is a part of the fund financial statements.   
 
The Town of River Bend adopts an annual budget for its General Fund, as required by the General Statutes.  
The budget is a legally adopted document that incorporates input from the citizens of the Town, the 
management of the Town, and the decisions of the Town Council about which services to provide and how 
to pay for them.  It also authorizes the Town to obtain funds from identified sources to finance these current 
period activities.  The budgetary statement provided for the General Fund demonstrates how well the Town 
complied with the budget ordinance and whether or not the Town succeeded in providing the services as 
planned when the budget was adopted.  The budgetary comparison statement uses the budgetary basis of 
accounting and utilizes the same format, language, and classifications as the legal budget document.   
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The statement shows four columns:  1) the original budget as adopted by the Town Council, 2) the final 
budget as amended by the Town Council, 3) the actual resources, charges to appropriations, and ending 
balances in the General Fund, and 4) the difference or variance between the final budget and the actual 
resources and charges.   
 
Proprietary Funds.  The Town of River Bend has one kind of proprietary fund.  Enterprise Funds are used 
to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial 
statements. The Town of River Bend uses two enterprise funds to account for its water and sewer operations.  
These funds are the same as those separate activities shown in the business-type activities in the Statement 
of Net Position and the Statement of Activities. 
 
Fiduciary Funds.  Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside 
the government.  The Town of River Bend does not have any fiduciary funds. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements.  The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.  The notes to the 
financial statements begin on page 67 of this report.  
 
Other Information.  In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report 
includes certain required supplementary information concerning the Town of River Bend’s progress in 
funding its obligation to provide pension benefits to its employees.  Required supplemental information can 
be found beginning on page 83 of this report. 
 
Interdependence with Other Entities.  The Town depends on financial resources flowing from, or 
associated with, both the federal government and the State of North Carolina.  Because of this dependency, 
the Town is subject to changes in specific flows of intergovernmental revenues based on modifications to 
federal and State laws and federal and State appropriations.  It is also subject to changes in investment 
earnings and asset values associated with the U.S. Treasury Securities because of actions by foreign 
governments and other holders of publicly held U.S. Treasury Securities. 

 
Government-Wide Financial Analysis.  As noted earlier, net position may serve over time, as one useful 
indicator of a government’s financial condition. The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the Town 
of River Bend exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows by $9,725,812 as of June 30, 2023.  The Town’s 
net position increased by $1,325,274 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. A large portion (31%) of total 
net position is the Town’s unrestricted net position, $2,986,012 that is available for future spending.  The 
Town reports net investments in capital assets (e.g. land, buildings, machinery, and equipment) as 68% of 
the total net position.  The Town uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, 
these assets are not available for future spending.  The remaining balance of $174,010 represents resources 
that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be used. These details are shown in the highlighted 
section of Figure 2 on the next page. 
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Town of River Bend’s Net Position 

Figure 2 

 
 
Several particular aspects of the Town’s financial operations influenced the total unrestricted governmental 
net position: 
• Federal disaster assistance and grant funds received included COVID-19 public assistance of $5,092 

and the American Rescue Plan Act Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Fund (ARP/CSLFRF), 
of $482,189. 

• The Town Council adopted a tax rate of $0.26 per hundred dollars of valuation, which was no change 
from last fiscal year. Property tax revenue, including motor vehicles, reported a positive budget 
variance of $19,868, and was $9,688 over FY22 and a net tax levy increase of 1.50%. Fund balance in 
the amount of $200,813 was originally budgeted to balance the FY23 budget. 

• An annual comprehensive study of the operations and capital needs of the Water and Sewer systems, 
using a professionally designed rate model, determines whether our utility rates will enable the 
enterprise funds to cover operating costs and maintain cash each fiscal year as budgeted. Water usage 
rates were increased effective September 15, 2022 to include a tiered rate structure for the usage per 
thousand gallons. Sewer rates did not change during the fiscal year. 

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Assets:
Current and other assets 2,651,417$     1,906,718$     1,379,453$     2,333,798$     4,030,870$     4,240,516$     
Net pension asset - Separation Allowance -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
Net pension asset - LGERS -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
Capital assets, net 5,403,510       4,341,031       2,097,280       1,433,511       7,500,790       5,774,542       

Total assets 8,054,927       6,247,749       3,476,733       3,767,309       11,531,660     10,015,058     

Deferred Outflows of Resources:

Contributions to pension plan, current year - LGERS -                     46,181            -                     25,251            -                     71,432            
Contributions to pension plan, current year - LEO -                     51,925            -                     -                     -                     51,925            
Pension deferrals 476,796          304,086          120,718          52,520            597,514          356,606          
Deferred charges on refunding -                     -                     42,855            53,569            42,855            53,569            

Total deferred outflows of resources 476,796          402,192          163,573          131,340          640,369          533,532          

Liabilities:
Current liabilities 60,919            65,757            500,358          309,829          561,277          375,586          
Long-term liabilities 845,557          364,845          934,790          1,035,093       1,780,347       1,399,938       

Total liabilities 906,476          430,602          1,435,148       1,344,922       2,341,624       1,775,524       

Deferred Inflows of Resources:

Pension deferrals 98,262            296,160          6,331              76,368            104,593          372,528          

Net Position:
Net investment in capital assets 5,403,510       4,341,031       1,162,280       258,511          6,565,790       4,599,542       
Restricted 174,010          163,479          -                     -                     174,010          163,479          
Unrestricted 1,949,465       1,418,669       1,036,547       2,218,848       2,986,012       3,637,517       

Total net position 7,526,985$     5,923,179$     2,198,827$     2,477,359$     9,725,812$     8,400,538$     

Governmental Business-Type 
 Activities  Activities  Total 
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Town of River Bend’s Changes in Net Position 

Figure 3 

 
 

Governmental Activities.  The total net position of the Town increased by $1,325,274; governmental 
activities accounted for $1,603,806 of the increase to the Town’s net position.  Key elements that affected 
net position are as follows:   

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Revenues:
Program revenues:
Charges for services 55,437$         56,988$         1,236,572$    1,146,272$    1,292,009$    1,203,260$    
Operating grants
  and contributions 851,142         820,652         -                     -                     851,142         820,652         
Capital grants
  and contributions -                     -                     538,452         -                     538,452         -                     
General revenues:
Property taxes 831,484         827,716         -                     -                     831,484         827,716         
Other taxes 713,744         673,659         -                     -                     713,744         673,659         
Investment earnings,
  unrestricted 95,744           2,570             43,577           2,852             139,321         5,422             
Miscellaneous, unrestricted 42,658           46,838           -                     -                     42,658           46,838           
 Transfers 1,031,758      -                     (1,031,758)     -                     -                     -                     

Total revenues 3,621,967      2,428,423      786,843         1,149,124      4,408,810      3,577,547      

Expenses:
General government 776,534         655,539         -                     -                     776,534         655,539         
Public safety 773,933         677,492         -                     -                     773,933         677,492         
Transportation 68,144           153,537         -                     -                     68,144           153,537         
Environmental protection 301,918         46,673           -                     -                     301,918         46,673           
Cultural and recreational 97,632           322,549         -                     -                     97,632           322,549         
Water -                     -                     522,501         457,702         522,501         457,702         
Sewer -                     -                     542,874         501,346         542,874         501,346         

Total expenses 2,018,161      1,855,790      1,065,375      959,048         3,083,536      2,814,838      

 Increase in net position before 
special items 1,603,806      572,633         (278,532)        190,076         1,325,274      762,709         
 Special item - gain on sale of   
capital assets -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Increase in net position: 1,603,806      572,633         (278,532)        190,076         1,325,274      762,709         

Beginning of year - July 1 5,923,179      5,350,546      2,477,359      2,287,283      8,400,538      7,637,829      

End of year - June 30 7,526,985$    5,923,179$    2,198,827$    2,477,359$    9,725,812$    8,400,538$    

Governmental Business-Type
  Activities  Activities  Total 
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• Funds totaling $482,189 were received from the American Rescue Plan Act Coronavirus State and 
Local Fiscal Recovery Fund (ARP/CSLFRF).  These funds were used to reimburse the Town for 
salaries and benefits paid to employees during the period March 7, 2021 through June 30, 2022. 

• Sales tax exceeded budget by $48,854 as the Town continues to take a more conservative approach 
when budgeting for this revenue source. 

• The abovementioned revenue sources, combined with the Town’s vigilant monitoring of expenditures, 
contributed to this year’s positive affect on net position. 

• Fund balance of $200,813 was originally budgeted to balance the General Fund budget. Budget 
amendment details are covered under General Fund Budgetary Highlights. 

• Ad Valorem taxes make up 41% of the governmental activity revenue. Craven County’s four-year 
revaluation, slated for FY 2020-21, was postponed again until January 1, 2023, which affects FY 2023-
24. One aspect of this timing is due to the area devastation and property loss caused by Hurricane 
Florence in September 2018. This fiscal year the adopted tax rate was $0.26 with a net property tax 
valuation of $320,511,923. Craven County’s collection rate was 99.46%.   

• Exhibit 5 in the Basic Financial Statement outlines budget to actual performance in the General Fund 
for Town expenditures. Each functional area operated well within budgeted amounts, while still 
maintaining services, which contributed to the Town’s net position for the fiscal year.  Capital outlays 
increased capital assets for a total of $517,053, of which the General Fund Capital Improvement Plan 
contributed $72,787 from Capital Reserves. 

 
 

Ad Valorem Tax
40.7%

Unrestricted 
Intergovernmental

34.8%

Restricted 
Intergovernmental

18.1%

Permits and Fees
0.6%

Sales and Services
2.0%

Investment Earnings
1.8%

Miscellaneous
2.0%

Town of River Bend
Figure 4. Revenue Sources - Governmental Activities - Fiscal  Year  2023
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Business-Type Activities.  Business-type activities decreased the Town’s net position by $278,532. 
Business-type activities reported for the Town are exclusively the Town’s Water and Sewer Fund.  The 
operations are self-supported by their respective user fees, which are determined using guidance from a 
professionally designed rate model.   

• The sewer utility rates did not change during the fiscal year. 
• The water utility usage rate for residential customers changed effective September 15, 2022 to 

include a tiered rate structure for the usage per thousand gallons. This tiered structure was approved 
by Council to receive additional points on a grant the Town applied for to rehabilitate the Water 
Treatment Plant. This increase will also help maintain a cash balance projected to be at least 32% 
of expenditures at the end of the next three years. 

• Operating revenues from water services adequately covered the operating expenses, which resulted 
in operating income and an increase in net position of $96,657. Sewer Fund net position decreased 
by $375,189.   

• Both Water and Sewer Funds decreased its cash and cash equivalents balances, $234,534 and 
$470,332 respectively.  This reduction was purposefully done to assist in funding the construction 
of the new Public Works Administration Building.  A portion of this building will provide support 
for our water and sewer operations and functions. 

 
Exhibits 6 and 7 provide this information in more detail.  Both enterprise operations experienced operating 
efficiencies through the diligent management of staff, which was evidenced by the increased operating 
revenues for both funds. 

General Government
25%

Public Safety
25%

Transportation
2%

Environmental 
Protection

10%
Cultural and 
Recreational

3%

Water Fund
17%

Sewer Fund
18%

Town of River Bend
Figure 5.  Functional Expenses - Fiscal Year 2023
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Water Fund: 
 
• Overall the Water Fund increased net position by $96,657 for a total of $1,141,151 at year-end. 
• Operating income was $71,501, which decreased $11,374 over last year’s operating income of $82,785.  

This decrease is mainly due to increased administration expenses during the fiscal year.   
• Capital assets of $3,356 were acquired in the current year. The cash-funded capital improvement plan 

provided for an annual appropriation of $3,500. 
• Construction in progress for the Water Fund increased $723,647 due to the nearly completed project to 

purchase and install new radio-read water meters and associated equipment. This project will be 
complete in FY23-24. 

• Depreciation expense reduced net position in the amount of $79,979, compared to $78,185 last year. 
 
Sewer Fund: 
 
• The Sewer Fund decreased net position by $375,189 from last year to $1,057,676 at year-end. This 

decrease is due to the transfer of $515,879 to the Capital Project Fund for the Public Works 
Administration Building. 

• Operating income was $130,389, which decreased $11,700 over last year’s operating income of 
$142,089.  This decrease is mainly due to increased administration expenses during the fiscal year.   

• Capital assets of $23,299 were acquired in the current year.  The cash-funded capital improvement plan 
provided for an annual appropriation of $3,500.  

• Construction in progress for the Sewer Fund increased $51,237 due to beginning the Wastewater 
Treatment Plant Capital Project which will be funded by a grant received from the State of North 
Carolina. This grant will allow for a major upgrade and rehabilitation of our existing treatment plant. 

• Depreciation expense reduced net position by $57,791, compared to $62,222 last year. 
 
The enterprise funds are self-supporting and user fees are adjusted, taking guidance from the 
aforementioned rate model to address the cost of operations and capital expenditures identified in the 
Capital Improvement Plans.   
 

Financial Analysis of the Town’s Funds 
 
As noted earlier, the Town of River Bend uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with 
finance-related legal requirements. 
 
Governmental Funds.  The focus of the Town of River Bend’s governmental funds is to provide 
information on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of usable resources.  Such information is useful 
in assessing the Town's financing requirements.  Specifically, fund balance available for appropriation can 
be a useful measure of a government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.   
 
Total governmental fund balances were $2,595,684, an increase of $729,424 over the prior year.  Included 
in this change is a decrease of $9,186 in fund balance in the Capital Reserve Funds.  
 
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the Town of River Bend.  For the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2023, the Town's fund balance available in the General Fund was $1,154,956 and unassigned fund 
balance of the General Fund was $919,547, a 6% decrease from the prior year.  Total fund balance is 
$1,328,966.  As a measure of the General Fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare both unassigned 
fund balance and total fund balance to total fund expenditures.   
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At year-end, unassigned General Fund balance represents 43.7% of total General Fund expenditures.  The 
Town’s policy states this ratio should be no less than 50% of the completed fiscal year’s actual General 
Fund expenditures.  Total fund balance represents 63.2% of total General Fund expenditures and available 
fund balance represents 54.9% of total General Fund expenditures.   
 
The Department of State Treasurer reported the average fund balance of 91.97% for the group of non-
electric cities with annual general fund expenditures between $1,000,000 and $9,999,999 for the year ended 
June 30, 2021.   
 
General Fund Budgetary Highlights.  During the fiscal year, the Town amended the budget on four 
occasions.  Generally, budget amendments fall into one of three categories:  1) amendments made to adjust 
the estimates that are used to prepare the original budget ordinance once exact information is available; 2) 
amendments made to recognize new funding amounts from external sources, such as federal and State 
grants; and 3) increases in appropriations that become necessary to maintain services. 
 
The budget was amended for: 
 
• Fund balance of $38,681 appropriated for various incomplete projects rolled over from FY21-22 and a 

transfer from Capital Reserve Fund ($39,787) to complete funding for a police vehicle as well as 
providing project oversight on a drainage improvement project. 

• Fund balance of $21,500 appropriated for additional funding to replace the fishing dock at Town Hall.   
• Fund balance of $30,400 appropriated to fund the Council’s approval of an additional Cost of Living 

Allowance (5%) to eligible employees and to fund the position of a part-time Project Manager to assist 
with the new financial software.  

• Federal disaster assistance ($5,092) funds were received from eligible COVID-19 expenditures and 
offset the Leaf & Limb and Solid Waste department. Interdepartmental transfers of $8,350 allowed for 
an increase in legal fees during the fiscal year. 

 
Excluding restricted intergovernmental revenues, General Fund revenues finished with a positive budget 
variance of $149,920. The main component of this positive variance was $48,854 in Sales Tax revenues, 
which continued to rise during the fiscal year. Other intergovernmental revenues continue to decline; 
despite conservative budgeting, with most ending in negative variances. Ad Valorem tax collections were 
above budget by $19,868. 
 
Departmental expenditures were less than the final budgeted amounts by $102,860. Each functional area 
contributed to this total amount, with the most significant of $24,015, coming from Finance due to changes 
in staff as well as reduced spending. Details of the budget and actual amounts for revenues and expenditures 
of the General Fund are presented in the Supplemental Information, Schedule 1, beginning on page 89.  The 
Town complied with its budgetary requirements. 
 
Proprietary Funds.  The Town's proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the 
government-wide statements, but in more detail. These funds, which exclusively include the Town’s Water 
and Sewer Funds, reported a net position of $1,141,151 and $1,057,676, respectively, for a total of 
$2,198,827.  This represents a decrease of $278,532 from last fiscal year. As previously stated, a key 
element each year is depreciation. For this year in the Water Fund, it was $79,979. In the Sewer Fund it 
was $57,791. Unrestricted net position of the Water Fund and Sewer Fund at the end of the fiscal year 
amounted to $1,036,547. 
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Other factors concerning the finances of these funds are addressed in the discussion of the Town’s business-
type activities.  The enterprise funds' users' fees are adjusted as needed to address the cost of operations, 
minor capital expenditures, and maintain a cash reserve for capital needs. 
 
Capital Asset and Debt Administration 
 
Capital Assets.  The Town's investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities 
as of June 30, 2023 totaled $7,500,790 (net of accumulated depreciation).  These assets include buildings, 
land, improvements, equipment, vehicles, infrastructure, water and wastewater facilities, and construction 
in progress.  The Town maintains a $5,000 capitalization threshold.  Capital asset transactions during the 
year include the following additions (there were no significant demolitions or disposals.): 
 
General Fund: 
 
• $48,392, 2022 Ford Interceptor 
• $46,066, wooden fishing dock at Town Hall 
• $144,075, 2023 Street Paving Program 
• $8,567, vinyl seawall at 206 Channel Run 
• $248,478, drainage improvements on Channel Run 
• $4,475, Edmunds GovTech financial software, shared cost 

 
Water Fund: 
 
• $3,356 Edmunds GovTech financial software, shared cost 
 
Sewer Fund: 
 
• $13,870, sewer camera 
• $6,073, sewer drain cleaning machine 
• $3,356, Edmunds GovTech financial software, shared cost  

 
The Town of River Bend utilizes a well-planned and reasoned approach to major initiatives with a Capital 
Improvement Plan (CIP), as outlined in the Town’s Financial and Budgetary Policies, Section VII, Capital 
Improvements Policy: 
 
a. The Town will update and readopt annually a five-year capital improvement plan (CIP) which projects 

capital needs and details the estimated costs, description and anticipated funding sources for capital 
projects. A separate CIP will be developed for the General Fund, Water Fund, and Sewer Fund. 
 

b. The annual update of the CIP will be conducted in conjunction with the annual operating budget 
process. 

 
c. The first year of the five-year CIP will be the basis of formal fiscal year appropriations during the 

annual budget process. 
 
d. A programming or cost estimation study is eligible for inclusion in the CIP for a project for which a 

future request is being considered. Such a study is encouraged in order to generate reliable cost 
estimates for the CIP. 
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e. The Town expects to see new capital items generally first appear in the last year of the CIP. 
 
f. The Town acknowledges pay-as-you-go financing as a significant capital-financing source, but will 

ultimately determine the most appropriate financing structure for each capital project both on an 
individual basis after examining all relevant factors of the project and in conjunction with the funding 
of the entire CIP.  

 

Town of River Bend’s Capital Assets 

Figure 6 

 
 
Additional information on the Town’s capital assets is found in Note 3 to the basic financial statements. 
 
Long-Term Debt.  As of June 30, 2023, the Town had total bonded debt outstanding of $935,000, all of 
which is backed by the full faith and credit of the Town. 

 
Town of River Bend’s Long-Term Debt 

Figure 7 

 
 
 
 

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Land 989,320$        989,320$        183,357$       183,357$       1,172,677$    1,172,677$    
Construction in progress 825,934          16,198            994,954         220,070         1,820,888      236,268         
Plant and distribution system -                     -                     5,818,448      5,818,448      5,818,448      5,818,448      
Furniture and equipment -                     -                     491,255         464,600         491,255         464,600         
Building and improvements 2,849,412       2,803,346       8,960             8,960             2,858,372      2,812,306      
Equipment and vehicles 587,766          534,899          -                     -                     587,766         534,899         
Infrastructure 2,954,103       2,552,983       -                     -                     2,954,103      2,552,983      

Subtotal 8,206,535       6,896,746       7,496,974      6,695,435      15,703,509    13,592,181    

Less accumulated depreciation (2,803,025)     (2,555,715)     (5,399,694)     (5,261,924)     (8,202,719)     (7,817,639)     

Capital assets, net 5,403,510$     4,341,031$     2,097,280$    1,433,511$    7,500,790$    5,774,542$    

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

General obligation bonds -$                   -$                   935,000$       1,175,000$    935,000$       1,175,000$    
Unamortized premium on bonds -                     -                     42,855           53,569           42,855           53,569           
Compensated absences 57,898            38,244            25,452           18,898           83,350           57,142           
Net pension liability (LGERS) 630,246          173,576          187,197         50,788           817,443         224,364         
Total pension liability (LEO) 167,413          185,532          -                     -                     167,413         185,532         

Total debt 855,557$        397,352$        1,190,504$    1,298,255$    2,046,061$    1,695,607$    

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
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In the process to restructure the Series 2004 General Obligation bonds in 2013, the Town of River Bend 
received an upgrade in our Standard and Poor’s rating to AA- and a stable A1 rating with Moody’s Investor 
Service.  In November of 2013, Standard and Poor’s performed a routine evaluation of many of their ratings.  
Because of this evaluation, the Town of River Bend received our third rating upgrade in four years, moving 
from AA- to AA+.  In May 2023, Moody’s Investor Service upgraded the Town’s bond rating to Aa3 from 
A1 stating the upgrade was driven by its strong financial position with low long-term liabilities. These bond 
ratings are a clear indication of consistently sound financial operations with ample reserves.  
 
Additional information on the Town’s long-term debt is found starting on page 69 in the notes to the basic 
financial statements.  The Town’s legal debt margin at June 30, 2023 was $26,575,954. 
 
Economic Factors  
 
The Town of River Bend is a small residential community in Craven County, home to approximately 3,000 
residents. Located a few miles south of the City of New Bern on Highway 17, residents are employed by 
industry and government within a wide radius of the Town, while a high percentage are retirees. The local 
area economy seems to have rebounded from the COVID-19 pandemic and unemployment rates are back 
to pre-pandemic levels. Craven County’s unemployment rate at the end of June 2023 was reported at 3.3%, 
compared to the State seasonally adjusted rate of 3.3%, and a national rate of 3.6%. 
 
Budget Highlights and Rates for the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2024 
 
Governmental Activities.  The budget represents the commitment of the Town Council to the mission 
statement established in the Town’s Comprehensive Plan, and responds to the goals the Council established 
at their Work Session in January 2023.  These goals are the foundation upon which the budget is built.  We 
invite you to review the annual budget message on our website www.riverbendnc.org/finance. 
 
The General Fund budget is formulated in compliance with the Financial and Budgetary Policies, which 
stipulate a minimum contingency level of 1% of budgeted General Fund expenditures and a goal to maintain 
a fund balance of no less than 50%, with the total amount of unassigned fund balance at $2,000,000. General 
Fund revenues and other financing sources are budgeted at $2,156,391, which is a 5.4% decrease from the 
2023 fiscal year-end budgeted revenues.   
 
The Council adopted a tax rate of $0.24, which is a 7.7% decrease from the prior year.  The decreased tax 
rate is due to the 2023 reappraisal of real property and resulting increase in property tax values. The 2023 
reappraised property values are estimated to be 40.5% higher than the 2022 property values. The last 
reappraisal of real property was conducted in 2016. Appropriated fund balance was used to balance the 
budget in the amount of $198,597. 
 
Diligent management of all Town resources, which includes a qualified professional staff, is critical in 
providing services to maintain the quality of life expected by the residents of our Town. The Town of River 
Bend budget supports eighteen full-time, three part-time employees and several recreation instructors.  
Personnel costs, including benefits, represent 48% of the total combined operating budget.  Following the 
guidance of the Council, the budget reflects a 4.4% cost-of-living increase and 1% for longevity increases.  
An additional 2% merit pool is available to recognize outstanding performance of individual employees.  
 
Included in the budget is an allocation for $12,200 to fund the Law Enforcement Officers' Separation 
Allowance.  The Town does not have a financial obligation this year. 
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Each year our contracted engineer reviews an evaluation he performed on all our streets in order to 
determine the priority for our paving funds.  We budget to follow the plan, which includes paving some 
streets and providing patching on several other streets.  The estimated cost is well above what we receive 
from the State through the Powell Bill appropriation, as a result local revenue of $81,950 will be budgeted 
to complete this project.  
 
Capital Improvement Plans (CIP) are used to plan for capital needs in each major fund area in order to 
sustain and improve infrastructure and operations within the financial capacity of the Town. $55,000 is 
budgeted to set aside in the General Capital Reserve Fund for this year.  
 
CIP budgeted expenditures this year are $3,000 for the replacement of information technology hardware,  
and $40,000 for a vehicle for the police department.  
 
Included in the governmental CIP is a detailed plan for keeping our information technology equipment up 
to date. We are operating in a cloud environment which means our servers are maintained at a remote site 
by our IT contractor, who also provides continually updated firewall protection against cyber-attacks.  This 
cost-effective approach enables us to reduce the amount of CIP funding for IT hardware while providing 
us with the necessary disaster recovery capability and efficient public e-mail retention.  Due to reductions 
in the costs of our remaining hardware, particularly for mobile data terminals used by the police department, 
we are able to keep our CIP funding to approximately $3,000 per year.  
 
The Town will complete the construction of the Public Works Administration building during this fiscal 
year. The Town elected to take the standard allowance and expend all of its American Rescue Plan Act of 
2021 Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (ARP/CSLFRF), $964,378, to reimburse for 
salaries and benefits paid to general administration, finance, law enforcement and planning and zoning 
departments for the period March 7, 2021 through June 30, 2022. This allowed the Town to use non-grant 
revenues to construct a building to support the needs of our public works departments. 
 
Business-Type Activities.  The adopted rate schedule reflects the increases which were effective 
September 15, 2022 and included a tiered rate structure for the usage per thousand gallons in the Water 
Fund. Using the professionally designed utility rate model, revenues are projected and the expenditures 
needed to maintain the infrastructure, pay debt service, and attain the appropriate level of cash reserves to 
sustain the quality of services provided by our community water and wastewater systems are identified. 
Debt service accounts for 22% and 18% of the total expenditures for the Water Fund and the Sewer Fund, 
respectively. Based upon the proposed expenditures and revenue projections, the cash balance in this utility 
is reasonably sufficient to respond to unknown conditions. At the end of the next three years, it is projected 
that Water Fund cash reserves will be 32% of expenditures. At the end of the next three years, it is projected 
that the Sewer Fund cash reserves will be at 58% of expenditures. 
 
Water Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) annually budgeted funds of $23,500 in this fiscal year.  These funds 
support the vehicle replacement plan, well pump replacements, and all other planned or emergency cash-
funded capital expenditures.  The Water Fund maintains cash reserves to address these needs.  Capital 
expenditures planned for the Water Fund this fiscal year include $23,000 for pump replacement at Well #1.  
 
Sewer Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) budgeted funds of $3,500 support the vehicle replacement plan and 
all other planned or emergency cash-funded capital expenditures.  In fiscal year 2024, capital expenditures 
include major upgrades and rehabilitation of our existing Wastewater Treatment Plant. The Town was 
awarded a grant totaling $9,108,500 from the State of North Carolina to fund these enhancements which 
will essentially result in a new treatment plant. 
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The state budget for FY23-24 includes $1.9 billion of funding for water and wastewater infrastructure 
projects. The Town of River Bend is listed as the recipient of $9,393,000 and this funding will be used to 
construct a new water treatment facility. 
 
This budget reflects the Council’s commitment to maintaining and improving this community and 
positioning it to be financially sound in the future. 
 
Requests for Information 
 
This report is designed to provide an overview of the Town’s finances for those with an interest in this area.  
Questions concerning any of the information found in this report or requests for additional information 
should be directed to Mandy Gilbert, Finance Director, 45 Shoreline Drive, River Bend, North Carolina 
28562-8970 or finance@riverbendnc.org.  Get to know us on the Town of River Bend’s web site:  
www.riverbendnc.org. 
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Exhibit 1

Governmental

Activities

Business-type

Activities Total

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 1,165,473$ 1,129,582$ 2,295,055$

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,307,120 22,860 1,329,980

Taxes receivables (net) 4,814 - 4,814

Accounts receivable (net) 2,339 227,011 229,350

Due from other governments 171,671 - 171,671

Total current assets 2,651,417 1,379,453 4,030,870

Noncurrent asset:

Capital assets:

Land and construction in progress 1,815,254 1,178,311 2,993,565

Other capital assets, net of depreciation 3,588,256 918,969 4,507,225

Total capital assets (net) 5,403,510 2,097,280 7,500,790

Total noncurrent assets 5,403,510 2,097,280 7,500,790

Total assets 8,054,927 3,476,733 11,531,660

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Pension deferrals - LGERS 398,100 120,718 518,818

Pension deferrals - LEO 78,696 - 78,696

Deferred charge on refunding - 42,855 42,855

Total deferred outflows of resources 476,796 163,573 640,369

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 47,329 221,784 269,113

Liabilities payable from restricted assets 3,590 22,860 26,450

Current portion of compensated absences 10,000 10,000 20,000

Current portion of long-term debt - 245,714 245,714

Total current liabilities 60,919 500,358 561,277

Non-current liabilities:

Non-current portion of compensated absences 47,898 15,452 63,350

Net pension liability - LGERS 630,246 187,197 817,443

Total pension liability - LEO 167,413 - 167,413

Non-current portion of long-term debt - 732,141 732,141

Total long-term liabilities 845,557 934,790 1,780,347

Total liabilities 906,476 1,435,148 2,341,624

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Pension deferrals - LGERS 15,076 6,331 21,407

Pension deferrals - LEO 83,186 - 83,186

Total deferred inflows of resources 98,262 6,331 104,593

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 5,403,510 1,162,280 6,565,790

Restricted for:

Stabilization by State Statute 174,010 - 174,010

Unrestricted 1,949,465 1,036,547 2,986,012

Total net position 7,526,985$ 2,198,827$ 9,725,812$

Town of River Bend

Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2023

Primary Government

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit 3

Non-Major Funds

General Fund

American Rescue

Plan Fund
Public Works

Capital Project Capital Reserve

Total Governmental

Funds

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 1,165,473$ -$ -$ -$ 1,165,473$

Restricted cash 40,402 - 1,182,149 84,569 1,307,120

Receivables, net: - - -

Taxes 4,814 - - - 4,814

Accounts 2,339 - - - 2,339

Due from other governments 171,671 - - - 171,671
Total assets 1,384,699$ -$ 1,182,149$ 84,569$ 2,651,417$

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 47,329$ -$ -$ -$ 47,329$

Customer deposits 3,590 - - - 3,590

Total liabilities 50,919 - - - 50,919

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Property taxes receivable 4,814 - - - 4,814

Total deferred inflows of resources 4,814 - - - 4,814

FUND BALANCES

Restricted

Stabilization by State Statute 174,010 - - - 174,010

Committed:

General Government capital outlay - - 1,182,149 84,569 1,266,718

Assigned:

Law enforcement seperation allowance 36,812 - - - 36,812

Subsequnent Year's Expenditures 198,597 - - - 198,597

Unassigned 919,547 - - - 919,547

Total fund balances 1,328,966 - 1,182,149 84,569 2,595,684
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of

resources and fund balances 1,384,699$ -$ 1,182,149$ 84,569$

5,403,510

LGERS 398,100

LEO 78,696

4,814

Net pension liability (630,246)

Total pension liability (167,413)

LGERS (15,076)

LEO (83,186)

(57,898)
Net position of governmental activities 7,526,985$

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and

therefore are not reported in the funds.

Earned revenues considered deferred inflows of resources in fund statements.

Other long-term liabilities (compensated absences) are not due and payable in the

current period and therefore are not reported in the funds.

Deferred outlfows of resources related to pension are not reported in the funds.

Deferred infows of resources related to pension are not reported in the funds.

Town of River Bend

Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds

June 30, 2023

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position

(Exhibit 1) are different because:

Major Funds

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 5757



Exhibit 4

Non-major Funds

General Fund

American Rescue

Plan Fund

Public Works

Capital Project Capital Reserve

Total Governmental

Funds

REVENUES

Ad valorem taxes 833,878$ -$ -$ -$ 833,878$

Unrestricted intergovernmental 713,744 - - - 713,744

Restricted intergovernmental 371,212 482,189 - - 853,401

Permits and fees 12,564 - - - 12,564

Sales and services 40,614 - - - 40,614

Investment earnings 37,762 4 54,377 3,601 95,744

Miscellaneous 40,301 - - - 40,301

Total revenues 2,050,075 482,193 54,377 3,601 2,590,246

EXPENDITURES

Current:

General government 615,873 - - - 615,873

Public safety 666,722 - - - 666,722

Transportation 186,442 - - - 186,442

Environmental protection 533,890 - 792,736 - 1,326,626

Cultural and recreational 99,274 - - - 99,274

Total expenditures 2,102,201 - 792,736 - 2,894,937

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over expenditures (52,126) 482,193 (738,359) 3,601 (304,691)

Revenues over (under) expenditures (52,126) 482,193 (738,359) 3,601 (304,691)

Other financing sources:

Transfer (to) from other funds 12,898 (482,300) 1,513,947 (12,787) 1,031,758

Insurance settlement 2,357 - - - 2,357

Total other financiang sources 15,255 (482,300) 1,513,947 (12,787) 1,034,115

Revenues and other sources over

expenditures and other sources (36,871) (107) 775,588 (9,186) 729,424

Fund balances, beginning 1,365,837 107 406,561 93,755 1,866,260

Fund balances, ending 1,328,966$ -$ 1,182,149$ 84,569$ 2,595,684$

Town of River Bend

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Major Funds

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit 4 Cont.

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are

different because:

Net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds 729,424$

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However,

in the statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over

their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. This

is the amount by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation in the

current period.

Capital outlay expenditures which were capitalized 1,309,789$

Depreciation expense for governmental assets (247,310)

1,062,479

Contributions to the pension plan in the current fiscal year are not

included on the statement of activities 97,050

Benefit payments for LEOSSA included in Statement of Activities -

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current

financial resources are not reported as revenues in the funds.

Change in unavailable revenue for tax revenues (2,394)

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require

the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as

expenditures in governmental funds.

Compensated absences (19,654)

Pension expense (263,099)

Total changes in net position of governmental activities 1,603,806$

Town of River Bend

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Reconciliation of the

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit 5

General Fund

Original Final Actual Amounts

V ce w

Final Budget -

Positive

(Negative)

Revenues:

Ad valorem taxes 814,010$ 814,010$ 833,878$ 19,868$

Unrestricted intergovernmental 660,293 660,293 713,744 53,451

Restricted intergovernmental 93,200 370,462 371,212 750

Permits and fees 7,500 7,500 12,564 5,064

Sales and services 36,565 36,565 40,614 4,049

Investment earnings 575 575 37,762 37,187

Miscellaneous 10,000 10,000 40,301 30,301

Total revenues 1,622,143 1,899,405 2,050,075 150,670

Expenditures:

General government 637,131 672,631 615,873 56,758

Public safety 605,500 682,743 666,722 16,021

Transportation 193,000 193,000 186,442 6,558

Environmental protection 274,500 547,887 533,890 13,997

Cultural and recreational 87,300 108,800 99,274 9,526

Total expenditures 1,797,431 2,205,061 2,102,201 102,860

Revenues over (under) expenditures (175,288) (305,656) (52,126) 253,530

Other financing sources (uses):

Transfers from other funds 46,500 86,287 568,587 482,300

Transfers to other funds (73,500) (73,500) (555,689) (482,189)

Insurance settlement - - 2,357 2,357

Sale of fixed assets 15,000 15,000 - (15,000)

Appropriated fund balance 187,288 277,869 - (277,869)

Total other financing sources (uses) 175,288 305,656 15,255 (290,401)

Revenues and other sources over (under)

expenditures and other uses -$ -$ (36,871) (36,871)$

Fund balances, beginning 1,365,837

Fund balances, ending 1,328,966$

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Town of River Bend

General Fund

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit 6

Water Fund Sewer Fund Total
ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 506,365$ 623,217$ 1,129,582$
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 8,890 13,970 22,860
Accounts receivable, net 115,538 111,473 227,011
Due from (to) other funds 2,719 (2,719) -

Total current assets 633,512 745,941 1,379,453

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets:

Land and construction in progress 841,818 336,493 1,178,311
Other capital assets, net of depreciation 425,186 493,783 918,969

Capital assets (net) 1,267,004 830,276 2,097,280
Total noncurrent assets 1,267,004 830,276 2,097,280

Total assets 1,900,516 1,576,217 3,476,733

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension deferrals 57,287 63,431 120,718
Deferred charge on refunding 22,997 19,858 42,855

Total deferred outflows of resources 80,284 83,289 163,573

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 202,403 19,381 221,784
Liabilities payable from restricted assets 8,890 13,970 22,860
Compensated absences - current 5,000 5,000 10,000
Current portion of long-term debt 131,854 113,860 245,714

Total current liabilities 348,147 152,211 500,358

Non-current liabilities:
Other noncurrent liabilities:

Compensated absences 6,832 8,620 15,452
Net pension liability 89,273 97,924 187,197
Long-term debt 392,832 339,309 732,141
Total noncurrent liabilities 488,937 445,853 934,790

Total liabilities 837,084 598,064 1,435,148

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension deferrals 2,565 3,766 6,331

Total deferred inflows of resources 2,565 3,766 6,331

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 765,315 396,965 1,162,280
Unrestricted 375,836 660,711 1,036,547
Total net position 1,141,151$ 1,057,676$ 2,198,827$

Major Enterprise Funds

Town of River Bend
Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Fund
June 30, 2023

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit 7

Water Fund Sewer Fund Total

OPERATING REVENUES

Charges for services 557,677$ 649,401$ 1,207,078$

Water and sewer taps 1,967 1,250 3,217

Other operating revenues 17,885 8,392 26,277

Total operating revenues 577,529 659,043 1,236,572

OPERATING EXPENSES

Administration 331,849 343,120 674,969

Operations 94,200 127,743 221,943

Depreciation and amortization 79,979 57,791 137,770

Total operating expenses 506,028 528,654 1,034,682

Operating income (loss) 71,501 130,389 201,890

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Investment earnings 19,056 24,521 43,577

Interest and other charges (16,473) (14,220) (30,693)

Total nonoperating revenue (expenses) 2,583 10,301 12,884

Income (loss) before contributions and transfers 74,084 140,690 214,774

Capital contributions 538,452 - 538,452

Transfers to other funds (515,879) (515,879) (1,031,758)

Total income (loss) after contributions and transfers 96,657 (375,189) (278,532)

Change in net position 96,657 (375,189) (278,532)

Total net position, beginning 1,044,494 1,432,865 2,477,359

Total net position, ending 1,141,151$ 1,057,676$ 2,198,827$

Town of River Bend

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position

Proprietary Fund

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Major Enterprise Funds

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit 8

Water Fund Sewer Fund Total

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash received from customers 571,192$ 657,197$ 1,228,389$

Cash paid for goods and services (104,775) (320,505) (425,280)

Cash paid to or on behalf of employees for services (109,485) (121,754) (231,239)

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 356,932 214,938 571,870

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Interfund activity (515,879) (515,879) (1,031,758)

Net cash provided (used) by noncapital financing activities (515,879) (515,879) (1,031,758)

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition and construction of capital assets (727,003) (74,536) (801,539)

Principal paid on long-term debt (134,537) (116,177) (250,714)

Capital contributions 538,452 - 538,452

Interest and other costs paid on long-term debt (16,473) (14,220) (30,693)

Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities (339,561) (204,933) (544,494)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investment earnings 19,056 24,521 43,577

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities 19,056 24,521 43,577

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (479,452) (481,353) (960,805)

Balances, beginning 994,707 1,118,540 2,113,247
Balances, ending 515,255$ 637,187$ 1,152,442$

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities

Operating income 71,501$ 130,389$ 201,890$

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 79,979 57,791 137,770

Changes in assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (6,507) (2,109) (8,616)

(Increase) decrease in deferred outflows - pension (20,540) (22,407) (42,947)

(Increase) decrease in deferred outflows - refunding 5,749 4,965 10,714

Increase (decrease) in net pension liability 65,239 71,169 136,408

Increase (decrease) in deferred inflows (33,496) (36,541) (70,037)

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 192,207 7,494 199,701

Increase (decrease) in customer deposits 170 263 433

Increase (decrease) in compensated absences 2,630 3,924 6,554

Total adjustments 285,431 84,549 369,980
Net cash provided by operating activities 356,932$ 214,938$ 571,870$

Town of River Bend

Major Enterprise Funds

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Proprietary Fund

Statement of Cash Flows

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

These notes are intended to communicate information necessary for a 
fair presentation of financial position and results of operations that are 
not readily apparent from or cannot be included in the financial 
statements themselves. The notes supplement the financial 
statements, are an integral part thereof, and are intended to be read in 
conjunction with the financial statements. 
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Tow n ofRiverBend,North Carolina
Notesto theFinancialStatem ents

FortheFiscalYearEnded June30,2023

I.Sum m aryofSignificantAccountingPolicies

A.Re porting Entity

B.Ba sisofPre se nta tion

The Tow nre portsthe follow ing m a jore nte rprise fund :

C.M e a sure m e ntFocusa nd Ba sisofAc c ounting

Ina c c ord a nce w ith N orth Ca rolina Ge ne ra lSta tute s,a llfund softhe Tow na re m a inta ine d d uring the ye a rusing the m od ifie d a c c rua lb a sisofa c c ounting .

Gove rnm e ntwid e a nd Proprie ta ry Fund Fina nc ia l Sta te m e nts.The g ove rnm e nt-w id e a nd proprie ta ry fund fina nc ia lsta te m e nts a re re porte d using the

e c onom ic re sourc e s m e a sure m e nt foc us.The g ove rnm e nt-w id e a nd proprie ta ry fund fina nc ia l sta te m e nts a re re porte d using the a c c rua l b a sis of

a c c ounting .Re ve nue sa re re c ord e d w he n e a rne d a nd e xpe nse sa re re c ord e d a tthe tim e lia b ilitie sa re incurre d ,re g a rd le ssofw he n the re la te d c a sh flow s

ta ke pla c e .Non-e xc ha ng e tra nsa c tions,in w hic h the Tow n g ive s(orre c e ive s) va lue w ithoutd ire c tlyre c e iving (org iving ) e qua lva lue in e xc ha ng e ,inc lud e

prope rty ta xe s,g ra nts,a nd d ona tions.On a n a c c rua lb a sis,re ve nue from prope rty ta xe s is re c og nize d in the fisc a lye a rforw hic h the ta xe s a re le vie d .

Re ve nue from g ra ntsa nd d ona tionsisre c og nize d inthe fisc a lye a rinw hic h a lle lig ib ilityre quire m e ntsha ve b e e nsa tisfie d .

Pub licW orksCapitalProjectsFund.The Pub lic W orksCa pita lProje c tsFund isuse d toa c c ountforthe c onstruc tionofa pub lic w orksb uild ing .

W aterFund.Thisfund isuse d toa c c ountforthe Tow n'sw a te rope ra tions.

The a c c ounting polic ie s ofthe Tow n ofRive r Be nd ,North Ca rolina (the Tow n) c onform to g e ne ra lly a c c e pte d a c c ounting princ iple s a s a pplic a b le to

g ove rnm e nts.The follow ing isa sum m a ryofthe m ore sig nifica nta c c ounting polic ie s:

The Tow n isa m unic ipa lc orpora tion g ove rne d b y a n e le c te d M a yora nd five -m e m b e rsofthe Tow n Counc ilw ith a M a na g e r-Counc ilform ofg ove rnm e nt.

Asre quire d b yg e ne ra llya c c e pte d a c c ounting principle s,the se fina nc ia lsta te m e ntspre se ntthe Tow n.

Gove rnm e ntwid e Sta te m e nts:The sta te m e ntofne tposition a nd the sta te m e ntofa c tivitie sd ispla y inform a tion a b outthe prim a ry g ove rnm e nt.The se

sta te m e ntsinc lud e the fina nc ia la c tivitie softhe ove ra llg ove rnm e nt.Elim ina tionsha ve b e e n m a d e tom inim ize the d oub le c ounting ofinte rna la c tivitie s.

The se sta te m e ntsd isting uish b e tw e e n the g ove rnm e nta l a nd b usine sstype a c tivitie softhe Tow n.Gove rnm e nta la c tivitie sg e ne ra lly a re fina nc e d throug h

ta xe s,inte rg ove rnm e nta l re ve nue s,a nd othe r non-e xc ha ng e tra nsa c tions.Busine ss-type a c tivitie s a re fina nce d in w hole or in pa rtb y fe e s c ha rg e d to

e xte rna lpa rtie s.

The sta te m e ntofa c tivitie spre se ntsa c om pa rison b e tw e e n d ire c te xpe nse sa nd prog ra m re ve nue sforthe d iffe re ntb usine ss-type a c tivitie softhe Tow n

a nd fore a c h func tion ofthe Tow n�s g ove rnm e nta la c tivitie s.Dire c te xpe nse sa re those tha ta re spe c ific a lly a ssoc ia te d w ith a prog ra m orfunc tion a nd ,

the re fore ,a re c le a rlyid e ntifia b le toa spe c ific func tion.Ind ire c te xpe nse a lloc a tionstha tha ve b e e nm a d e in the fund sha ve b e e nre ve rse d forthe sta te m e nt

ofa c tivitie s.Prog ra m re ve nue s inc lud e (a ) fe e s a nd c ha rg e s pa id b y the re c ipie nts ofg ood s or se rvic e s offe re d b y the prog ra m s a nd (b ) g ra nts a nd

c ontrib utions tha ta re re stric te d to m e e ting the ope ra tiona lorc a pita lre quire m e ntsofa spe c ific prog ra m .Re ve nue stha ta re notc la ssifie d a sprog ra m

re ve nue s,inc lud ing a llta xe s,a re pre se nte d a sg e ne ra lre ve nue s.

Fund Fina nc ia l Sta te m e nts:The fund fina nc ia lsta te m e nts provid e inform a tion a b outthe Tow n�s fund s. Se pa ra te sta te m e nts for e a c h fund c a te g ory �

g ove rnm e nta l a nd proprie ta ry� a re pre se nte d .The e m pha sisoffund fina nc ia lsta te m e ntsison m a jorg ove rnm e nta la nd e nte rprise fund s,e a c h d ispla ye d

ina se pa ra te c olum n.Allre m a ining g ove rnm e nta la nd e nte rprise fund sa re a g g re g a te d a nd re porte d a snon-m a jorfund s.

Proprie ta ry fund ope ra ting re ve nue s,such a s c ha rg e sforse rvic e s,re sultfrom e xc ha ng e tra nsa c tions a ssoc ia te d w ith the princ ipa la c tivity ofthe fund .

Exc ha ng e tra nsa c tionsa re those in w hic h e a c h pa rtyre c e ive sa nd g ive sup e sse ntia llye qua lva lue s.Non-ope ra ting re ve nue s,suc h a ssub sid ie sre sultfrom

non-e xc ha ng e tra nsa c tions.Othe rnon-ope ra ting re ve nue sa re a nc illa rya c tivitie ssuc h a sinve stm e nte a rning s.

The Tow nre portsthe follow ing m a jorg ove rnm e nta lfund s:

GeneralFund.The Ge ne ra lFund isthe g e ne ra lope ra ting fund ofthe Tow n.The Ge ne ra lFund a c c ountsfora llfina ncia lre sourc e se xc e ptthose tha ta re

re quire d to b e a c c ounte d forin a nothe rfund .The prim a ryre ve nue source sa re a d va lore m ta xe s,Sta te g ra nts,a nd va riousothe rta xe sa nd lic e nse s.The

prim a rye xpe nd iture sa re forpub lic sa fe ty,stre e tm a inte na nc e a nd c onstruction,a nd sa nita tionse rvic e s.

Sew erFund.Thisfund isuse d toa c c ountforthe Tow n'sse w e rope ra tions.

Am erican RescuePlan Fund Thisfund isa spe c ia lre ve nue fund tohe lpw ith Covid 19 re lie f.
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D.Bud g e ta ryDa ta

E.Asse ts,Lia b ilitie s,De fe rre d Outflow s/Inflow sofRe sourc e sa nd Fund Equity

1.De positsa nd Inve stm e nts

Gove rnm e nta lFund Fina nc ia lSta te m e nts.Gove rnm e nta lfund s a re re porte d using the c urre ntfina nc ia lre sourc e s m e a sure m e ntfoc usa nd the m od ifie d

a c c rua lb a sisofa c c ounting .Und e rthism e thod ,re ve nue sa re re c og nize d w he n m e a sura b le a nd a va ila b le .Expe nd iture sa re re c ord e d w he nthe re la te d fund

lia b ility isinc urre d ,e xc e ptforprinc ipa la nd inte re ston g e ne ra llong -te rm d e b t,c la im sa nd jud g m e nts,a nd c om pe nsa te d a b se nc e s,w hic h a re re c og nize d

a s e xpe nd iture s to the e xte ntthe y ha ve m a ture d .Ge ne ra l c a pita la sse ta c quisitions a re re porte d a s e xpe nd iture s in g ove rnm e nta l fund s.Issua nc e of

g e ne ra llong -te rm d e b ta nd a c quisitionsund e rc a pita lle a se sa re re porte d a sothe rfina nc ing sourc e s.

The Tow n c onsid e rsa llre ve nue sa va ila b le ifthe ya re c olle c te d w ithin 90 d a ysa fte rye a r-e nd ,e xc e ptforprope rtyta xe s.Ad va lore m ta xe sre c e iva b le a re

nota c c rue d a sre ve nue b e c a use the a m ountisnotsusc e ptib le toa c c rua l.AtJune 30,ta xe sre c e iva b le forprope rtyothe rtha n m otorve hic le sa re m a te ria lly

pa std ue a nd a re notc onsid e re d to b e a n a va ila b le re sourc e to fina nc e the ope ra tionsofthe c urre ntye a r.Also,a sofSe pte m b e r1,2013,Sta te la w a lte re d

the proc e d ure sforthe a sse ssm e nta nd c olle c tion ofprope rtyta xe son re g iste re d m otorve hic le sin N orth Ca rolina .Effe c tive w ith thisc ha ng e in the la w ,

the Sta te ofNorth Ca rolina is re sponsib le for b illing a nd c olle c ting the prope rty ta xe s on re g iste re d m otorve hic le son b e ha lfofa llm unicipa litie sa nd

spe c ia lta x d istric ts. Prope rty ta xe s a re d ue w he n ve hicle sa re re g iste re d . The b ille d ta xe sa re a pplic a b le to the fisc a lye a rin w hich the y a re re c e ive d .

Unc olle c te d ta xe stha tw e re b ille d in pe riod spriorto Se pte m b e r1,2013 a nd forlim ite d re g istra tion pla te sa re show n a sa re c e iva b le in the se fina nc ia l

sta te m e ntsa nd a re offse tb yd e fe rre d inflow sofre sourc e s.

Sa le sta xe sa nd c e rta in inte rg ove rnm e nta lre ve nue s,suc h a sthe b e e ra nd w ine ta x,c olle c te d a nd he ld b y the Sta te a tye a r-e nd on b e ha lfofthe Tow n a re

re c og nize d a s re ve nue .Sa le s ta xe sa re c onsid e re d a sha re d re ve nue forthe Tow n ofRive rBe nd b e c a use the ta x is le vie d b y Cra ve n County a nd the n

re m itte d toa nd d istrib ute d b ythe Sta te .M ostinte rg ove rnm e nta lre ve nue sa nd sa le sa nd se rvic e sa re notsusc e ptib le toa c c rua lb e c a use g e ne ra llythe ya re

notm e a sura b le untilre c e ive d in c a sh.Allta xe s,inc lud ing those d e d ic a te d forspe c ific purpose sa re re porte d a sg e ne ra lre ve nue sra the rtha n prog ra m

re ve nue s.Und e rthe te rm sofg ra nta g re e m e nts,the Tow n fund sc e rta in prog ra m s b y a c om b ina tion ofspe c ific c ost-re im b urse m e ntg ra nts,c a te g oric a l

b loc k g ra nts,a nd g e ne ra lre ve nue s.Thus,w he n prog ra m e xpe nse sa re incurre d ,the re isb oth re stric te d a nd unre stricte d ne tpositiona va ila b le tofina nc e

the prog ra m .Itisthe Tow n�spolic ytofirsta pplyc ost-re im b urse m e ntg ra ntre sourc e stosuc h prog ra m s,follow e d b yc a te g oric a lb loc k g ra nts,a nd the nb y

g e ne ra lre ve nue s.

The Tow n'sb ud g e tsa re a d opte d a sre quire d b ythe North Ca rolina Ge ne ra lSta tute s.Ana nnua lb ud g e tisa d opte d forthe Ge ne ra lFund a nd the Ente rprise

Fund s.Alla nnua la ppropria tionsla pse a tthe fisca l-ye a re nd .An a nnua lb ud g e tisa lso a d opte d forthe Spe c ia lRe ve nue Fund s.Allb ud g e tsa re pre pa re d

using the m od ifie d a c c rua lb a sisofa c c ounting .Expe nd iture sm a ynotle g a llye xc e e d a ppropria tionsa tthe func tiona lle ve lfora lla nnua lly b ud g e te d fund s

a nd a tthe proje c tle ve lforthe m ulti-ye a rfund s.The Bud g e tOffic e risa uthorize d tore a lloca ta nya ppropria tionsw ithin d e pa rtm e nts,toe xe c ute inte rfund

a nd inte rd e pa rtm e nta l tra nsfe rs in e m e rg e nc y situa tions, a nd to e xe c ute inte rd e pa rtm e nta l tra nsfe rs in the sa m e fund , includ ing c onting e nc y

a ppropria tions,notto e xc e e d $5,000.Notific a tion ofsuc h tra nsfe rs sha llb e m a d e to the Tow n Counc ila tits ne xtm e e ting follow ing the tra nsfe r.Any

re visionstha ta lte rtota le xpe nd iture soffund m ustb e a pprove d b ythe g ove rning b od y.During the ye a r,se ve ra la m e nd m e ntstothe orig ina lb ud g e tw e re

ne c e ssa ry,the e ffe c tsofw hich w e re notm a te ria l.The b ud g e tord ina nce m ustb e a d opte d b yJuly1 ofthe fisc a lye a rorthe g ove rning b oa rd m usta d opta n

inte rim tha tc ove rstha ttim e untilthe a nnua lord ina nc e c a nb e a d opte d .

Am ountsre porte d a sprog ra m re ve nue sinc lud e 1) c ha rg e stoc ustom e rsora pplica ntsforg ood s,se rvic e s,orprivile g e sprovid e d ,2) ope ra ting g ra ntsa nd

c ontrib utions,a nd 3) c a pita lg ra nts a nd c ontrib utions,includ ing spe c ia la sse ssm e nts. Inte rna lly d e d ic a te d re sourc e s a re re porte d a s g e ne ra lre ve nue s

ra the rtha na sprog ra m re ve nue s.Like w ise ,g e ne ra lre ve nue sinc lud e a llta xe s.

All d e posits ofthe Tow n a re m a d e in b oa rd -d e sig na te d offic ia l d e positorie s a nd a re se c ure d a s re quire d b y Sta te la w [G.S.159-31].The Tow n m a y

d e sig na te ,a sa n offic ia ld e pository,a nyb a nk orsa ving sa ssocia tion w hose princ ipa loffic e isloc a te d in North Ca rolina .Also,the Tow n m a ye sta b lish tim e

d e posita c c ountssuc h a sNOW a nd Supe rNOW a c c ounts,m one ym a rke ta c c ounts,a nd c e rtific a te sofd e posit.

Sta te la w [G.S.159-30(c )]a uthorize sthe Tow n toinve stin ob lig a tionsofthe Unite d Sta te sorob lig a tionsfullyg ua ra nte e d b oth a stoprincipa la nd inte re st

b ythe Unite d Sta te s;ob lig a tionsofthe Sta te ofNorth Ca rolina ,b ond sa nd note sofa nyNorth Ca rolina loc a lg ove rnm e ntorpub lic a uthority,ob lig a tionsof

c e rta in non-g ua ra nte e d fe d e ra l a g e ncie s,c e rta in hig h qua lity issue s of c om m e rc ia l pa pe r a nd b a nke rs'a c c e pta nce s,a nd the North Ca rolina Ca pita l

M a na g e m e ntTrust(NCCM T). The Tow n's inve stm e nts a re g e ne ra lly re porte d a tfa irva lue .The NCCM T Gove rnm e ntPortfolio,a SEC-re g iste re d (2a -7)

m one ym a rke tfund -e xte rna linve stm e ntpool,ism e a sure d a ta m ortize d c ost,w hic h a pproxim a te sfa irva lue ,a nd isthe NCCM T'ssha re pric e .The N CCM T-

Te rm Portfolio isb ond fund ,ha sno ra ting a nd ism e a sure d a tfa irva lue .AsofJune 30,2020,the Te rm portfolio ha sa d ura tion of.15 ye a rs.Be c a use the

NCCM T Gove rnm e nta nd Te rm Portfoliosha ve a w e ig hte d a ve ra g e m a turity ofle sstha n 90 d a ys,the ya re pre se nte d a sa n inve stm e ntw ith a m a turity of

le sstha n6 m onths.

Proprie ta ry fund s d isting uish ope ra ting re ve nue s a nd e xpe nse s from non-ope ra ting ite m s. Ope ra ting re ve nue s a nd e xpe nse s g e ne ra lly re sult from

provid ing se rvic e s a nd prod uc ing a nd d e live ring g ood s in c onne c tion w ith a proprie ta ry fund �s princ ipa long oing ope ra tions. The princ ipa lope ra ting

re ve nue softhe Tow n e nte rprise fund sa re c ha rg e stoc ustom e rsforsa le sa nd se rvic e s.The Tow n a lso re c og nize sa sope ra ting re ve nue the portion ofta p

fe e sinte nd e d tore c ove rthe c ostofc onne c ting ne w c ustom e rstothe w a te ra nd se w e rsyste m .Ope ra ting e xpe nse sfore nte rprise fund sinc lud e the c ostof

sa le sa nd se rvic e s,a d m inistra tive e xpe nse s,a nd d e pre c ia tionon c a pita la sse ts.Allre ve nue sa nd e xpe nse snotm e e ting thisd e finitiona re re porte d a snon-

ope ra ting re ve nue sa nd e xpe nse s.
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2.  Cash and Cash Equivalents

3. Restricted Assets

4.  Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable

5. Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

6. Prepaid Items

7.  Capital Assets

Asset Class
Buildings and systems
Maintenance and construction equipment
Furniture and office equipment
Medium and heavy motor vehicles
Automobiles and light trucks
Computer software and equipment

8.  Deferred outflows/inflows of resources

9.  Long-Term Obligations

In fund financial statements for governmental fund types, the face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources.  

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate
financial statement element, Deferred Outflows of Resources , represents a consumption of net assets that applies to a future period and so will not be
recognized as an expense or expenditure until then. The Town has two items that meets this criterion, pension deferrals and deferred charge on refunding
bonds for the 2023 fiscal year. In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of
resources. This separate financial statement element, Deferred Inflows of Resources , represents an acquisition of net assets that applies to a future period
and so will not be recognized as revenue until then. The Town has only two items that meet the criterion for this category - property taxes receivable and
pension deferrals.

30
5
5
5
5
5

The Town pools money from several funds to facilitate disbursement and investment and to maximize investment income and considers all cash and
investments to be cash and cash equivalents. Only investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase may be classified as cash
equivalents. 

Customer deposits held by the Town before any services are supplied are restricted to the service for which the deposit was collected. Restricted cash and
cash equivalents at June 30, 2023 for customer deposits and the Water and Sewer reserve funds were $22,860. 

In accordance with State law [G.S. 105-347 and G.S. 159-13(a)], the Town levies ad valorem taxes on property other than motor vehicles on July 1st, the
beginning of the fiscal year. The taxes are due on September 1st (lien date); however, interest does not accrue until the following January 6th. These taxes
are based on the assessed values as of January 1, 2022.   

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid items in both government -wide and fund
financial statements and expensed as the items are used.

All receivables that historically experience uncollectible accounts are shown net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. This amount is estimated by
analyzing the percentage of receivables that were written off in prior years.

Purchased or constructed capital assets are reported at cost or estimated historical cost. Donated capital assets are recorded at their estimated fair value at
the date of donation. Minimum capitalization cost for the Town's assets are $5,000. Donated capital assets received prior to June 15, 2015 are recorded at
their estimated fair value at the date of donation. Donated capital assets received after June 15, 2015 are recorded at acquisition value. All other purchased
or constructed capital assets are reported at cost or estimated historical cost. The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of
the asset or materially extend assets' lives are not capitalized.

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, long–term debt and other long-term obligations
are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position. 

Useful Life
Estimated

Restricted cash and cash equivalents at June 30, 2023 for the General Fund was $36,812 for the Law Officers Separation Allowance and $84,569 in reserve
funds for the Capital Reserve Fund and customer deposits of $3,590.
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10.Com pe nsa te d Ab se nc e s

11.Ne tPosition/Fund Ba la nc e s

Ne tPosition

Fund Ba la nce s

The g ove rnm e nta lfund type sc la ssifyfund b a la nc e sa sfollow s:

Ne tposition in g ove rnm e nt-w id e a nd proprie ta ryfund fina nc ia lsta te m e ntsa re c la ssifie d a sne tinve stm e ntin c a pita la sse ts,re stric te d ,a nd unre stric te d .

Re stric te d ne tposition re pre se ntsc onstra intson re sourc e stha ta re e ithe re xte rna llyim pose d b yc re d itors,g ra ntors,c ontrib utors,orla w sorre g ula tions

ofothe rg ove rnm e ntsorim pose d b yla w throug h sta te sta tute .

The Tow n ofRive rBe nd ha sa re ve nue spe nd ing polic y tha tprovid e sg uid a nc e forprog ra m sw ith m ultiple re ve nue source s.The Fina nc e Offic e rw illuse

re sourc e s in the follow ing hie ra rc hy: b ond proc e e d s, fe d e ra l fund s, Sta te fund s, loc a l non-tow n fund s, tow n fund s. For purpose s of fund b a la nc e

c la ssific a tion e xpe nd iture sa re to b e spe ntfrom re stric te d fund b a la nce first,follow e d in ord e rb y c om m itte d fund b a la nce ,a ssig ne d fund b a la nc e a nd

la stlyuna ssig ne d fund b a la nc e .The Fina nc e Offic e rha sthe a uthoritytod e via te from thispolic yifitisinthe b e stinte re stofthe Tow n.

In the g ove rnm e nta lfund fina nc ia lsta te m e nts,fund b a la nce isc om pose d offive c la ssific a tionsd e sig ne d to d isc lose the hie ra rc hyofc onstra intspla c e d on

how fund b a la nc e c a nb e spe nt.

Re stric te d  Fund  Ba la nc e  � This c la ssific a tion inc lud e s a m ounts tha t a re  re stric te d  to spe c ific  purpose s e xte rna lly im pose d  b y c re d itors or im pose d  b y la w .

Assig ne d  Fund  Ba la nc e  � portion of fund  b a la nc e  tha t Tow n of Rive r Be nd  inte nd s to use  for spe c ific  purpose s.

Una ssig ne d Fund Ba la nc e � the portion offund b a la nc e tha tha s notb e e n re stric te d ,c om m itte d ,or a ssig ne d to spe c ific purpose s orothe rfund s. The

Ge ne ra lFund isthe onlyfund tha tre portsa positive una ssig ne d fund b a la nc e .

Com m itte d Fund Ba la nc e � portion offund b a la nc e tha tc a n only b e use d forspe c ific purpose sim pose d b y m a jority vote b y quorum ofTow n ofRive r

Be nd �sg ove rning b od y(hig he stle ve lofd e c ision-m a king a uthority).Anyc ha ng e sorre m ova lofspe c ific purpose re quire sm a joritya c tionb ythe g ove rning

b od y.The g ove rning b od yc a n,b ya d option ofa n ord ina nc e priortothe e nd ofthe fisc a lye a r,c om m itfund b a la nc e .Onc e a d opte d ,the lim ita tion im pose d

b ythe ord ina nc e re m a insinpla c e untila sim ila ra c tionista ke n(the a d optionofa nothe rord ina nc e ) tore m ove orre vise the lim ita tion.

Re stric te d forSta b iliza tion b y Sta te sta tute � North Ca rolina G.S.159-8 prohib itsunitsofg ove rnm e ntfrom b ud g e ting orspe nd ing a portion of

the irfund b a la nc e .Thisisone ofse ve ra lsta tute se na c te d b y the North Ca rolina Sta te Le g isla ture in the 1930�stha tw e re d e sig ne d to im prove

a nd m a inta in the fisc a lhe a lth ofloca lg ove rnm e ntunits.Re stric te d b y Sta te sta tute (RSS),is c a lc ula te d a tthe e nd ofe a c h fisc a lye a rfora ll

a nnua lly b ud g e te d fund s.The c a lc ula tion in G.S.159-8(a ) provid e s a form ula for d e te rm ining w ha tportion offund b a la nce is a va ila b le for

a ppropria tion.The a m ountoffund b a la nc e nota va ila b le fora ppropria tion isw ha tisknow n a s�re stric te d b y Sta te sta tute �.Appropria te d fund

b a la nc e in a ny fund sha llnote xc e e d the sum ofc a sh a nd inve stm e ntsm inusthe sum oflia b ilitie s,e nc um b ra nc e s,a nd d e fe rre d re ve nue sa rising

from c a sh re ce ipts,a sthose fig ure ssta nd a tthe c lose ofthe fisc a lye a rne xtpre c e d ing the b ud g e t.Pe rGASB g uid a nc e ,RSS isc onsid e re d a re source

upon w hic h a re stric tion is �im pose d b y la w throug h c onstitutiona l provisions or e na b ling le g isla tion.� RSS is re d uc e d b y inve ntorie s a nd

pre pa id s a s the y a re c la ssifie d a s nonspe nd a b le .Outsta nd ing Enc um b ra nc e s a re inc lud e d w ithin RSS.RSS is inc lud e d a s a c om pone ntof

Re stric te d Ne tpositiona nd Re stricte d fund b a la nc e onthe fa c e ofthe b a la nc e she e t.

Nonspe nd a b le Fund Ba la nc e �Thisc la ssific a tion inc lud e sa m ountstha tc a nnotb e spe ntb e c a use the ya re e ithe r(a ) notin spe nd a b le form or(b ) le g a llyor

c ontra c tua llyre quire d tob e m a inta ine d inta c t.

Pre pa id Ite m s-portion offund b a la nc e tha tisnota n a va ila b le re sourc e ,b e c a use itre pre se ntsthe ye a r-e nd b a la nc e ofpre pa id ite m s,w hic h a re

notspe nd a b le re source s.Am ountpre pa id a tJune 30,2023 w a s$0.

Sub se que nt ye a r�s e xpe nd iture s � A portion of fund  b a la nc e  is a ppropria te d  in the  FY 2023-24 b ud g e t to b a la nc e  the  b ud g e t, $198,597.

La w Enforc e m e nt Se pa ra tion Allow a nc e -portion of fund b a la nce tha t is a ppropria te d for the c a sh tha t w a s pre viously he ld in the La w

Enforc e m e ntSe pa ra tionAllow a nc e Fund .AtJune 30,2023,a ssig ne d fund b a la nce forthispurpose w a s$36,812.

The va c a tionpolic ie softhe Tow n provid e sforthe a c c um ula tionofupto30 d a ysofe a rne d va c a tionle a ve ,w ith suc h le a ve b e ing fullyve ste d w he ne a rne d .

Forthe Tow n'sg ove rnm e nt-w id e pre se nta tion,a n e xpe nse a nd a lia b ilityforc om pe nsa te d a b se nc e sa nd the sa la ry-re la te d pa ym e ntsa re re c ord e d a sthe

le a ve ise a rne d .

The Tow n'ssic k le a ve polic yprovid e sfora n unlim ite d a c c um ula tion ofe a rne d sic k le a ve .Sick le a ve d oe snotve st,b uta nyunuse d sic k le a ve a c c um ula te d

a tthe tim e ofre tire m e ntm a y b e use d in the d e te rm ina tion ofle ng th ofse rvic e for re tire m e ntb e ne fitpurpose s.Since the Tow n d oe s notha ve a ny

ob lig a tionforthe a c c um ula te d sic k le a ve untilitisa c tua llyta ke n,noa c c rua lforsic k le a ve ha sb e e nm a d e .
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12.De fine d Be ne fitCost-Sha ring Pla ns

II.Stew ardship,Com pliance,and Accountab ility

The re w e re noissue sre la ting toste w a rd ship,c om plia nc e a nd a c c ounta b ilityforthe Tow n.

III.DetailNoteson AllFunds

A.Asse ts

1.De posits

2.Inve stm e nts

Allthe d e positsofthe Tow n a re e ithe rinsure d orc olla te ra lize d b y using the Pooling M e thod .Und e rthe Pooling M e thod ,w hic h isc olla te ra lpool, isa

c olla te ra lpool;a lluninsure d d e positsa re c olla te ra lize d w ith se c uritie she ld b y the Sta te Tre a sure r'sa g e ntin the na m e ofthe Sta te Tre a sure r. Sinc e the

Sta te Tre a sure risa c ting in a fid ucia ry c a pa c ity forthe Tow n,the se d e positsa re c onsid e re d to b e he ld b y the Tow n's a g e ntsin the e ntitie sna m e s.The

a m ountofthe ple d g e d c olla te ra lisb a se d on a n a pprove d a ve ra g ing m e thod fornon-inte re stb e a ring d e positsa nd the a c tua lcurre ntb a la nce forinte re st-

b e a ring d e posits.De positorie susing the Pooling M e thod re porttothe Sta te Tre a sure rthe a d e qua c yofthe irpoole d c olla te ra lc ove ring uninsure d d e posits.

The Sta te Tre a sure r d oe s notc onfirm this inform a tion w ith the Tow n or the e sc row a g e nt. Be c a use ofthe ina b ility to m e a sure the e xa c ta m ounts of

c olla te ra lple d g e d forthe Tow n und e rthe Pooling M e thod ,the pote ntia le xistsforund e r-c olla te ra liza tion.Thisrisk m a y inc re a se in pe riod sofhig h c a sh

flows.H owe ve r,the Sta te Tre a sure rofNorth Ca rolina e nforc e sstrictsta nd a rd soffina nc ia lsta b ilityfore a c h d e positorytha tc olla te ra lize spub lic d e posits

und e r the Pooling M e thod . The Tow n ha s no form a l polic y re g a rd ing c ustod ia l c re d itrisk for d e posits,b utre lie s on the Sta te Tre a sure r to e nforc e

sta nd a rd s ofm inim um c a pita liza tion for a ll pooling m e thod fina nc ia l institutions a nd to m onitor the m for c om plia nc e . The Tow n c om plie s w ith the

provisionsofG.S.159-31 w he nd e sig na ting officia ld e positorie sa nd ve rifying tha td e positsa re prope rlyse c ure d .

AtJune 30,2023,the Tow n's d e posits ha d a c a rrying a m ountof$3,633,942 a nd a b a nk b a la nc e of$3,684,592. All ofw hic h w a s c ove re d b y fe d e ra l

d e positoryinsura nc e a nd the re m a ind e rw a sc ove re d b y c olla te ra lhe ld und e rthe pooling m e thod . AtJune 30,2023,the Tow n'spe ttyc a sh fund tota le d

$1,100.

AtJune 30,2023,the Tow n ha d $3,464,200 inve ste d w ith the North Ca rolina Ca pita lm a na g e m e ntTrust's Gove rnm e ntPortfolio,w hic h c a rrie d a c re d it

ra ting ofAAAm b ySta nd a rd a nd Poor's.The Tow nha snopolic yre g a rd ing c re d itrisk.

Forpurpose sofm e a suring the ne tpe nsion lia b ility,d e fe rre d outflow sofre sourc e sa nd d e fe rre d inflow s ofre sourc e sre la te d to pe nsions,a nd pe nsion

e xpe nse ,inform a tion a b outthe fid uc ia ry ne tposition ofthe Loc a lGove rnm e nta lEm ploye e s�Re tire m e ntSyste m (LGERS) a nd a d d itions to/d e d uc tions

from LGERS�fid uc ia ryne tposition ha ve b e e n d e te rm ine d on the sa m e b a sisa sthe ya re re porte d b yLGERS.Forthispurpose ,pla n m e m b e rc ontrib utions

a re re c og nize d in the pe riod in w hic h the c ontrib utionsa re d ue .The Tow n�se m ploye rc ontrib utionsa re re c og nize d whe n d ue a nd the Tow n ha sa le g a l

re quire m e nt to provid e the c ontrib utions. Be ne fits a nd re fund s a re re c og nize d w he n d ue a nd pa ya b le in a c c ord a nc e w ith the te rm s of LGERS.

Inve stm e ntsa re re porte d a tfa irva lue .

The Tow n ha sa d opte d a form a lfund b a la nc e polic y.Effe c tive M a y 20,2021,the Fina nc ia la nd Bud g e ta ry Polic yw a sa m e nd e d to sta te the Tow n�sta rg e t

g oa lforthe Ge ne ra lFund una ssig ne d fund b a la nc e sha llb e no le ss tha n 50% ofthe a c tua le xpe nd iture softhe the n c om ple te d fisc a lye a rw ith a tota l

a m ount of $2,000,000.The se fund s w ill b e utilize d to a void c a sh flow inte rruptions, g e ne ra te inte re st inc om e , e lim ina te the ne e d for short-te rm

b orrow ing ,a nd m a inta in the Tow n's c re d itra ting s.The fund b a la nc e m a y b e purpose fully d ra w n d ow n b e low the ta rg e tpe rc e nta g e for e m e rg e nc ie s,

e c onom ic influe nc e s,non-re c urring e xpe nd iture s,orm a jorc a pita lproje c ts.Ifthe fund b a la nce fa llsb e low the ta rg e tpe rc e nta g e fortw oc onse c utive ye a rs,

the Tow n w illre ple nish fund sb y d ire c ta ppropria tion in the ne xtb ud g e td e ve lope d forthe fisc a lye a ra fte rthe oc c urre nc e isknow n.In tha tinsta nc e ,the

Tow n w illa nnua lly a ppropria te 25% ofthe d iffe re nce b e tw e e n the ta rg e tpe rc e nta g e le ve la nd the a c tua lb a la nc e untilthe ta rg e tle ve lism e t.In the e ve nt

a ppropria ting 25% isnotfe a sib le ,the Tow n w illa ppropria te a le sse ra m ounta nd sha llre a ffirm b y Counc ilre solution itsc om m itm e ntto fully re ple nish

the fund b a la nc e ove ra long e rpe riod oftim e .
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3.Re c e iva b le s

Re c e iva b le a tthe g ove rnm e nt-w id e le ve la tJune 30,2023,w e re a sfollow s:

Ac c ounts Ta xe s Tota l
Gove rnm e nta lAc tivitie s:

Ge ne ra l -$ 10,261$ 10,261$
W ild w ood stora g e re c e iva b le s 7,078 - 7,078
Othe rre c e iva b le s 2,463 - 2,463
Due from othe rg ove rnm e nts 171,671 - 171,671
Allow a nce ford oub tfula c c ounts (7,202) (5,447) (12,649)

Tota lg ove rnm e nta la c tivitie s 174,010$ 4,814$ 178,824$

W a te r Se w e r Tota l
Busine ss-type Ac tivitie s

Ac c ounts 81,454$ 61,127$ 142,581$
Unb ille d re c e iva b le s 90,562 109,951 200,513

Allow a nce ford oub tfula c c ounta nts (56,478) (59,605) (116,083)
Tota lb usine ss-type a c tivitie s 115,538$ 111,473$ 227,011$

4.Ca pita lAsse ts

Prim aryGovernm ent
Ca pita la sse ta c tivityforthe Prim a ryGove rnm e ntforthe ye a re nd e d June 30,2023,w a sa sfollow s:

Be g inning End ing
Ba la nc e s Inc re a se s De c re a se s Ba la nce s

Governm entalactivities:
Capitalassetsnotb eingdepreciated:

La nd 989,320$ -$ -$ 989,320$
Construc tioninprog re ss 16,198 809,736 - 825,934

Tota lc a pita la sse tsnotb e ing d e pre c ia te d 1,005,518 809,736 - 1,815,254
Capitalassetsb eingdepreciated:

Build ing s& im prove m e nt 2,803,346 46,066 - 2,849,412
Equipm e nta nd Ve hic le s 534,899 52,867 - 587,766
Infra struc ture 2,552,983 401,120 - 2,954,103

Tota lc a pita la sse tsb e ing d e pre c ia te d 5,891,228 500,053 - 6,391,281

Lessaccum ulated depreciation for:
Build ing s& im prove m e nt 1,209,647 73,164 - 1,282,811
Equipm e nta nd Ve hic le s 393,842 44,919 - 438,761
Infra struc ture 952,226 129,227 - 1,081,453

Tota la c c um ula te d d e pre c ia tion 2,555,715 247,310$ -$ 2,803,025

Tota lc a pita la sse tsb e ing d e pre c ia te d ,ne t 3,335,513 3,588,256
Governm entalactivitycapitalassets,net 4,341,031$ 5,403,510$

Ge ne ra lGove rnm e nt 128,002$
Pub lic Sa fe ty 39,803
Tra nsporta tion 18,416
Environm e nta lProte c tion 18,131
Cultura l& Re c re a tion 42,958
Tota lDe pre c ia tionExpe nse 247,310$

De pre c ia tione xpe nse w a sc ha rg e d tofunctions/prog ra m softhe prim a ryg ove rnm e nta sfollow s:
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Business TypeActivities:
Be g inning End ing
Ba la nc e s Inc re a se s De c re a se s Ba la nce s

W aterFund
Capitalassetsnotb eingdepreciated:

La nd 118,171$ -$ -$ 118,171$
Construc tioninprog re ss - 723,647 - 723,647

Tota lc a pita la sse tsnotb e ing d e pre c ia te d 118,171 723,647 - 841,818
Capitalassetsb eingdepreciated:

Pla nta nd Distrib ution Syste m s 3,169,790 - - 3,169,790
Build ing sa nd Im prove m e nts 4,480 - - 4,480
Furniture a nd Equipm e nt 228,985 3,356 - 232,341

Tota lc a pita la sse tsb e ing d e pre c ia te d 3,403,255 3,356 - 3,406,611

Lessaccum ulated depreciation for:
Pla nta nd Distrib ution Syste m s 2,747,058 68,362 - 2,815,420
Build ing sa nd Im prove m e nts 1,344 112 - 1,456
Furniture a nd Equipm e nt 153,044 11,505 - 164,549

Tota la c c um ula te d d e pre c ia tion 2,901,446 79,979$ -$ 2,981,425

Tota lc a pita la sse tsb e ing d e pre c ia te d ,ne t 501,809 425,186
W aterFund typecapitalassets,net 619,980$ 1,267,004$

Be g inning End ing
Ba la nc e s Inc re a se s De c re a se s Ba la nce s

Sew erFund
Capitalassetsnotb eingdepreciated:

La nd 65,186$ -$ -$ 65,186$
Construc tioninprog re ss 220,070 51,237 - 271,307

Tota lc a pita la sse tsnotb e ing d e pre c ia te d 285,256 51,237 - 336,493
Capitalassetsb eingdepreciated:

Pla nta nd Distrib ution Syste m s 2,648,658 - - 2,648,658
Build ing sa nd Im prove m e nts 4,480 - - 4,480
Furniture a nd Equipm e nt 235,615 23,299 - 258,914

Tota lc a pita la sse tsb e ing d e pre c ia te d 2,888,753 23,299 - 2,912,052

Lessaccum ulated depreciation for:
Pla nta nd Distrib ution Syste m s 2,216,643 42,650 - 2,259,293
Build ing sa nd Im prove m e nts 1,344 112 - 1,456
Furniture a nd Equipm e nt 142,491 15,029 - 157,520

Tota la c c um ula te d d e pre c ia tion 2,360,478 57,791$ -$ 2,418,269

Tota lc a pita la sse tsb e ing d e pre c ia te d ,ne t 528,275 493,783
Sew erFund typecapitalassets,net 813,531$ 830,276$

BusinessFund typecapitalassets,net 1,433,511$ 2,097,280$

B.Lia b ilitie s

1.Pe nsionPla na nd Poste m ploym e ntOb lig a tions

a .Loc a lGove rnm e nta lEm ploye e s'Re tire m e ntSyste m

Be ne fits Provid e d . LGERS provid e s re tire m e nt a nd survivor b e ne fits. Re tire m e nt b e ne fits a re d e te rm ine d a s 1.85% of the m e m b e r�s a ve ra g e fina l

c om pe nsa tion tim e sthe m e m b e r�s ye a rsofc re d ita b le se rvic e .A m e m b e r�s a ve ra g e fina lc om pe nsa tion is c a lc ula te d a s the a ve ra g e ofa m e m b e r�s four

hig he stc onse c utive ye a rsofc om pe nsa tion.Pla n m e m b e rsa re e lig ib le tore tire w ith fullre tire m e ntb e ne fitsa ta g e 65 w ith five ye a rsofc re d ita b le se rvic e ,

a ta g e 60 w ith 25 ye a rsofc re d ita b le se rvic e ,ora ta nya g e w ith 30 ye a rsofc re d ita b le se rvic e .Pla n m e m b e rsa re e lig ib le to re tire w ith pa rtia lre tire m e nt

b e ne fits a ta g e 50 w ith 20 ye a rs ofc re d ita b le se rvic e or a ta g e 60 w ith five ye a rs ofc re d ita b le se rvic e (a g e 55 for fire fig hte rs). Survivor b e ne fits a re

a va ila b le toe lig ib le b e ne ficia rie sofm e m b e rsw hod ie w hile in a c tive se rvice orw ithin 180 d a ysofthe irla std a yofse rvic e a nd w hoha ve e ithe rc om ple te d

20 ye a rsofc re d ita b le se rvic e re g a rd le ssofa g e orha ve c om ple te d five ye a rsofse rvice a nd ha ve re a c he d a g e 60.Elig ib le b e ne fic ia rie sm a ye le c ttore c e ive

a m onthlySurvivor�sAlte rna te Be ne fitforlife ora re turn ofthe m e m b e r�sc ontrib utions.The pla nd oe snotprovid e fora utom a tic post-re tire m e ntb e ne fit

inc re a se s.Inc re a se sa re c onting e ntupona c tua ria lg a insofthe pla n.

Pla n De sc ription. The Tow n is a pa rtic ipa ting e m ploye r in the sta te w id e Loc a lGove rnm e nta l Em ploye e s�Re tire m e ntSyste m (LGERS),a c ost-sha ring

m ultiple -e m ploye rd e fine d b e ne fitpe nsion pla n a d m iniste re d b y the Sta te ofNorth Ca rolina .LGERS m e m b e rship isc om prise d ofg e ne ra le m ploye e sa nd

loca lla w e nforc e m e ntoffic e rs (LEOs) ofpa rtic ipa ting loc a lg ove rnm e nta le ntitie s.Artic le 3 ofG.S.Cha pte r128 a ssig ns the a uthority to e sta b lish a nd

a m e nd b e ne fitprovisionstothe North Ca rolina Ge ne ra lAsse m b ly.M a na g e m e ntofthe pla nisve ste d in the LGERS Boa rd ofTruste e s,w hic h c onsistsof13

m e m b e rs � nine a ppointe d b y the Gove rnor,one a ppointe d b y the Sta te Se na te ,one a ppointe d b y the Sta te H ouse ofRe pre se nta tive s,a nd the Sta te

Tre a sure ra nd Sta te Supe rinte nd e nt,w ho se rve a se x-offic io m e m b e rs.The Loc a lGove rnm e nta lEm ploye e s�Re tire m e ntSyste m isinc lud e d in the Annua l

Com pre he nsive Fina nc ia lRe portforthe Sta te ofNorth Ca rolina .The Sta te �sAnnua lCom pre he nsive Fina nc ia lRe portinc lud e sfina nc ia lsta te m e ntsa nd

re quire d supple m e nta ry inform a tion forLGERS.Tha tre portm a y b e ob ta ine d b y w riting to the Offic e ofthe Sta te Controlle r,1410 M a ilSe rvic e Ce nte r,

Ra le ig h,North Ca rolina 27699-1410,b yc a lling (919) 981-5454,ora tw w w .osc.nc .g ov.
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De fe rre d Outflow sDe fe rre d Inflow s
ofRe sourc e s ofRe source s

Diffe re nce sb e tw e e ne xpe c te d a nd a c tua le xpe rie nc e 35,223$ 3,453$
Cha ng e ofa ssum ptions 81,562 -
Ne td iffe re nce b e tw e e nproje c te d a nd a c tua le a rning son

pe nsion pla ninve stm e nts 270,173 -
Cha ng e inproportiona nd d iffe re nc e sb e tw e e nTow n

c ontrib utionsa nd proportiona te sha re ofcontrib utions 5,818 17,953
Tow nc ontrib utionssub se que nttothe m e a sure m e ntd a te 126,042 -

Tota l 518,818$ 21,406$

YearEnded

June30
2024 $ 120,549
2025 97,320
2026 24,786
2027 128,715
2028 -

The re a fte r -
$ 371,370

Infla tion 2.5 pe rc e nt
Sa la ryInc re a se s

Forthe ye a re nd e d June 30,2023,the Tow nre c og nize d pe nsione xpe nse of$227,880.AtJune 30,2023,the Tow nre porte d d e fe rre d outflow sofre sourc e s

a nd d e fe rre d inflow sofre sourc e sre la te d tope nsionsfrom the follow ing sourc e s:

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

AtJune 30,2023,the Tow n re porte d a lia b ilityof$817,443 foritsproportiona te sha re ofthe ne tpe nsion lia b ility.The ne tpe nsion lia b ilityw a sm e a sure d

a sofJune 30,2022.The tota lpe nsion lia b ility use d to c a lc ula te the ne tpe nsion lia b ility w a sd e te rm ine d b y a n a c tua ria lva lua tion a sofDe c e m b e r31,

2021.The tota lpe nsionlia b ilityw a sthe nrolle d forw a rd tothe m e a sure m e ntd a te ofJune 30,2022 utilizing upd a te proc e d ure sinc orpora ting the a c tua ria l

a ssum ptions.The Tow n�sproportion ofthe ne tpe nsion lia b ilityw a sb a se d on a proje c tion ofthe Tow n�slong -te rm sha re offuture pa yrollc ove re d b ythe

pe nsion pla n,re la tive tothe proje c te d future pa yrollcove re d b ythe pe nsionpla n ofa llpa rticipa ting LGERS e m ploye rs,a c tua ria llyd e te rm ine d .AtJune 30,

2022 (m e a sure m e nt d a te ), the  Tow n�s proportion w a s 0.01449% , w hic h w a s a  d e c re a se  of 0.00014%  from  its proportion m e a sure d  a s of June  30, 2021 

$518,818 re porte d a sd e fe rre d outflow sofre sourc e sre la te d to pe nsionsre sulting from Tow n c ontrib utionssub se que ntto the m e a sure m e ntd a te w illb e

re c og nize d a sa d e c re a se ofthe ne tpe nsion lia b ilityin the ye a re nd e d June 30,2023.Othe ra m ountsre porte d a sd e fe rre d inflow sofre sourc e sre la te d to

pe nsionsw illb e re c og nize d inpe nsione xpe nse a sfollow s:

Ac tua ria lAssum ptions. The tota lpe nsionlia b ilityinthe De c e m b e r31,2021a c tua ria lva lua tionw a sd e te rm ine d using the follow ing a c tua ria la ssum ptions,

a pplie d toa llpe riod sinc lud e d inthe m e a sure m e nt:

3.25 to8.25 pe rc e nt,inc lud ing infla tiona nd prod uc tivityfa c tor

Inve stm e ntra te ofre turn

The pla n c urre ntly use sm orta lity ta b le stha tva ry b y a g e ,g e nd e r,e m ploye e g roup (i.e .g e ne ra l,la w e nforce m e ntoffic e r) a nd he a lth sta tus(i.e .d isa b le d

a nd he a lthy).The c urre ntm orta lity ra te sa re b a se d on pub lishe d ta b le sa nd b a se d on stud ie stha tc ove rsig nific a ntportionsofthe U.S.popula tion.The

he a lthym orta lityra te sa lsoc onta ina provisiontore fle c tfuture m orta lityim prove m e nts.

6.50 pe rce nt,ne tofpe nsionpla ninve stm e nte xpe nse ,inc lud ing infla tion

Re fund sofContrib utions �Tow n e m ploye e sw ho ha ve te rm ina te d se rvic e a sa c ontrib uting m e m b e rofLGERS,m a yfile a n a pplic a tion fora re fund ofthe ir

c ontrib utions.By sta te la w ,re fund sto m e m b e rsw ith a tle a stfive ye a rsofse rvice inc lud e 4% inte re st.Sta te la w re quire sa 60 d a y w a iting pe riod a fte r

se rvic e te rm ina tion b e fore the re fund m a y b e pa id .The a c c e pta nc e ofa re fund pa ym e ntc a nc e lsthe ind ivid ua l�srig htto e m ploye rc ontrib utions,ora ny

othe rb e ne fitprovid e d b yLGERS.

LGERS pla nm e m b e rsw hoa re LEOsa re e lig ib le tore tire w ith fullre tire m e ntb e ne fitsa ta g e 55 w ith five ye a rsofcre d ita b le se rvic e a sa n offic e r,ora ta ny

a g e w ith 30 ye a rs ofc re d ita b le se rvic e .LEO pla n m e m b e rs a re e lig ib le to re tire w ith pa rtia lre tire m e ntb e ne fits a ta g e 50 w ith 15 ye a rsofc re d ita b le

se rvic e a sa n offic e r.Survivorb e ne fitsa re a va ila b le to e lig ib le b e ne fic ia rie sofLEO m e m b e rsw ho d ie w hile in a c tive se rvic e orw ithin 180 d a ysofthe ir

la std a yofse rvice a nd w hoa lsoha ve e ithe rc om ple te d 20 ye a rsofc re d ita b le se rvic e re g a rd le ssofa g e ,orha ve c om ple te d 15 ye a rsofse rvic e a sa LEO a nd

ha ve re a c he d a g e 50,orha ve c om ple te d five ye a rsofc re d ita b le se rvic e a sa LEO a nd ha ve re a c he d a g e 55,orha ve c om ple te d 15 ye a rsofcre d ita b le se rvic e

a sa LEO ifkille d in the line ofd uty.Elig ib le b e ne fic ia rie sm a y e le c tto re c e ive a m onthly Survivor�sAlte rna te Be ne fitforlife ora re turn ofthe m e m b e r�s

c ontrib utions.

Contrib utions. Contrib ution provisionsa re e sta b lishe d b yGe ne ra lSta tute 128-30 a nd m a yb e a m e nd e d onlyb ythe North Ca rolina Ge ne ra lAsse m b ly.The

Tow n e m ploye e sa re re quire d toc ontrib ute 6% ofthe irc om pe nsa tion.Em ploye rc ontrib utionsa re a c tua ria llyd e te rm ine d a nd se ta nnua llyb ythe LGERS

Boa rd of Truste e s. The Tow n�s c ontra c tua lly re quire d c ontrib ution ra te for the ye a r e nd e d June 30, 2023,w a s 13.04% of c om pe nsa tion for la w

e nforc e m e ntoffic e rs a nd 12.10% for g e ne ra l e m ploye e s,a c tua ria lly d e te rm ine d a s a n a m ounttha t,w he n c om b ine d w ith e m ploye e c ontrib utions,is

e xpe c te d to fina nc e the c ostsofb e ne fitse a rne d b y e m ploye e sd uring the ye a r.Contrib utionsto the pe nsion pla n from the Tow n w e re $126,042 forthe

ye a re nd e d June 30,2023.
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Asse tCla ss Ta rg e tAlloc a tion

Long -Te rm

Expe c te d Re a l

Ra te ofRe turn

Fixe d Inc om e 33% 0.9%
Glob a lEquity 38% 6.5%
Re a lEsta te 8% 5.9%
Alte rna tive s 8% 8.2%
Cre d it 7% 5.0%
Infla tionProte c tion 6% 2.7%

Tota l 100%

1% Decrease DiscountRate 1% Increase
(5.50% ) (6.50% ) (7.50% )

Tow n'sproportiona te sha re ofne t 1,475,379$ 817,443$ 275,265$
pe nsionlia b ility(a sse t)

b .La w Enforc e m e ntOffic e rsSpe c ia lSe pa ra tionAllow a nce

Re tire e sre c e iving b e ne fits -
Te rm ina te d pla nm e m b e rse ntitle d

tob utnotye tre c e iving b e ne fits -
Ac tive pla nm e m b e rs 6
Tota l 6

The proje c te d long -te rm inve stm e ntre turnsa nd infla tion a ssum ptionsa re d e ve lope d throug h re vie w ofc urre nta nd historic a lc a pita lm a rke tsd a ta ,se ll-

sid e inve stm e ntre se a rc h,c onsulta ntw hite pa pe rs,a nd historica lpe rform a nc e ofinve stm e ntstra te g ie s.Fixe d incom e re turn proje c tionsre fle c tcurre nt

yie ld sa c rossthe U.S.Tre a suryyie ld c urve a nd m a rke te xpe c ta tionsofforw a rd yie ld sproje c te d a nd inte rpola te d form ultiple te norsa nd ove rm ultiple ye a r

horizons. Glob a lpub lic e quity re turn proje c tionsa re e sta b lishe d throug h a na lysisofthe e quity risk pre m ium a nd the fixe d incom e re turn proje c tions.

Othe ra sse tc a te g orie sa nd stra te g ie s�re turn proje c tionsre fle c tthe fore g oing a nd historic a ld a ta a na lysis.The se proje c tionsa re c om b ine d toprod uc e the

long -te rm e xpe c te d ra te ofre turn b y w e ig hting the e xpe c te d future re a lra te sofre turn b y the ta rg e ta sse ta lloca tion pe rc e nta g e a nd b y a d d ing e xpe c te d

infla tion.The ta rg e ta lloc a tion a nd b e ste stim a te sofa rithm e tic re a lra te sofre turn fore a c h m a jora sse tcla ssa sofJune 30,2022 a re sum m a rize d in the

follow ing ta b le :

The a c tua ria la ssum ptionsuse d in the De c e m b e r31,2021 va lua tion w e re b a se d on the re sultsofa n a c tua ria le xpe rie nce stud y forthe pe riod Ja nua ry 1,

2015 throug h De c e m b e r31,2019.

Future a d hoc COLA a m ountsa re notc onsid e re d tob e sub sta ntive lya utom a tic a nd a re the re fore notinc lud e d inthe m e a sure m e nt.

Discountra te . The d isc ountra te use d to m e a sure the tota lpe nsion lia b ilityw a s6.50% .The proje c tion ofc a sh flow suse d to d e te rm ine the d isc ountra te

a ssum e d tha tc ontrib utions from pla n m e m b e rs w illb e m a d e a tthe c urre ntc ontrib ution ra te a nd tha tc ontrib utions from e m ploye rs w illb e m a d e a t

sta tutorily re quire d ra te s,a c tua ria llyd e te rm ine d .Ba se d on the se a ssum ptions,the pe nsion pla n�sfid uc ia ry ne tposition w a sproje c te d to b e a va ila b le to

m a ke a llproje c te d future b e ne fitpa ym e ntsofthe c urre ntpla n m e m b e rs.The re fore ,the long -te rm e xpe c te d ra te ofre turn on pe nsion pla n inve stm e nts

w a sa pplie d toa llpe riod sofproje c te d b e ne fitpa ym e ntstod e te rm ine the tota lpe nsionlia b ility.

Sensitivityofthe Town�sproportiona te sha re ofthe netpensiona ssettocha ng esinthe d iscountra te .The follow ing pre se ntsthe Tow n�sproportiona te sha re

ofthe ne tpe nsion a sse tc a lc ula te d using the d isc ountra te of6.50 pe rc e nt,a sw e lla sw ha tthe Tow n�sproportiona te sha re ofthe ne tpe nsion a sse torne t

pe nsion lia b ilityw ould b e ifitw e re c a lc ula te d using a d isc ountra te tha tisone pe rc e nta g e pointlow e r(5.50 pe rc e nt) orone pe rc e nta g e pointhig he r(7.50

pe rc e nt) tha n the c urre ntra te :

The inform a tion a b ove isb a se d on 30 ye a re xpe c ta tionsd e ve lope d w ith the c onsulting a c tua ryforthe 2021a sse t,lia b ility,a nd inve stm e ntpolic ystud yfor

the North Ca rolina Re tire m e ntSyste m s,inc lud ing LGERS. The long -te rm nom ina l ra te s ofre turn und e rlying the re a l ra te s ofre turn a re a rithm e tic

a nnua lize d fig ure s.The re a lra te sofre turn a re c a lc ula te d from nom ina lra te sb y m ultiplic a tive lysub tra c ting a long -te rm infla tion a ssum ption of3.00% .

Allra te sofre turna nd infla tiona re a nnua lize d .

Pe nsion pla n fid ucia ry ne tposition. De ta ile d inform a tion a b outthe pe nsion pla n�s fid uc ia ry ne tposition is a va ila b le in the se pa ra te ly issue d Annua l

Com pre he nsive Fina nc ia lRe portforthe Sta te ofNorth Ca rolina .

The Tow nofRive rBe nd a d m iniste rsa pub lic e m ploye e re tire m e ntsyste m (the Se pa ra tionAllow a nc e ),a sing le -e m ploye rd e fine d b e ne fitpe nsionpla ntha t

provid e s re tire m e ntb e ne fits to the Tow n�s qua lifie d sw orn la w e nforc e m e nt offic e rs und e r the a g e of62 w ho ha ve c om ple te d a tle a st30 ye a rs of

c re d ita b le se rvic e orha ve a tta ine d 55 ye a rsofa g e a nd ha ve c om ple te d five orm ore ye a rsofc re d ita b le se rvic e .The Se pa ra tion Allow a nc e ise qua lto0.85

pe rc e ntofthe a nnua le quiva le ntofthe b a se ra te ofc om pe nsa tion m ostre c e ntlya pplic a b le tothe offic e rfore a c h ye a rofcre d ita b le se rvic e .The re tire m e nt

b e ne fitsa re notsub je c tto a ny inc re a se sin sa la ry orre tire m e nta llow a nc e stha tm a y b e a uthorize d b y the Ge ne ra lAsse m b ly.Article 12D ofG.S.Cha pte r

143 a ssig nsthe a uthoritytoe sta b lish a nd a m e nd b e ne fitprovisionstothe North Ca rolina Ge ne ra lAsse m b ly.The Tow n ha sm a d e noc ontrib utionstothis

pla n.

Allfull-tim e Tow n la w e nforce m e ntoffic e rs a re c ove re d b y the Se pa ra tion Allow a nce . AtDe c e m b e r31,2021,the Se pa ra tion Allow a nc e 's m e m b e rship

c onsiste d of:

1.Pla nDe sc ription
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Infla tion 2.5 pe rce nt

Disc ountra te 4.31 pe rc e nt

Deferred

Outflow sof

Resources

Deferred

Inflow sof

Resources

$ 39,082 $ 33,804
39,614 49,383

- -

Tota l $ 78,696 $ 83,187

YearEnded

June30
2024 $ 16,959
2025 6,784
2026 -
2027 (4,807)
2028 (12,010)

The re a fte r (11,417)
(4,491)$

1 % Decrease

(3.31% )

Current

DiscountRate

(4.31% )

1% Increase

(5.31% )
$ 190,386 $ 167,413 $ 146,905

Diffe re nce sb e tw e e ne xpe c te d a nd a c tua le xpe rie nc e

3.Ac tua ria lAssum ptions

The d isc ountra te isb a se d onthe yie ld ofthe S&P M unic ipa lBond 20 Ye a rH ig h Gra d e Ra te Ind e xa sofDe c e m b e r31,2021.

M orta lityra te sa re b a se d onthe RP-2000 M orta lityta b le sw ith a d justm e ntsform orta lityim prove m e ntsb a se d onSc a le AA.

The e ntrya g e a c tua ria lc ostm e thod w a suse d in the De c e m b e r31,2021 va lua tion.The tota lpe nsion lia b ilityin the De c e m b e r31,2022 a c tua ria lva lua tion

w a sd e te rm ine d using the follow ing a c tua ria la ssum ptions,a pplie d toa llpe riod sinc lud e d in the m e a sure m e nt:

The Tow n isre quire d b yArticle 12D ofG.S.Cha pte r143 toprovid e the se re tire m e ntb e ne fitsa nd ha sc hose n tofund the b e ne fitpa ym e ntson a pa ya syou

g o b a sisthroug h a ppropria tionsm a d e in the Ge ne ra lFund ope ra ting b ud g e t.The re w e re no c ontrib utionsm a d e b y e m ploye e .The Tow n'sob lig a tion to

c ontrib ute tothispla nise sta b lishe d a nd m a yb e a m e nd e d b ythe North Ca rolina Ge ne ra lAsse m b ly.Ad m inistra tion c ostsofthe Se pa ra tion Allow a nc e a re

fina nc e d throug h inve stm e nte a rning s.The Tow npa id $50,808 a sb e ne fitsc a m e d ue forthe re porting pe riod .

Sensitivityofthe Town�stota lpensionlia b ilitytocha ng esinthe d iscountra te. The follow ing pre se ntsthe Tow n�stota lpe nsion lia b ilityc a lc ula te d using the

d isc ountra te of 4.31 pe rc e nt,a sw e lla sw ha tthe Tow n�stota lpe nsion lia b ility w ould b e ifitw e re c a lc ula te d using a d isc ountra te tha tis1-pe rc e nta g e -

pointlow e r(3.31 pe rc e nt) or1-pe rc e nta g e -pointhig he r(5.31 pe rc e nt) tha nthe c urre ntra te :

Tow n'spe nsionlia b ility(a sse t)

Cha ng e sofa ssum ptions

Tow n b e ne fit pa ym e nts a nd pla n a d m inistra tive e xpe nse s

sub se que nttothe m e a sure m e ntd a te

$0.00 pa id a sb e ne fitsc a m e d ue sub se que nttothe m e a sure m e ntd a te a re re porte d a sd e fe rre d outflow sofre sourc e s.Othe ra m ountsre porte d a sd e fe rre d

outflow sa nd d e fe rre d inflow sofre sourc e sre la te d tope nsionsw illb e re c og nize d inpe nsione xpe nse a sfollow s:

2.Sum m a ryofSig nific a ntAc c ounting Polic ie s

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

AtJune 30,2023,the Tow n re porte d a tota lpe nsion lia b ility of$167,413.The tota lpe nsion lia b ility w a sm e a sure d a sofDe c e m b e r31,2022 b a se d on a

De c e m b e r31,2021a c tua ria lva lua tion.The tota lpe nsion lia b ilityw a sthe n rolle d forw a rd tothe m e a sure m e ntd a te ofDe c e m b e r31,2022 utilizing upd a te

proce d ure sinc orpora ting the a c tua ria la ssum ptions.Forthe ye a re nd e d June 30,2023,the Tow nre c og nize d pe nsione xpe nse of$35,706.

The Se pa ra tionAllow a nc e ha snoa sse tsa c c um ula te d ina trusttha tm e e tsthe follow ing c rite ria w hic h a re outline d inGASB Sta te m e nt73.

4.Contrib utions

3.25 to7.75 pe rc e nt,includ ing infla tiona nd prod uc tivityfa c tor

Ba sisofAc c ounting � The Tow n ha sc hose n to fund the Se pa ra tion Allow a nc e on a pa ya syou g o b a sis.Pe nsion e xpe nd iture sa re m a d e from the Ge ne ra l

Fund ,w hic h ism a inta ine d on the m od ifie d a c c rua lb a sisofa c c ounting .Be ne fitsa nd re fund sa re re c og nize d w he nd ue a nd pa ya b le in a c c ord a nce w ith the

te rm softhe pla n.

Sa la ryinc re a se s
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2023

Be g inning b a la nc e 185,532$

Se rvic e Cost 14,573

Inte re stonthe tota lpe nsionlia b ility 4,174

Cha ng e sofb e ne fitte rm s -

13,337

Cha ng e sofa ssum ptionsorothe rinputs (50,203)

Be ne fitpa ym e nts -

Othe rc ha ng e s -

End ing b a la nc e ofthe tota lpe nsionlia b ility 167,413$

LGERS LEOSSA Total

$ 227,880 $ 35,706 $ 263,586

817,443 167,413 984,856

0.01449% N/A

35,223 39,082 74,305

81,562 39,614 121,176

270,173 - 270,173

5,818 - 5,818

126,042 - 126,042

Tota ls 518,818 78,696 597,514

3,453 33,803 37,256

- 49,383 49,383

- - -

17,953 - 17,953

c .Supple m e nta lRe tire m e ntInc om e Pla nforLa w Enforc e m e ntOffic e rs

The Tow nm a d e c ontrib utionsof$16,417forthe re porting ye a r.Noa m ountsw e re forfe ite d .

d .Supple m e nta lRe tire m e ntInc om e Pla nforNon-la w Enforc e m e ntEm ploye e s

Pla n De sc ription.The Tow n c ontrib ute s to the Supple m e nta lRe tire m e ntInc om e Pla n (Pla n),a d e fine d c ontrib ution pe nsion pla n a d m iniste re d b y the

De pa rtm e ntofSta te Tre a sure ra nd a Boa rd ofTruste e s.The Pla n provid e sre tire m e ntb e ne fitstola w e nforc e m e ntoffic e rse m ploye d b ythe Tow n.Artic le

5 of G.S.Cha pte r 135 a ssig ns the a uthority to e sta b lish a nd a m e nd b e ne fit provisions to the North Ca rolina Ge ne ra l Asse m b ly.The Supple m e nta l

Re tire m e ntInc om e Pla n for La w Enforc e m e ntOffic e rs is inc lud e d in the Annua lCom pre he nsive Fina nc ia lRe portfor the Sta te ofN orth Ca rolina .The

Sta te 'sAnnua lCom pre he nsive Fina ncia lRe portinc lud e sthe pe nsion trustfund fina nc ia lsta te m e ntsforthe Inte rna lRe ve nue Cod e Se c tion 401(k) pla n

tha tinc lud e sthe Supple m e nta lRe tire m e ntInc om e Pla n forLa w Enforc e m e ntOffic e rs.The re portm a y b e ob ta ine d b y w riting to the Offic e ofthe Sta te

Controlle r,1410 M a ilSe rvic e Ce nte r,Ra le ig h,North Ca rolina 27699-1410,orb yc a lling (919) 981-5454.

Fund ing Polic y.Artic le 12EofG.S.Cha pte r143 re quire sthe Tow n to c ontrib ute e a c h m onth a n a m ounte qua lto five pe rc e nt(5% ) ofe a c h offic e r'ssa la ry,

a nd a lla m ountsc ontrib ute d a re ve ste d im m e d ia te ly.The la w e nforc e m e ntoffic e rsm a ya lsom a ke volunta ryc ontrib utionstothe pla n.

Pla n De sc ription.The Tow n c ontrib ute s to the Supple m e nta l Re tire m e nt Inc om e Pla n, a d e fine d c ontrib ution pe nsion pla n a d m iniste re d b y the

De pa rtm e ntofSta te Tre a sure r a nd a Boa rd ofTruste e s.The Pla n provid e s re tire m e ntb e ne fits to a ll full-tim e e m ploye e s ofthe Tow n.Authority to

e sta b lish a nd a m e nd b e ne fitprovisionsisa ssig ne d tothe Tow n Counc il.

proportiona te sha re ofc ontrib utions

inve stm e nts

Cha ng e sinproportiona nd d iffe re nc e sb e tw e e nc ontrib utionsa nd

inve stm e nts

proportiona te sha re ofc ontrib utions

Cha ng e sinproportiona nd d iffe re nc e sb e tw e e nc ontrib utionsa nd

Be ne fitpa ym e ntsa nd a d m inistra tive c ostspa id sub se que ntto

the m e a sure m e nt

Diffe re nce sb e tw e e n e xpe c te d a nd a c tua le xpe rie nc e

Cha ng e sofa ssum ptions

Ne td iffe re nc e b e tw e e nproje c te d a nd a c tua le a rning sonpla n

The a c tua ria la ssum ptionsuse d in the De c e m b e r31,2019 va lua tion w e re b a se d on the re sultsofa n a c tua ria le xpe rie nce stud y forthe pe riod Ja nua ry 1,

2015 throug h De c e m b e r31,2019.

The pla n c urre ntlyuse sm orta lity ta b le stha tva ryb ya g e ,a nd he a lth sta tus(i.e .d isa b le d a nd he a lthy).The c urre ntm orta lityra te sa re b a se d on pub lishe d

ta b le sa nd b a se d on stud ie stha tc ove rsig nific a ntportionsofthe U.S.popula tion.The he a lthy m orta lity ra te sa lso c onta in a provision to re fle c tfuture

m orta lityim prove m e nts.

De fe rre d ofInflow sofRe sourc e s

Pe nsionLia b ility

Proportiona te sha re ofthe ne tpe nsionlia b ility

Diffe re nce sb e tw e e n e xpe c te d a nd a c tua le xpe rie nc e inthe m e a sure m e ntofthe tota lpe nsion

lia b ility

Ne td iffe re nc e b e tw e e nproje c te d a nd a c tua le a rning sonpla n

De fe rre d ofOutflowsofRe sourc e s

Cha ng e sofa ssum ptions

Diffe re nce sb e tw e e n e xpe c te d a nd a c tua le xpe rie nc e

ScheduleofChangesin TotalPension Liab ility
Law Enforcem entOfficers'SpecialSeparation Allow ance

Total Expense, Liabilities, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources of Related to Pensions

Follow ing isinform a tionre la te d tothe proportiona te sha re a nd pe nsione xpe nse fora llpe nsionpla ns:

Pe nsionExpe nse
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2.Othe rEm ploym e ntBe ne fits

3.De fe rre d Outflow sa nd Inflow sofRe sourc e s

Am ount

74,305$

121,176

270,173

5,818

126,042
42,855

Tota l 640,369$

Sta te m e ntof Ge ne ra lFund

Ne tPosition Ba la nc e She e t
Ta xe sre c e iva b le (Ge ne ra lFund ) le sspe na ltie s -$ 4,814$
Pre pa id ta xe s(Ge ne ra lFund ) - -
Diffe re nce sb e tw e e ne xpe c te d a nd a c tua le xpe rie nc e 37,257
Cha ng e sina ssum ptions 49,383 -

17,953 -
Tota l 104,593$ 4,814$

4.Risk M a na g e m e nt

The Tow n ha se le c te d to provid e d e a th b e ne fitsto la w e nforc e m e nte m ploye e sthroug h the De a th Be ne fitPla n form e m b e rsofthe Loc a lGove rnm e nta l

Em ploye e s'Re tire m e ntSyste m (De a th Be ne fitPla n),a m ultiple -e m ploye r,Sta te -a d m iniste re d ,c ost-sha ring pla n fund e d on a one -ye a rte rm c ostb a sis.

The b e ne fic ia rie softhose e m ploye e sw hod ie in a c tive se rvic e a fte rone ye a rofc ontrib uting m e m b e rship in the Syste m ,orw hod ie w ithin 180 d a ysa fte r

re tire m e nt orte rm ina tionofse rvic e a nd ha ve a tle a stone ye a rofc ontrib uting m e m b e rshipse rvic e inthe Syste m a tthe tim e ofd e a th a re e lig ib le ford e a th

b e ne fits.Lum p sum d e a th b e ne fitpa ym e ntstob e ne fic ia rie sa re e qua ltothe e m ploye e 's12 hig he stm onthssa la ryin a row d uring the 24 m onthspriorto

the e m ploye e 'sd e a th,b utthe b e ne fitm a y note xc e e d $50,000 orb e le sstha n $25,000.Alld e a th b e ne fitpa ym e ntsa re m a d e from the De a th Be ne fitPla n.

The Tow n ha sno lia b ility b e yond the pa ym e ntofm onthly c ontrib utions.The c ontrib utionsto the De a th Be ne fitPla n c a nnotb e se pa ra te d b e tw e e n the

post-e m ploym e ntb e ne fita m ounta nd the othe rb e ne fita m ount.The Tow nc onsid e rsthe se c ontrib utionstob e im m a te ria l.

The Tow n c a rrie sc om m e rc ia lc ove ra g e fora llothe rrisksofloss.The re ha ve b e e n no sig nific a ntre d uc tionsin insura nc e c ove ra g e in the priorye a r,a nd

se ttle d c la im sha ve note xc e e d e d c ove ra g e ina nyofthe pa stthre e fisc a lye a rs.

The Tow n ise xpose d to va riousrisksoflossre la te d to torts;the ftof,d a m a g e to,a nd d e struc tion ofa sse ts;e rrorsa nd om issions;injurie sto e m ploye e s;

a nd na tura ld isa ste rs.The Tow n purc ha se sc om m e rc ia lc ove ra g e from a priva te insure r.Throug h thisc ove ra g e ,the Tow n ob ta insg e ne ra llia b ility of$3

m illion,e xc e sslia b ilityc ove ra g e of$2 m illion,a uto lia b ilityof$1 m illion pe roc c ure nc e ,a nd a b la nke tprope rty d a m a g e c ove ra g e forre pla c e m e ntcostup

to$10.4 m illionpe rye a r.W orke r'sc om pe nsa tionc ove ra g e uptothe sta tutorylim itsisprovid e d b ya priva te insure r.

The Tow n c a rrie sflood insura nc e throug h the Na tiona lFlood Insura nc e Pla n (NFIP).Be c a use the Tow n isin a na re a ofthe Sta te tha tha sb e e nm a ppe d a nd

d e sig na te d a sA,B,C,a nd X zone sb y the Fe d e ra lEm e rg e nc y m a na g e m e ntAg e nc y,the Tow n ise lig ib le to purc ha se c ove ra g e of$500,000 pe rstruc ture

throug h the NFIP.The Tow n a lso ise lig ib le to a nd ha spurc ha se d c om m e rc ia lflood insura nc e to c ove ritsb uild ing sa nd struc ture sin the A,B,C,a nd X

zone sinthe e ve ntofflood d a m a g e .

Cha ng e sinproportiona nd d iffe re nc e sb e tw e e nTow n

c ontrib utionsa nd proportiona te sha re ofc ontrib utions

Diffe re nce sb e tw e e ne xpe c te d a nd a c tua le xpe rie nc e

Cha ng e ofa ssum ptions

Ne td iffe re nce b e tw e e nproje c te d a nd a c tua le a rning son pe nsionpla n

inve stm e nts

Cha ng e inproportiona nd d iffe re nc e sb e tw e e nTow nc ontrib utionsa nd

proportiona te sha re ofc ontrib utions

Tow nc ontrib utionssub se que nttothe m e a sure m e ntd a te

De fe rre d outflow sofre sourc e sre porte d onthe Sta te m e ntofNe tPositionisc om prise d ofthe follow ing :

Source

De fe rre d inflow sofre sourc e sa tye a r-e nd isc om prise d ofthe follow ing :

Fund ing Polic y.The a d opte d pla n re quire sthe Tow n to c ontrib ute e a c h pa y pe riod a n a m ounte qua lto five pe rc e nt(5% ) ofe a c h non-la w e nforc e m e nt

e m ploye e 's sa la ry.The Tow n's c ontrib utions for e a c h e m ploye e (a nd inte re sta lloc a te d to the e m ploye e 's a c c ount) a re fully ve ste d im m e d ia te ly.All

c ove re d e m ploye e s m a y m a ke volunta ry c ontrib utions to the pla n.Contrib utions for the ye a r e nd e d June 30,2023 w e re $34,391 from the Tow n a nd

$33,000 from the non-la w e nforc e m e nte m ploye e s.

De fe rre d c ha rg e onre fund ing
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5.Cla im s,Jud g m e ntsa nd Conting e ntLia b ilitie s

6.Long Te rm Ob lig a tions

a .Insta llm e ntPurc ha se s:

Busine ssType Ac tivitie s

Ye a rEnd ing June 30 Princ ipa l Inte re st Princ ipa l Inte re st
2024 126,105$ 15,052$ 108,895$ 12,998$
2025 123,422 11,269 106,578 9,731
2026 126,105 7,566 108,895 6,534
2027 126,057 3,783 108,943 3,267

Tota l 501,689$ 37,670$ 433,311$ 32,530$

b .Cha ng e sinGe ne ra lLong -Te rm Lia b ilitie s

AtJune 30 2023,the Tow nofRive rBe nd ha d a le g a ld e b tm a rg inof$26,575,954.

Ba la nc e Ba la nc e Curre nt
07/01/22 Inc re a se s De c re a se s 06/30/23 Portion

Gove rnm e nta la c tivitie s:
Com pe nsa te d a b se nc e s 38,244 26,005 6,351 57,898 10,000
Ne tpe nsionlia b ility(LGERS) 173,576 456,670 - 630,246 -
Ne tpe nsionlia b ility(LEOSSA) 185,532 - 18,119 167,413 -

Gove rnm e nta la c tivity
long -te rm lia b ilitie s 397,352$ 482,675$ 24,470$ 855,557$ 10,000$

Busine ss-type a c tivitie s:
W a te rFund
Dire ctPla c e m e ntg e ne ra lob lig a tionb ond s 630,477$ -$ $ 128,788 $ 501,689 $ 126,105
Una m ortize d pre m ium onb ond s 28,746 - 5,749 22,997 5,749
Com pe nsa te d a b se nc e s 9,202 8,847 6,217 11,832 5,000
Ne tpe nsionlia b ility(LGERS) 24,034 65,239 - 89,273 -
Tota lW a te rFund 692,459 74,086 140,754 625,791 136,854

Se w e rFund
Dire ctPla c e m e ntg e ne ra lob lig a tionb ond s 544,523$ -$ $ 111,212 $ 433,311 $ 108,895
Una m ortize d pre m ium onb ond s 24,823 - 4,965 19,858 4,965
Com pe nsa te d a b se nc e s 9,696 7,954 4,030 13,620 5,000
Ne tpe nsionlia b ility(LGERS) 26,754 71,170 - 97,924 -
Tota lSe w e rFund 605,796 79,124 120,207 564,713 118,860

Busine ss-type a c tivity
long -te rm lia b ilitie s 1,298,255$ 153,210$ 260,961$ 1,190,504$ 255,714$

The Tow n'sg e ne ra lob lig a tionb ond spa ya b le a tJune 30,2023 a re c om prise d ofthe follow ing :

Serviced b ytheW aterFund:

$1,588,336 Ge ne ra lOb lig tionRe fund ing Bond s-Se rie s2013,d ue onJune 1 in insta llm e ntsb e g inning June 1,2014 throug h June 1,2027:inte re stva rying

from 2% to3% .Outsta nd ing b a la nc e a sofJune 30,2023 w a s$501,689.

Serviceb ytheSew erFund:

$1,371,664 Ge ne ra lOb lig tionRe fund ing Bond s-Se rie s2013,d ue onJune 1 in insta llm e ntsb e g inning June 1,2014 throug h June 1,2027:inte re stva rying

from 2% to3% .Outsta nd ing b a la nc e a sofJune 30,2023 w a s$433,311.

Se rvic e d b ythe Se w e rFund

Annua ld e b tse rvice pa ym e ntsofa llinsta llm e ntnote sa sofJune 30,2023,inc lud ing $30,693 ofinte re st,a re a sfollow s:

Se rvic e d b ythe W a te rFund

In a c c ord a nc e w ith G.S.159-29,the Tow n'se m ploye e stha tha ve a c c e ssto $100 orm ore a ta ny g ive n tim e ofthe Tow n'sfund sa re pe rform a nce b ond e d

throug h a c om m e rc ia lsure tyb ond .The fina nce offic e risind ivid ua llyb ond e d a t$400,000.The re m a ining e m ploye e stha tha ve a c c e sstofund sa re b ond e d

und e ra b la nke tb ond for$100,000.

AtJune 30,2023,the Tow nha snope nd ing c la im sorjud g m e nts.

The Tow n'sW a te rFund a nd Se w e rFund issue d g e ne ra lob lig a tion b ond sin 1995 toprovid e fund sfor the purc ha se ofthe w a te ra nd se w e rsyste m sfrom

a priva te c om pa ny,Ca rolina W a te rSe rvic e .The re m a ind e rofthe b ond a m ountw a suse d in1999 forse w e rupg ra d e sa nd toe xte nd w a te rline sa nd insta ll

hyd ra ntsto a fford fire prote c tion throug houtthe Tow n.The 2004 b ond re fund ing re sulte d in a sa ving s of$2,484,429 a nd shorte ne d the le ng th ofthe

orig ina lg e ne ra lob lig a tion d e b tb ytw e lve ye a rs.The b ond sw e re re fund e d onc e a g a in in 2013,w hich re sulte d in a nothe rsa ving sof$274,678.The te rm s

ofthe ne w d e b tre m a insunc ha ng e d from the 2004 Se rie s,w ith m a turity in 2027.The se b ond s,w hic h a re re c ord e d in the W a te ra nd Se w e rFund s,a re

c olla te ra lize d b ythe fullfa ith,c re d it,a nd ta xing pow e rofthe Tow n.Princ ipa la nd inte re stpa ym e ntsa re a ppropria te d w he n d ue .
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c .Inte rfund Ba la nc e sa nd Ac tivity

Tra nsfe rsto/from othe rfund sa tJune 30,2023,c onsistofthe follow ing :

De sc riptions Tra nsfe rIn Tra nsfe rOut

Pub lic W orksCa pita lProje c t 1,031,758$ -$
Pub lic Utilitie sFund - 1,031,758

1,031,758$ 1,031,758$

Ge ne ra lFund 482,300$ -$

- 482,300
482,300$ 482,300$

Ge ne ra lFund -$ 482,189$
Pub lic W orksCa pita lProje c t 482,189 -

482,189$ 482,189$

1,996,247$ 1,996,247$

d .Ne tInve stm e ntinCa pita lAsse ts

Gove rnm e nta l Busine ss-type
Ca pita la sse ts 5,403,510$ 2,097,280$

Le ss:Long -te rm d e b t - 935,000
Ne tinve stm e ntin c a pita la sse ts 5,403,510$ 1,162,280$

e .Fund Ba la nc e

Tota lfund b a la nc e -Ge ne ra lFund 1,328,966$

Le ss:
Sta b iliza tionb ySta te Sta tute 174,010
La w e nforc e m e ntse pe ra tiona llow a nc e 36,812
Sub se que ntye a r'se xpe nd iture s 198,597
Re m a ining Fund Ba la nc e 919,547$

IV.Sum m aryDisclosureofSignificantContingencies

Fe d e ra la nd Sta te Assiste d Prog ra m s

V.SignificantEffectsofSub sequentEvents

The re a re nosub se que nte ve ntstha tw ould ha ve a m a te ria le ffe c ton the fina ncia lsta te m e nts.Sub se que nte ve ntsha ve b e e na na lyze d throug h the d a te tha t

the fina ncia lsta te m e ntsw e re a va ila b le tob e issue d .

The Tow nha sre c e ive d proc e e d sfrom se ve ra lfe d e ra la nd Sta te g ra nts.Pe riod ic a ud itsofthe se g ra ntsa re re quire d a nd c e rta inc ostsm a yb e que stione d a s

not b e ing a ppropria te e xpe nd iture s und e r the g ra nt a g re e m e nts. Suc h a ud its c ould re sult in the re fund of g ra nt m one ys to the g ra ntor a g e ncie s.

M a na g e m e ntb e lie ve stha ta nyre quire d re fund sw illb e im m a te ria l.Noprovision ha sb e e n m a d e in the a c c om pa nying fina ncia lsta te m e ntsforthe re fund

ofg ra ntm one ys.

Tra nsfe rsa re use d to m ove unre stric te d re ve nue sto fina nc e va riousprog ra m stha tthe g ove rnm e ntm usta c c ountforin othe rfund sin a c c ord a nc e w ith

b ud g e ta rya uthoriza tions,inc lud ing a m ountsprovid e d m a tc hing fund sforva riousg ra ntprog ra m s.

The follow ing sche d ule provid e sm a na g e m e nta nd c itize nsw ith inform a tiononthe portionofGe ne ra lFund b a la nce tha tisa va ila b le fora ppropria tion:

ARPA Fund
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 
 

This section contains additional information required by 
generally accepted accounting principles.  Presentation 
conforms to requirements of Local Government Commission 
in North Carolina. 

 
Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability 
(Asset) for Local Government Employees’ Retirement 
System 
 
Schedule of Contributions to Local Government 
Employees’ Retirement System 
 
Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability for the Law 
Enforcement Officers’ Special Separation Allowance 
 
Schedule of Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of 
Covered Payroll for the Law Enforcement Officers’ Special 
Separation Allowance 
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GENERAL FUND 
 

The General Fund accounts for the resources traditionally 
associated with government that are not required legally or by 
sound financial management to be accounted for in other 
funds. 

87



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

88



Final Variance

Budget Actual Over/Under

Revenues:

Advalorem taxes:

Taxes 814,010$ 833,878$ 19,868$

Unrestrictedintergovernmental:

Localoption salestax 380,222 414,007 33,785

Holdharmlesstax 99,000 114,069 15,069

Telecommunicationssalestax 8,140 7,863 (277)

Utilityfranchisetax 108,963 115,375 6,412

Video programming 50,743 49,309 (1,434)

Beerandwinetax 13,225 13,121 (104)

Totalunrestrictedintergovernmental 660,293 713,744 53,451

Restrictedintergovernmental:

FederalandStategrants 277,262 275,221 (2,041)

Solidwastedisposaltax 2,200 2,259 59

PowellBillallocation 91,000 93,732 2,732

Totalrestrictedintergovernmental 370,462 371,212 750

Permitsandfees:

Zoningpermits 5,000 9,126 4,126

Animallicenses 2,000 2,937 937

Court cost fees 500 501 1

Totalpermitsandfees 7,500 12,564 5,064

Salesandservices:

Rentsandconcessions 36,144 39,571 3,427

Contributionsandrefunds 421 1,043 622

Totalsalesandservices 36,565 40,614 4,049

Investment earnings 575 37,762 37,187

Miscellaneous:

Miscellaneousrevenue 10,000 40,301 30,301

Totalmiscellaneous 10,000 40,301 30,301

Total revenues 1,899,405 2,050,075 150,670

2023

Town of River Bend

General Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Final Variance

Budget Actual Over/Under

2023

Town of River Bend

General Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Expenditures:

General Government:

GoverningBody

Salariesandbenefits 25,527 25,277 250

Otheroperatingexpenditures 11,356 10,143 1,213

Salariesallocatedto W aterandSewer (9,883) (9,883) -

Totalgoverningbody 27,000 25,537 1,463

Administration:

Salariesandbenefits 288,288 284,499 3,789

Otheroperatingexpenditures 79,429 75,068 4,361

Salariesallocatedto W aterandSewer (70,917) (70,918) 1

Totaladministration 296,800 288,649 8,151

Finance:

Salariesandbenefits 106,795 104,535 2,260

Otheroperatingexpenditures 88,066 66,936 21,130

Capitaloutlay 5,100 4,475 625

Salariesallocatedto W aterandSewer (47,680) (47,680) -

Totalfinance 152,281 128,266 24,015

Tax Listing:

Contractedservices 11,600 10,823 777

Legal:

Professionalservices 32,350 30,286 2,064

PublicBuildings:

Salariesandbenefits 16,775 15,537 1,238

Otheroperatingexpenditures 81,025 63,829 17,196

Totalpublicbuildings 97,800 79,366 18,434

CentralServices-Planning:

Salariesandbenefits 79,639 79,651 (12)

Otheroperatingexpenditures 5,111 3,245 1,866

Capitaloutlay - - -

Salariesallocatedto W aterandSewer (29,950) (29,950) -

Totalcentralservices-planning 54,800 52,946 1,854

Total general government 672,631 615,873 56,758
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Final Variance

Budget Actual Over/Under

2023

Town of River Bend

General Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Public Safety:

Police:

Salariesandbenefits 514,514 490,067 24,447

Otheroperatingexpenditures 99,494 95,463 4,031

Capitaloutlay 50,435 65,392 (14,957)

Totalpolice 664,443 650,922 13,521

EmergencyManagement

Otheroperatingexpenditures 3,700 2,768 932

Totalemergencymanagement 3,700 2,768 932

AnimalControl:

Salariesandbenefits 17,488 16,358 1,130

Salariesallocatedto W aterandSewer (2,888) (3,326) 438

Totalanimalcontrol 14,600 13,032 1,568

Total public safety 682,743 666,722 16,021

Transportation:

Salariesandbenefits 43,141 41,454 1,687

Otheroperatingexpenditures 9,859 913 8,946

Capitaloutlay 140,000 144,075 (4,075)

Total transportation 193,000 186,442 6,558

Environmental Protection:

Salariesandbenefits 87,412 81,375 6,037

Otheroperatingexpenditures 452,975 195,470 257,505

Capitaloutlay 7,500 257,045 (249,545)

Total environmental protection 547,887 533,890 13,997

Cultural and recreational:

Salariesandbenefits 39,651 33,897 5,754

Otheroperatingexpenditures 69,149 19,311 49,838

Capitaloutlay - 46,066 (46,066)

Total cultural and recreational 108,800 99,274 9,526

Total expenditures 2,205,061 2,102,201 102,860
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Final Variance

Budget Actual Over/Under

2023

Town of River Bend

General Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Revenues over (under) expenditures (305,656) (52,126) 253,530

Otherfinancingsources(uses):

Transfersfrom otherfunds: 86,287 568,587 482,300

Transfersto otherfunds: (73,500) (555,689) (482,189)

InsuranceSettlement - 2,357 2,357

Appropriatedfundbalance 292,869 - (292,869)

Totalotherfinancingsources(uses) 305,656 15,255 (290,401)

Net changein fundbalance -$ (36,871) (36,871)$

Fundbalances,beginning 1,365,837
Fundbalances,ending 1,328,966$

9292



Variance

Budget Actual Over/Under

Revenues

Investment earnings 60 3,601$ 3,541$

Otherfinancingsources(uses):

Transfersout (72,787) (72,787) -

Transfersin 60,000 60,000 -

Futureprocurement (27,060) - 27,060

Appropriatedfundbalance 39,787 - (39,787)

Totalotherfinancingsources(uses) (60) (12,787) (12,727)

Net changein fundbalance -$ (9,186) (9,186)$

Fund Balance:

Beginningofyear-July1 93,755

Endofyear-June30 84,569$

2023

Town of River Bend

Nonmajor - Capital Reserve Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023
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From Inception and For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Project

Authorization PriorYears Current Year

TotalProject

To Date

VarianceOver

(Under)

Revenues:

Restrictedintergovernmental -$ -$ -$ -$ -$

Donations - - - - -

Investment income - 569 54,377 54,946 54,946

Miscellaneousrevenue - - - - -

Totalrevenue - 569 54,377 54,946 54,946

Expenditures:

Admin andengineering,

construction andcapitalspending 964,378 76,197 792,736 868,933 (95,445)

TotalExpenditures 964,378 76,197 792,736 868,933 (95,445)

Revenuesover(under)expenditures (964,378) (75,628) (738,359) (813,987) 150,391

Other financing sources (uses):

Long-term debt issued - - - - -

Transfers(to)from otherfunds 964,378 482,189 1,513,947 1,996,136 1,031,758

Contingency - - - - -

Totalotherfinancingsources(uses) 964,378 482,189 1,513,947 1,996,136 1,031,758

Net changein fundbalance -$ 406,561$ 775,588 1,182,149$ 1,182,149$

Fundbalance,beginning 406,561

Fundbalance,ending 1,182,149$

Town of River Bend

Public Works Capital Project - Major Capital Project Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

Actual
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From Inception and For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Project

Authorization PriorYears

Current

Year

Total

Project To

Date

Variance

Over

(Under)

Revenues:

Restrictedintergovernmental 964,378$ 482,189$ 482,189$ 964,378$ -$

Investment income - 107 4 111 111

Totalrevenue 964,378 482,296 482,193 964,489 111

Expenditures:

Admin andengineering - - - - -

Construction - - - - -

TotalExpenditures - - - - -

Revenuesover(under)expenditures 964,378 482,296 482,193 964,489 111

Other financing sources (uses):

Transfers(to)from otherfunds (964,378) (482,189) (482,300) (964,489) (111)

Totalotherfinancingsources(uses) (964,378) (482,189) (482,300) (964,489) (111)

Net changein fundbalance -$ 107$ (107) -$ -$

Fundbalance,beginning 107

Fundbalance,ending -$

Town of River Bend

ARP Project Fund - Capital Project Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

Actual
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ENTERPRISE FUNDS 
 

Enterprise Funds account for operations that are financed and 
operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises 
where the intent of the governing body is that the costs of 
providing goods and services to the general public on a 
continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through 
user charges, or where the governing body has decided that 
periodic determination of net income is appropriate for 
accountability purposes. 

 

The Town’s Enterprise Funds are comprised of the Water and 
Sewer Funds which account for the operation of water and 
wastewater services provided throughout the Town. 
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Final Variance

Budget Actual Over/Under

Revenues:

OperatingRevenues:

Chargesforservices 557,677$

W atertaps 1,967

Otheroperatingrevenues 17,885

Totaloperatingrevenues 553,400 577,529 24,129

Non-OperatingRevenues:

Interest earnings 19,056

Totalnon-operatingrevenues 435 19,056 18,621

Total revenues 553,835 596,585 42,750

Expenditures:

Water Administration:

Salariesandbenefits 161,621

AllocatedcostsreimbursedbyGeneralFund (38,303)

Operatingexpenses 199,366

Repairsandmaintenance 592

Totaladministration 331,484 323,276 8,208

W aterOperations:

Operatingexpenses 92,703

Repairsandmaintenance 1,497

Capitaloutlay 3,356

Totaloperations 125,325 97,556 27,769

Debt Services:

Principalrepayment 134,537

Interest 16,473

Totaldebt service 152,932 151,010 1,922

Total expenditures 609,741 571,842 37,899

Revenues over (under) expenditures (55,906) 24,743 80,649

Otherfinancingsources(uses):

Transfersto otherfunds (270,791) (515,879) (245,088)

Appropriatedfundbalance 326,697 - (326,697)

Totalotherfinancingsources(uses) 55,906 (515,879) (571,785)

Revenueandotherfinancingsourcesover

(under)expendituresandotherfinancinguses -$ (491,136) (491,136)$

Reconciliation from Budgetary Basis

(Modified Accrual) to Full Accrual:

Reconcilingitems:

Depreciation (79,979)

Capitaloutlay 3,356

Capitalcontributions 538,452

Principalpayments 134,537

Increase(decrease)in deferredoutflowsofresources-pensions 20,540

(Increase)decreasein net pension liability (65,239)

(Increase)decreasein deferredinflowsofresources-pensions 33,496

(Increase)decreasein compensatedabsences 2,630

Changein net position 96,657$

2023

Town of River Bend

Water Fund

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures

Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP)

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023
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From Inception and For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Project

Authorization PriorYears Current Year

TotalProject To

Date

VarianceOver

(Under)

Revenues:

Restrictedintergovernmental 732,811$ -$ 538,452$ 538,452$ (194,359)$

Totalrevenue 732,811 - 538,452 538,452 (194,359)

Expenditures:

Admin andengineering,

construction andcapitalspending 732,811 - 701,397 701,397 (31,414)

TotalExpenditures 732,811 - 701,397 701,397 (31,414)

Revenuesover(under)expenditures - - (162,945) (162,945) (162,945)

Other financing sources (uses):

Long-term debt issued - - - - -

Transfers(to)from otherfunds - - - - -

Contingency - - - - -

Totalotherfinancingsources(uses) - - - - -

Net changein fundbalance -$ -$ (162,945) (162,945)$ (162,945)$

Fundbalance,beginning -

Fundbalance,ending (162,945)$

Town of River Bend

ASADRA - Capital Project Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

Actual
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From Inception and For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Project
Authorization PriorYears

Current
Year

TotalProject
To Date

VarianceOver
(Under)

Revenues:

Restrictedintergovernmental 150,000$ -$ -$ -$ (150,000)$

Totalrevenue 150,000 - - - (150,000)

Expenditures:

Admin andengineering,

construction andcapitalspending 150,000 - 22,250 22,250 (127,750)

TotalExpenditures 150,000 - 22,250 22,250 (127,750)

Revenuesover(under)expenditures - - (22,250) (22,250) (22,250)

Other financing sources (uses):

Long-term debt issued - - - - -

Totalotherfinancingsources(uses) - - - - -

Net changein fundbalance -$ -$ (22,250) (22,250)$ (22,250)$

Fundbalance,beginning -

Fundbalance,ending (22,250)$

Town of River Bend

Water Asset Inventory and Assessment - Capital Project Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

Actual
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Final Variance

Budget Actual Over/Under

Revenues:

OperatingRevenues:

Chargesforservices 649,401$

Sewertaps 1,250

Otheroperatingrevenues 8,392

Totaloperatingrevenues 620,609$ 659,043 38,434$

Non-OperatingRevenues:

Interest earnings 24,521

Totalnon-operatingrevenues 711 24,521 23,810

Total revenues 621,320 683,564 62,244

Expenditures:

Sewer Administration:

Salariesandbenefits 176,202

AllocatedcostsreimbursedbyGeneralFund (38,303)

Operatingexpenses 188,485

Repairsandmaintenance 592

Totaladministration 337,766 326,976 10,790

SewerOperations:

Operatingexpenses 110,940

Repairsandmaintenance 16,802

Capitaloutlay 23,299

Totaloperations 209,825 151,041 58,784

Debt Services:

Principalrepayment 116,177

Interest 14,220

Totaldebt service 131,434 130,397 1,037

Total expenditures 679,025 608,414 70,611

Revenues over (under) expenditures (57,705) 75,150 132,855

Otherfinancingsources(uses):

Transfersto otherfunds: (504,614) (515,879) (11,265)

Appropriatedfundbalance 562,319 - (562,319)

Totalotherfinancingsources(uses) 57,705 (515,879) (573,584)

Revenueandotherfinancingsourcesover

(under)expendituresandotherfinancinguses -$ (440,729) (440,729)$

Reconciliation from Budgetary Basis

(Modified Accrual) to Full Accrual:

Reconcilingitems:

Depreciation (57,791)

Capitaloutlay 23,299

Repayment oflong-term debt principal 116,177

Increase(decrease)in deferredoutflowsofresources-pensions 22,407

(Increase)decreasein net pension liability (71,169)

(Increase)decreasein deferredinflowsofresources-pensions 36,541

(Increase)decreasein compensatedabsences (3,924)

Changein net position (375,189)$

2023

Town of River Bend

Sewer Fund

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures

Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP)

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023
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From Inception and For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Project

Authorization PriorYears

Current

Year

TotalProject

To Date

VarianceOver

(Under)

Revenues:

Restrictedintergovernmental 9,108,500$ -$ -$ -$ (9,108,500)$

Totalrevenue 9,108,500 - - - (9,108,500)

Expenditures:

Admin andengineering,

construction andcapitalspending 9,108,500 - 51,237 51,237 (9,057,263)

TotalExpenditures 9,108,500 - 51,237 51,237 (9,057,263)

Revenuesover(under)expenditures - - (51,237) (51,237) (51,237)

Other financing sources (uses):

Long-term debt issued - - - - -

Transfers(to)from otherfunds - - - - -

Contingency - - - - -

Totalotherfinancingsources(uses) - - - - -

Net changein fundbalance -$ -$ (51,237) (51,237)$ (51,237)$

Fundbalance,beginning -

Fundbalance,ending (51,237)$

Town of River Bend

Wastewater Capital Project - Capital Project Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

Actual
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OTHER SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 
 

Other financial information includes additional detailed analysis of 
particular aspects of the Town’s financial position and results of 
operations. 

 

• Schedule of Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable 
 

• Analysis of Current Tax Levy 
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Uncollected Uncollected
Balance Collections Balance

FiscalYear July1,2022 Additions And Credits June30,2023

2022-2023 -$ 833,331$ 828,807$ 4,524$
2021-2022 7,058 - 4,515 2,543
2020-2021 1,024 - 205 819
2019-2020 214 - (388) 602
2018-2019 133 - (1) 134
2017-2018 673 - - 673
2016-2017 211 - - 211
2015-2016 164 - - 164
2014-2015 163 - - 163
2013-2014 428 - 428
2012-2013 718 - 718 -

10,786$ 833,331$ 833,856$ 10,261$

Less:allow anceforuncollectib leaccounts:
GeneralFund (5,447)
Ad valorem taxesreceivab le-net 4,814

Reconcilem entw ith revenues:
Ad valorem taxes-GeneralFund 833,878$

Reconcilingitem s:
Taxesw rittenoff 718
M iscellaneousadjustm ents (740)

Totalad valorem collections 833,856$

Town of River Bend, North Carolina
General Fund

Schedule of Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable
June 30, 2023
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Town of River Bend, North Carolina

Property

excluding

Registered Registered

Property Total Motor Motor

Valuation Rate Levy Vehicles Vehicles

Original levy:

Propertytaxed atcurrent

year'srate 319,631,154$ 0.26 831,041$ 725,252$ 105,789$

319,631,154 831,041 725,252 105,789

Discoveries 1,025,000 0.26 2,665 2,665 -

Ab atem ents (144,231) 0.26 (375) (375) -
Total 320,511,923$

Netlevy 833,331 727,542 105,789

Uncollected taxesatJune30,2023 (4,524) (4,524) -

Currentyear'staxescollected 828,807$ 723,018$ 105,789$

Currentlevycollectionpercentage 99.46% 99.38% 100.00%

Analysis of Current Tax Levy

Town - Wide Levy
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Total Levy

Town - Wide
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STATISTICAL SECTION 
(UNAUDITED) 

This part of the Town of River Bend’s annual comprehensive 
financial report presents detailed information as a context for 
understanding what the information in the financial statements, 
note disclosures, and required supplementary information says 
about the government’s overall financial health. 

Financial Trends 
These tables contain trend information to help the reader 
understand how the government’s financial performance and 
well-being have changed over time. 

Revenue Capacity 
These tables contain information to help the reader assess the 
government’s most significant local revenue source, the 
property tax. 

Debt Capacity 
These tables present information to help the reader assess the 
affordability of the government’s current levels of outstanding 
debt and the government’s ability to issue additional debt in the 
future. 

Demographic and Economic Information 
These tables offer demographic and economic indicators to 
help the reader understand the environment within which the 
government’s financial activities take place. 

Operating Information 
These tables contain service and infrastructure data to help the 
reader understand how the information in the government’s 
financial report relates to the services the government provides 
and the activities it performs. 

Sources:  Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is 
derived from the financial statements for the relevant year. 

109



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

110



T
A

B
L

E
1

T
O

W
N

O
F

R
IV

E
R

B
E

N
D

,N
O

R
T

H
C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

N
E

T
P

O
S

IT
IO

N
B

Y
C

O
M

P
O

N
E

N
T

L
a

st
T

en
F

is
ca

l
Y

ea
rs

(a
cc

ru
a

l
b

a
si

s
o

f
a

cc
o

u
n

ti
n

g
)

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
9

2
0

2
0

2
0

2
1

2
0

2
2

2
0

2
3

G
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l
A

ct
iv

it
ie

s

N
et

In
ve

st
m

en
t

in
C

ap
it

al
A

ss
et

s
2

,3
2

7
,7

2
7

2
,4

3
4

,1
2

4
2

,5
6

8
,3

7
0

2
,6

1
2

,2
8

4
2

,6
4

4
,8

6
2

2
,7

1
9

,3
6

9
3

,5
6

9
,5

5
6

4
,3

2
7

,2
6

8
4

,3
4

1
,0

3
1

5
,4

0
3

,5
1

0

R
es

tr
ic

te
d

1
3

9
,6

1
1

1
4

4
,7

8
5

1
3

8
,1

9
8

1
2

9
,2

4
5

1
4

6
,3

6
8

1
6

2
,5

0
7

1
4

8
,2

4
9

1
5

6
,0

5
4

1
6

3
,4

7
9

1
7

4
,0

1
0

U
nr

es
tr

ic
te

d
1

,6
2

7
,7

0
4

1
,7

4
3

,2
2

4
1

,9
9

1
,5

0
2

2
,1

1
5

,5
8

0
2

,3
6

1
,1

3
4

1
,9

1
3

,6
6

8
1

,8
7

4
,6

3
8

8
6

7
,2

2
4

1
,4

1
8

,6
6

9
1

,9
4

9
,4

6
5

T
ot

al
G

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

N
et

P
os

it
io

n
4

,0
9

5
,0

4
2

4
,3

2
2

,1
3

3
4

,6
9

8
,0

7
0

4
,8

5
7

,1
0

9
5

,1
5

2
,3

6
4

4
,7

9
5

,5
4

4
5

,5
9

2
,4

4
3

5
,3

5
0

,5
4

6
5

,9
2

3
,1

7
9

7
,5

2
6

,9
8

5

B
us

in
es

s-
T

yp
e

A
ct

iv
ti

es

N
et

In
ve

st
m

en
t

in
C

ap
it

al
A

ss
et

s
(6

8
7

,2
1

7
)

(4
1

7
,3

9
7

)
(2

4
5

,8
5

3
)

(1
9

7
,2

2
7

)
(1

5
9

,0
8

9
)

(1
1

2
,1

3
5

)
(5

0
,4

3
2

)
1

5
,6

8
7

2
5

8
,5

1
1

1
,1

6
2

,2
8

0

R
es

tr
ic

te
d

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

U
nr

es
tr

ic
te

d
1

,4
6

0
,5

7
3

1
,4

3
6

,0
4

5
1

,5
1

0
,8

3
5

1
,7

0
5

,2
9

9
1

,9
4

8
,7

3
8

1
,9

9
7

,1
1

3
2

,2
5

1
,1

6
8

2
,2

7
1

,5
9

6
2

,2
1

8
,8

4
8

1
,0

3
6

,5
4

7

T
ot

al
B

us
in

es
s-

ty
p

e
A

ct
iv

it
ie

s
N

et
P

os
it

io
n

7
7

3
,3

5
6

1
,0

1
8

,6
4

8
1

,2
6

4
,9

8
2

1
,5

0
8

,0
7

2
1

,7
8

9
,6

4
9

1
,8

8
4

,9
7

8
2

,2
0

0
,7

3
6

2
,2

8
7

,2
8

3
2

,4
7

7
,3

5
9

2
,1

9
8

,8
2

7

P
ri

m
ar

y
G

ov
er

nm
en

t

N
et

In
ve

st
m

en
t

in
C

ap
it

al
A

ss
et

s
1

,6
4

0
,5

1
0

2
,0

1
6

,7
2

7
2

,3
2

2
,5

1
7

2
,4

1
5

,0
5

7
2

,4
8

5
,7

7
3

2
,6

0
7

,2
3

4
3

,5
1

9
,1

2
4

4
,3

4
2

,9
5

5
4

,5
9

9
,5

4
2

6
,5

6
5

,7
9

0

R
es

tr
ic

te
d

1
3

9
,6

1
1

1
4

4
,7

8
5

1
3

8
,1

9
8

1
2

9
,2

4
5

1
4

6
,3

6
8

1
6

2
,5

0
7

1
4

8
,2

4
9

1
5

6
,0

5
4

1
6

3
,4

7
9

1
7

4
,0

1
0

U
nr

es
tr

ic
te

d
3

,0
8

8
,2

7
7

3
,1

7
9

,2
6

9
3

,5
0

2
,3

3
7

3
,8

2
0

,8
7

9
4

,3
0

9
,8

7
2

3
,9

1
0

,7
8

1
4

,1
2

5
,8

0
6

3
,1

3
8

,8
2

0
3

,6
3

7
,5

1
7

2
,9

8
6

,0
1

2

T
ot

al
P

ri
m

ar
y

G
ov

er
nm

en
t

N
et

P
os

it
io

n
4

,8
6

8
,3

9
8

5
,3

4
0

,7
8

1
5

,9
6

3
,0

5
2

6
,3

6
5

,1
8

1
6

,9
4

2
,0

1
3

6
,6

8
0

,5
2

2
7

,7
9

3
,1

7
9

7
,6

3
7

,8
2

9
8

,4
0

0
,5

3
8

9
,7

2
5

,8
1

2

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
9

2
0

2
0

2
0

2
1

2
0

2
2

2
0

2
3

0

2
,0

0
0,

0
00

4
,0

0
0,

0
00

6
,0

0
0,

0
00

8
,0

0
0,

0
00

1
0,

0
00

,0
0

0

1
2,

0
00

,0
0

0

N
et

P
o

si
ti

o
n

B
y

Fu
n

d
s

G
o

ve
rn

m
en

ta
lA

ct
iv

it
ie

s

B
u

si
n

es
s-

Ty
p

e
A

ct
iv

ti
es

To
ta

lP
ri

m
ar

y
G

o
ve

rn
m

en
t

N
et

P
o

si
ti

o
n

111



T
A

B
L

E
2

T
O

W
N

O
F

R
IV

E
R

B
E

N
D

,
N

O
R

T
H

C
A

R
O

L
IN

A
C

H
A

N
G

E
S

IN
N

E
T

P
O

S
IT

IO
N

L
a

st
T

en
F

is
ca

l
Y

ea
rs

(a
cc

ru
a

l
b

a
si

s
of

a
cc

ou
n

ti
n

g
)

20
1

4
2

01
5

20
16

20
1

7
20

18
20

1
9

2
02

0
20

2
1

2
02

2
20

23
E

xp
en

se
s

G
o

ve
rn

m
en

ta
l

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s:

G
en

er
al

G
o

ve
rn

m
en

t
61

7,
4

55
$

5
31

,6
4

0
$

56
7,

1
14

$
61

5
,7

8
5

$
68

7,
07

9
$

69
5

,8
5

8
$

7
81

,0
56

$
90

2
,8

02
$

6
55

,5
39

$
77

6,
5

34
$

P
u

bl
ic

S
af

et
y

52
2,

5
68

4
94

,1
0

7
49

6,
1

51
45

9
,2

5
5

42
6,

63
1

1,
32

9
,1

8
6

6
36

,5
38

63
9

,0
67

6
77

,4
92

77
3,

9
33

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

at
io

n
20

6,
2

70
2

10
,5

9
4

21
1,

4
97

21
4

,8
0

4
19

0,
72

3
20

8
,3

2
1

2
30

,5
21

23
2

,3
84

1
53

,5
37

6
8,

1
44

E
nv

ir
o

n
m

en
ta

l
P

ro
te

ct
io

n
5

1
,9

60
84

,3
2

8
6

5,
0

71
79

,5
7

3
5

9,
22

1
59

,9
2

8
62

,4
57

72
,2

41
46

,6
73

30
1,

9
18

C
ul

tu
ra

l
an

d
R

ec
re

at
io

n
al

4
9

,8
76

52
,5

1
2

4
5,

4
48

45
,6

3
8

5
1,

85
0

49
,6

2
1

41
,4

73
11

3
,6

59
3

22
,5

49
9

7,
6

32
In

te
re

st
on

L
on

g
-T

er
m

D
eb

t
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
T

ot
al

G
o

ve
rn

m
en

ta
l

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

1,
44

8,
1

29
1,

3
73

,1
8

1
1,

38
5,

2
81

1,
41

5
,0

5
5

1
,4

1
5,

50
4

2,
34

2
,9

1
4

1
,7

52
,0

45
1,

96
0

,1
53

1,
8

55
,7

90
2,

01
8,

1
61

B
us

in
es

s-
T

yp
e

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s:

W
at

er
43

9,
0

60
4

26
,2

2
0

43
1,

2
91

45
2

,8
4

4
44

6,
52

2
47

0
,6

0
6

4
91

,0
59

49
9

,3
21

4
57

,7
02

52
2,

5
01

S
ew

er
47

7,
2

08
4

61
,6

2
9

48
3,

7
61

49
8

,0
1

1
47

8,
31

7
51

4
,7

0
9

5
28

,9
40

54
7

,1
67

5
01

,3
46

54
2,

8
74

T
ot

al
B

us
in

es
s-

T
yp

e
A

ct
iv

it
ie

s
91

6,
2

68
8

87
,8

4
9

91
5,

0
52

95
0

,8
5

5
92

4,
83

9
98

5
,3

1
5

1
,0

19
,9

99
1,

04
6

,4
88

9
59

,0
48

1,
06

5,
3

75

T
ot

a
l

P
ri

m
ar

y
G

o
ve

rn
m

en
t

E
xp

en
se

s
2

,3
6

4,
3

97
$

2,
2

61
,0

3
0

$
2,

30
0,

3
33

$
2,

36
5

,9
1

0
$

2
,3

4
0,

34
3

$
3,

32
8

,2
2

9
$

2
,7

72
,0

44
$

3,
00

6
,6

41
$

2,
8

14
,8

38
$

3,
08

3,
5

36
$

P
ro

gr
am

R
ev

en
ue

G
o

ve
rn

m
en

ta
l

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s:

C
ha

rg
es

fo
r

S
er

vi
ce

s
G

en
er

al
G

ov
er

nm
en

t
8

6,
9

57
80

,9
3

5
7

1,
5

44
79

,1
9

8
6

3,
30

2
44

,0
2

0
33

,3
99

38
,8

58
41

,5
21

9,
1

26
P

ub
li

c
S

af
et

y
1,

2
66

3,
61

5
3,

5
86

3
,7

3
3

3,
70

6
31

0
38

3
3

10
18

0
3,

4
38

E
nv

ir
on

m
en

ta
l

pr
o

te
ct

io
n

1,
7

55
1,

98
0

1,
9

64
2

,0
6

1
2,

08
9

16
,0

8
0

7,
98

4
8

,2
50

15
,2

87
2,

2
59

C
ul

tu
ra

l
an

d
re

cr
ea

ti
o

na
l

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
4

0,
6

14
O

p
er

at
in

g
G

ra
n

ts
an

d
C

o
nt

ri
bu

ti
on

s
G

en
er

al
G

ov
er

nm
en

t
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

48
2,

1
89

P
u

bl
ic

S
af

et
y

3
67

33
8

-
17

,6
3

6
-

35
6

,9
8

3
1

,0
42

,7
43

93
,7

63
38

,6
11

27
5,

2
21

E
nv

ir
o

n
m

en
ta

l
pr

o
te

ct
io

n
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

62
,5

90
6

87
,4

10
-

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

at
io

n
9

3,
9

09
92

,3
0

0
9

0,
5

02
88

,8
7

3
8

9,
22

6
86

,0
4

5
87

,0
33

80
,8

99
94

,6
31

9
3,

7
32

C
ul

tu
ra

l
an

d
R

ec
re

at
io

n
al

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

C
ap

it
al

G
ra

n
ts

an
d

C
o

n
tr

ib
ut

io
ns

C
u

lt
u

ra
l

an
d

R
ec

re
at

io
na

l
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
P

ub
li

c
S

af
et

y
1

3,
2

72
14

0
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
T

ot
al

G
o

ve
rn

m
en

ta
l

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

P
ro

g
ra

m
R

ev
en

ue
19

7,
5

26
1

79
,3

0
8

16
7,

5
96

19
1

,5
0

1
15

8,
32

3
50

3
,4

3
8

1
,1

71
,5

42
28

4
,6

70
8

77
,6

40
90

6,
5

79

B
us

in
es

s-
T

yp
e

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s:

C
ha

rg
es

fo
r

S
er

vi
ce

s
-

W
at

er
59

1,
9

85
5

31
,2

6
8

53
4,

8
42

54
5

,2
4

6
54

1,
02

2
42

8
,4

0
0

5
89

,9
63

50
9

,1
58

5
20

,2
83

57
7,

5
29

C
ha

rg
es

fo
r

S
er

vi
ce

s
-

S
ew

er
59

7,
4

89
6

23
,6

4
4

62
4,

1
12

63
6

,0
5

4
64

2,
70

5
58

9
,1

0
5

7
21

,4
20

61
8

,5
12

6
25

,9
89

65
9,

0
43

O
pe

ra
ti

n
g

G
ra

nt
s

an
d

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
C

ap
it

al
G

ra
n

ts
an

d
C

o
n

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

53
8,

4
52

T
ot

al
B

us
in

es
s-

T
yp

e
A

ct
iv

it
ie

s
P

ro
g

ra
m

R
ev

en
u

e
1

,1
8

9,
4

74
1,

1
54

,9
1

2
1,

15
8,

9
54

1,
18

1
,3

0
0

1
,1

8
3,

72
7

1,
01

7
,5

0
5

1
,3

11
,3

83
1,

12
7

,6
70

1,
1

46
,2

72
1,

77
5,

0
24

T
ot

a
l

P
ri

m
ar

y
G

o
ve

rn
m

en
t

R
ev

en
u

es
1

,3
8

7,
0

00
$

1,
3

34
,2

2
0

$
1,

32
6,

5
50

$
1,

37
2

,8
0

1
$

1
,3

4
2,

05
0

$
1,

52
0

,9
4

3
$

2
,4

82
,9

25
$

1,
41

2
,3

40
$

2,
0

23
,9

12
$

2,
68

1,
6

03
$

N
et

(E
xp

en
se

)
R

ev
en

u
e

G
o

ve
rn

m
en

ta
l

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

(1
,2

5
0,

6
03

)
(1

,1
93

,8
7

3)
(1

,2
1

7,
6

85
)

(1
,2

23
,5

5
4)

(1
,2

5
7,

18
1

)
(1

,8
39

,4
7

6)
(5

80
,5

03
)

(1
,6

75
,4

83
)

(9
78

,1
50

)
(1

,1
1

1,
5

82
)

B
us

in
es

s-
T

yp
e

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

27
3,

2
06

2
67

,0
6

3
24

3,
9

02
23

0
,4

4
5

25
8,

88
8

32
,1

9
0

2
91

,3
84

81
,1

82
1

87
,2

24
70

9,
6

49
T

ot
a

l
P

ri
m

ar
y

G
o
ve

rn
m

en
t

N
et

E
xp

en
se

(9
7

7,
3

97
)

$
(9

26
,8

1
0)

$
(9

7
3,

7
83

)
$

(9
93

,1
0

9)
$

(9
9

8,
29

3
)

$
(1

,8
07

,2
8

6)
$

(2
89

,1
19

)
$

(1
,5

94
,3

01
)

$
(7

90
,9

26
)

$
(4

0
1,

9
33

)
$

112



T
A

B
L

E
2

co
n

ti
n

u
ed

T
O

W
N

O
F

R
IV

E
R

B
E

N
D

,
N

O
R

T
H

C
A

R
O

L
IN

A
C

H
A

N
G

E
S

IN
N

E
T

P
O

S
IT

IO
N

L
a

st
T

en
F

is
ca

l
Y

ea
rs

(a
cc

ru
a

l
b

a
si

s
of

a
cc

ou
n

ti
n

g
)

20
1

4
2

01
5

20
16

20
1

7
20

18
20

1
9

2
02

0
20

2
1

2
02

2
20

23
G

en
er

al
R

ev
en

ue
s

an
d

O
th

er
C

h
an

g
es

in
N

et
P

o
si

ti
on

G
o

ve
rn

m
en

ta
l

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s:

T
ax

es
:

P
ro

pe
rt

y
T

ax
es

,
le

vi
ed

fo
r

g
en

er
al

p
u

rp
os

e
90

7,
8

85
8

89
,7

4
6

89
2,

1
27

92
6

,5
5

3
87

0,
52

9
72

5
,9

7
8

7
47

,9
69

80
0

,6
36

8
27

,7
16

83
1,

4
84

L
oc

al
O

pt
io

n
S

al
es

T
ax

37
1,

8
46

3
94

,2
0

8
41

1,
7

12
41

7
,8

5
9

45
1,

35
0

35
9

,2
3

6
2

96
,7

58
34

6
,5

46
3

85
,5

17
41

4,
0

07
O

th
er

T
ax

es
an

d
L

ic
en

se
s

17
6,

1
76

2
12

,6
1

7
21

1,
1

63
20

8
,1

0
7

20
4,

01
3

30
0

,3
3

6
2

73
,0

21
27

2
,0

77
2

88
,1

42
29

9,
7

37
G

ra
nt

s
an

d
C

on
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
s

no
t

R
es

tr
ic

te
d

to
S

p
ec

if
ic

P
ro

gr
am

s
In

ve
st

m
en

t
E

ar
n

in
g

s,
un

re
st

ri
ct

ed
2

43
39

4
3,

6
89

9
,0

1
2

2
6,

54
4

50
,1

7
3

37
,7

11
3

67
2,

57
0

9
5,

7
44

M
is

ce
ll

an
eo

u
s,

un
re

st
ri

ct
ed

-
-

8,
3

31
12

,4
9

0
-

46
,9

3
3

21
,9

43
13

,9
60

46
,8

38
4

2,
6

58
T

ra
n

sf
er

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

1,
03

1,
7

58
T

ot
al

G
o

ve
rn

m
en

ta
l

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

1,
45

6,
1

50
1,

4
96

,9
6

5
1,

52
7,

0
22

1,
57

4
,0

2
1

1
,5

5
2,

43
6

1,
48

2
,6

5
6

1
,3

77
,4

02
1,

43
3

,5
86

1,
5

50
,7

83
2,

71
5,

3
88

B
us

in
es

s-
T

yp
e

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s:

In
ve

st
m

en
t

E
ar

n
in

g
s,

un
re

st
ri

ct
ed

98
19

0
2,

3
77

6
,7

3
9

1
9,

88
9

37
,9

2
1

24
,3

74
4

43
2,

85
2

4
3,

5
77

M
is

ce
ll

an
eo

u
s,

un
re

st
ri

ct
ed

4,
1

80
74

2
55

5
,9

0
6

2,
80

0
25

,2
1

8
-

4
,9

22
-

-
T

ra
n

sf
er

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

(1
,0

3
1,

7
58

)
T

ot
al

B
us

in
es

s
T

yp
e

R
ev

en
u

es
4,

2
78

93
2

2,
4

32
12

,6
4

5
2

2,
68

9
63

,1
3

9
24

,3
74

5
,3

65
2,

85
2

(9
8

8,
1

81
)

T
ot

a
l

P
ri

m
ar

y
G

o
ve

rn
m

en
t

1
,4

6
0,

4
28

$
1,

4
97

,8
9

7
$

1,
52

9,
4

54
$

1,
58

6
,6

6
6

$
1

,5
7

5,
12

5
$

1,
54

5
,7

9
5

$
1

,4
01

,7
76

$
1,

43
8

,9
51

$
1,

5
53

,6
35

$
1,

72
7,

2
07

$

C
h

an
g

e
in

N
et

P
os

it
io

n
G

o
ve

rn
m

en
ta

l
A

ct
iv

it
ie

s
20

5,
5

47
3

03
,0

9
2

30
9,

3
37

35
0

,4
6

7
29

5,
25

5
(3

56
,8

2
0)

7
96

,8
99

(2
41

,8
97

)
5

72
,6

33
1,

60
3,

8
06

B
us

in
es

s-
T

yp
e

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

27
7,

4
84

2
67

,9
9

5
24

6,
3

34
24

3
,0

9
0

28
1,

57
7

95
,3

2
9

3
15

,7
58

86
,5

47
1

90
,0

76
(2

7
8,

5
32

)

T
ot

a
l

P
ri

m
ar

y
G

o
ve

rn
m

en
t

C
h

an
g

e
in

N
et

P
o

si
ti

on
48

3,
0

31
$

5
71

,0
8

7
$

55
5,

6
71

$
59

3
,5

5
7

$
57

6,
83

2
$

(2
61

,4
9

1)
$

1
,1

12
,6

57
$

(1
55

,3
50

)
$

7
62

,7
09

$
1,

32
5,

2
74

$

$
4

8
3

,0
31

$
5

7
1

,0
87

$
5

5
5

,6
71

$
5

9
3

,5
57

$
5

7
6

,8
32

$
(2

6
1

,4
9

1)

$
1

,1
1

2
,6

5
7

$
(1

5
5

,3
5

0)

$
7

6
2

,7
09

$
1

,3
2

5
,2

7
4

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

20
1

6
20

1
7

2
01

8
2

0
1

9
2

0
2

0
2

0
2

1
20

2
2

20
2

3

C
h

a
n

ge
in

N
e

t
P

o
si

ti
o

n

(5
0

0,
00

0)0

5
00

,0
0

0

1
,0

00
,0

0
0

1
,5

00
,0

0
0

2
,0

00
,0

0
0

20
1

4
2

0
1

5
2

0
1

6
2

01
7

2
01

8
2

0
1

9
2

0
2

0
2

02
1

20
2

2
20

2
3

C
h

an
ge

in
N

et
P

o
si

ti
o

n

G
o

ve
rn

m
e

nt
al

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

B
u

si
n

e
ss

-T
yp

e
A

ct
iv

it
ie

s

To
ta

lC
h

an
ge

113



T
A

B
L

E
3

T
O

W
N

O
F

R
IV

E
R

B
E

N
D

,N
O

R
T

H
C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

F
U

N
D

B
A

L
A

N
C

E
S

,G
O

V
E

R
N

M
E

N
T

A
L

F
U

N
D

S

L
a

st
T

en
F

is
ca

l
Y

ea
rs

(m
o

d
if

ie
d

a
cc

ru
al

b
as

is
o

f
ac

co
u

n
ti

n
g

)

20
14

2
01

5
20

16
20

17
2

01
8

20
19

2
02

0
2

02
1

20
22

2
02

3

G
en

er
al

F
un

d

N
on

-S
pe

n
da

bl
e:

P
re

pa
id

It
em

s
3

,6
1

9
-

-
-

-
-

1
9

9
-

-
-

R
es

tr
ic

te
d

:

S
tr

ee
ts

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

S
ta

bi
li

za
ti

on
b

y
S

ta
te

S
ta

tu
te

1
39

,6
1

1
14

4,
7

85
13

8,
19

8
1

29
,2

4
5

14
6,

3
68

16
2,

50
7

1
48

,2
4

9
15

6,
0

54
1

63
,4

7
9

1
74

,0
10

A
ss

ig
ne

d
:

S
u

bs
eq

u
en

t
ye

ar
s'

ex
p

en
d

it
ur

es
97

,3
2

2
7

7,
0

29
4

6,
72

9
-

14
7,

2
70

17
3,

97
0

2
24

,2
6

2
24

4,
6

02
2

00
,8

1
3

1
98

,5
97

L
aw

E
n

fo
rc

em
en

t
S

ep
ar

at
io

n
A

ll
ow

an
ce

F
un

d
36

,0
6

4
2

6,
58

2
1

3,
20

7
11

,7
9

9
9,

9
71

21
,9

9
0

36
,8

12

U
na

ss
ig

ne
d

1
,2

87
,6

1
1

1,
43

2,
6

25
1

,6
7

8,
40

9
1,

9
41

,2
0

9
1,

97
4,

2
78

2
,4

3
7,

82
2

1,
2

65
,4

0
1

89
5,

5
01

9
79

,5
5

5
9

19
,5

47

T
ot

al
G

en
er

al
F

u
nd

1
,5

28
,1

6
3

1,
65

4,
4

39
1

,8
6

3,
33

6
2,

1
06

,5
1

8
2,

29
4,

4
98

2
,7

8
7,

50
6

1,
6

49
,9

1
0

1,
30

6,
1

28
1

,3
65

,8
3

7
1,

3
28

,9
66

O
th

er
G

ov
er

n
m

en
ta

l
F

un
ds

C
om

m
it

te
d

G
en

er
al

G
ov

er
nm

en
t

C
ap

it
al

O
ut

la
y

2
28

,8
9

2
25

7,
5

94
27

8,
65

4
3

56
,5

3
4

41
5,

2
28

43
2,

03
5

1
35

,0
8

7
3

0,
4

55
5

00
,3

1
6

1,
2

66
,7

18

U
na

ss
ig

ne
d

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
(1

,0
0

5)
1

07
-

T
ot

al
O

th
er

G
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l
F

u
nd

s
2

28
,8

9
2

25
7,

5
94

27
8,

65
4

3
56

,5
3

4
41

5,
2

28
43

2,
03

5
1

35
,0

8
7

2
9,

4
50

5
00

,4
2

3
1,

2
66

,7
18

T
o

ta
l

G
ov

er
n

m
en

ta
l

F
u

n
d

s
1,

75
7,

0
55

$
1

,9
1

2,
03

3
$

2,
1

41
,9

90
$

2,
46

3,
0

52
$

2
,7

09
,7

2
6

$
3,

2
19

,5
41

$
1

,7
8

4,
9

97
$

1
,3

35
,5

7
8

$
1,

8
6

6
,2

6
0

$
2

,5
9

5,
68

4
$

0

5
0

0,
00

0

1
,0

00
,0

00

1
,5

00
,0

00

2
,0

00
,0

00

2
,5

00
,0

00

3
,0

00
,0

00

3
,5

00
,0

00

20
1

4
20

1
5

2
0

16
2

0
1

7
20

1
8

2
0

1
9

2
0

2
0

20
2

1
20

2
2

2
0

2
3

Fu
n

d
B

al
an

ce
-

G
o

ve
rn

m
e

n
ta

l
Fu

n
d

s

N
o

n
-S

p
en

d
ab

le

R
es

tr
ic

te
d

A
ss

ig
n

ed

C
o

m
m

it
te

d

U
n

as
si

gn
ed

114



T
A

B
L

E
4

T
O

W
N

O
F

R
IV

E
R

B
E

N
D

,N
O

R
T

H
C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

C
H

A
N

G
E

S
IN

F
U

N
D

B
A

L
A

N
C

E
S

,
G

O
V

E
R

N
M

E
N

T
A

L
F

U
N

D
S

L
a

st
T

en
F

is
ca

l
Y

ea
rs

(m
od

if
ie

d
a

cc
ru

a
l

b
a

si
s

of
a

cc
ou

n
ti

n
g

)

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
9

2
0

2
0

2
0

2
1

2
0

2
2

2
0

2
3

R
ev

en
u

es

A
d

V
al

or
em

T
ax

es
9

1
8

,3
2

6
$

8
9

1
,5

7
7

$
8

9
1

,3
3

8
$

9
2

6
,0

3
5

$
8

7
0

,5
2

9
$

7
2

8
,2

1
3

$
7

4
0

,1
8

1
$

8
0

9
,3

5
7

$
8

2
4

,1
9

0
$

8
3

3
,8

7
8

$

O
th

er
T

ax
es

an
d

L
ic

en
se

s
3

8
7

,0
9

1
4

1
3

,4
0

8
4

2
7

,0
2

3
4

3
3

,7
6

6
4

6
4

,9
3

0
4

6
8

,2
6

7
3

8
7

,1
4

9
4

4
5

,0
3

5
5

0
5

,1
6

8
-

U
n

re
st

ri
ct

ed
In

te
rg

ov
er

n
m

en
ta

l
1

6
0

,9
3

1
1

9
3

,4
1

7
1

9
5

,8
5

2
1

9
2

,2
0

0
1

9
0

,4
3

3
1

8
9

,1
8

5
1

8
0

,3
4

3
1

7
3

,5
8

7
1

7
7

,4
0

8
7

1
3

,7
4

4

R
es

tr
ic

te
d

In
te

rg
ov

er
n

m
en

ta
l

1
0

9
,3

0
3

9
4

,7
5

8
9

2
,4

6
6

1
0

8
,5

6
9

9
1

,3
1

5
4

4
5

,1
4

7
1

,1
3

2
,0

6
3

2
3

7
,2

5
2

1
,3

0
2

,8
4

0
8

5
3

,4
0

1

P
er

m
it

s
an

d
F

ee
s

7
,1

8
9

6
,3

1
1

7
,2

2
7

8
,6

7
4

7
,5

8
7

1
6

,3
9

0
8

,3
6

6
1

0
,9

9
0

1
7

,7
8

7
1

2
,5

6
4

S
al

es
an

d
S

er
vi

ce
s

8
1

,0
3

4
7

8
,2

4
0

6
7

,9
0

3
7

4
,2

5
7

5
9

,4
2

1
7

9
,2

7
8

4
1

,8
0

6
5

0
,3

8
8

5
2

,4
2

8
4

0
,6

1
4

In
ve

st
m

en
t

E
ar

n
in

gs
2

4
3

3
9

4
3

,6
8

9
9

,0
1

2
2

6
,5

4
4

5
0

,1
7

3
3

7
,7

1
1

3
6

7
2

,5
7

0
9

5
,7

4
4

M
is

ce
ll

an
eo

u
s

-
-

2
,3

8
1

5
,5

8
9

-
8

,5
2

6
8

,3
5

1
-

-
4

0
,3

0
1

T
ot

al
R

ev
en

u
es

1
,6

6
4

,1
1

7
1

,6
7

8
,1

0
5

1
,6

8
7

,8
7

9
1

,7
5

8
,1

0
2

1
,7

1
0

,7
5

9
1

,9
8

5
,1

7
9

2
,5

3
5

,9
7

0
1

,7
2

6
,9

7
6

2
,8

8
2

,3
9

1
2

,5
9

0
,2

4
6

E
xp

en
d

it
u

re
s

C
u

rr
en

t

G
en

er
al

G
ov

er
n

m
en

t
5

2
7

,3
0

9
4

7
3

,9
3

2
4

7
7

,3
9

8
4

7
9

,6
8

8
5

6
1

,3
0

7
5

5
6

,0
8

5
5

7
4

,8
5

2
6

6
5

,8
1

3
6

1
1

,6
9

3
6

1
1

,3
9

8

P
u

b
li

c
S

af
et

y
5

0
9

,4
4

9
5

0
6

,2
2

3
5

0
0

,6
4

0
4

7
5

,3
3

3
4

5
6

,3
0

9
1

,3
6

6
,4

2
5

6
6

6
,5

3
0

6
4

1
,0

0
0

5
8

4
,6

4
9

6
0

1
,3

3
0

T
ra

n
p

or
ta

ti
on

1
7

8
,6

9
8

1
9

1
,9

4
4

1
9

0
,4

6
9

1
9

1
,3

0
5

1
6

6
,8

5
9

1
8

4
,8

0
3

2
0

3
,9

8
8

1
9

6
,8

5
9

1
5

3
,5

3
7

4
2

,3
6

7

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l
P

ro
te

ct
io

n
5

1
,9

6
0

8
5

,3
5

3
6

6
,0

5
3

8
0

,5
7

9
6

0
,3

0
0

6
1

,1
3

1
6

3
,8

2
0

7
3

,7
6

7
4

6
,6

7
3

1
,0

6
9

,5
8

1

C
u

lt
u

ra
l

an
d

R
ec

re
at

io
n

al
4

2
,9

8
3

4
7

,9
7

2
4

0
,3

7
1

3
9

,9
8

8
4

5
,8

8
6

4
3

,7
4

0
3

4
,8

5
7

1
0

4
,7

7
8

7
3

1
,3

2
0

5
3

,2
0

8

C
ap

it
al

P
ro

je
ct

s
2

7
3

,3
7

8
2

1
7

,7
0

3
2

5
5

,5
4

1
1

7
7

,0
5

1
1

7
3

,4
2

4
2

1
6

,1
7

6
1

,0
1

1
,0

7
0

9
6

5
,8

6
9

2
5

7
,4

4
8

5
1

7
,0

5
3

D
eb

t
S

er
vi

ce

P
ri

n
ci

p
al

-
-

-
-

-
5

0
,1

5
4

9
4

9
,8

4
6

-
-

-

In
te

re
st

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

T
ot

al
E

xp
en

d
it

u
re

s
1

,5
8

3
,7

7
7

1
,5

2
3

,1
2

7
1

,5
3

0
,4

7
2

1
,4

4
3

,9
4

4
1

,4
6

4
,0

8
5

2
,4

7
8

,5
1

4
3

,5
0

4
,9

6
3

2
,6

4
8

,0
8

6
2

,3
8

5
,3

2
0

2
,8

9
4

,9
3

7

R
ev

en
u

es
O

ve
r

(U
n

d
er

)
E

xp
en

d
it

u
re

s
8

0
,3

4
0

$
1

5
4

,9
7

8
$

1
5

7
,4

0
7

$
3

1
4

,1
5

8
$

2
4

6
,6

7
4

$
(4

9
3

,3
3

5
)

$
(9

6
8

,9
9

3
)

$
(9

2
1

,1
1

0
)

$
4

9
7

,0
7

1
$

(3
0

4
,6

9
1

)
$

O
th

er
F

in
a

n
ci

n
g

S
ou

rc
es

(U
se

s)

T
ra

n
sf

er
s

to
O

th
er

F
u

n
d

s
(1

0
5

,0
0

0
)

(1
0

5
,0

0
0

)
(4

6
1

,5
5

3
)

(2
7

4
,0

5
2

)
(1

9
9

,8
0

3
)

(2
4

1
,4

7
0

)
(1

,3
0

5
,9

0
0

)
(1

0
4

,6
6

3
)

(5
4

5
,3

3
9

)
(4

9
5

,0
8

7
)

T
ra

n
sf

er
s

fr
om

O
th

er
F

u
n

d
s

1
0

5
,0

0
0

1
0

5
,0

0
0

4
6

1
,5

5
3

2
7

4
,0

5
2

1
9

9
,8

0
3

2
4

1
,4

7
0

1
,3

0
5

,9
0

0
1

0
4

,6
6

3
5

4
5

,3
3

9
1

,5
2

6
,8

4
5

N
C

O
R

R
ze

ro
-i

n
te

re
st

L
oa

n
P

ro
ce

ed
s

-
-

-
-

-
1

,0
0

0
,0

0
0

-
-

-
-

In
su

ra
n

ce
S

et
tl

em
en

t
-

-
-

-
-

-
1

,0
9

0
-

2
,6

0
3

2
,3

5
7

S
al

e
of

C
ap

it
al

A
ss

et
s

-
5

,9
5

0
6

,9
0

1
-

3
,1

5
0

5
,0

5
0

-
3

1
,0

0
8

-

T
ot

al
O

th
er

F
in

an
ci

n
g

S
ou

rc
es

(U
se

s)
-

$
-

$
5

,9
5

0
$

6
,9

0
1

$
-

$
1

,0
0

3
,1

5
0

$
6

,1
4

0
$

-
$

3
3

,6
1

1
$

1
,0

3
4

,1
1

5
$

N
et

C
h

a
n

g
e

in
F

u
n

d
B

a
la

n
ce

8
0

,3
4

0
$

1
5

4
,9

7
8

$
1

6
3

,3
5

7
$

3
2

1
,0

5
9

$
2

4
6

,6
7

4
$

5
0

9
,8

1
5

$
(9

6
2

,8
5

3
)

$
(9

2
1

,1
1

0
)

$
5

3
0

,6
8

2
$

7
2

9
,4

2
4

$

D
eb

t
S

er
vi

ce
as

a
p

er
ce

n
ta

ge
of

n
on

ca
p

it
al

ex
p

en
d

it
u

re
s

0
.0

0
%

0
.0

0
%

0
.0

0
%

0
.0

0
%

0
.0

0
%

2
.2

7
%

4
0

.2
5

%
0

.0
0

%
0

.0
0

%
0

.0
0

%

115



T
A

B
L

E
5

T
O

W
N

O
F

R
IV

E
R

B
E

N
D

,N
O

R
T

H
C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

A
S

S
E

S
S

E
D

V
A

L
U

E
O

F
T

A
X

A
B

L
E

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

L
as

t
T

en
Y

ea
rs

P
er

ce
n

t

F
is

ca
l

P
er

so
na

l
P

ub
li

c
S

er
vi

ce
P

ro
pe

rt
y

In
cr

ea
se

in

Y
ea

r
R

ea
l

P
ro

p
er

ty
P

ro
p

er
ty

(2
)

C
o

m
pa

ni
es

T
ot

al
T

ax
R

at
e

(3
)

V
al

u
e

(4
)

20
1

4
29

9,
44

2,
58

8
40

,4
04

,7
1

8
1,

57
8,

24
8

34
1,

42
5

,5
5

4
0.

2
65

0
3

.0
2

%

20
1

5
30

0,
27

5,
28

0
33

,0
06

,8
9

8
1,

56
1,

53
1

33
4,

84
3

,7
0

9
0.

2
65

0
-1

.9
3

%

20
1

6
30

1,
09

2,
29

6
33

,9
31

,1
5

6
1,

55
1,

39
7

33
6,

57
4

,8
4

9
0.

2
65

0
0

.5
2

%

20
1

7
26

2,
25

0,
56

3
34

,3
19

,9
4

9
1,

83
7,

06
9

29
8,

40
7

,5
8

1
0.

3
10

5
-1

1
.3

4
%

20
1

8
26

2,
61

8,
50

7
34

,9
69

,2
0

4
1,

91
8,

92
4

29
9,

50
6

,6
3

5
0.

2
90

0
0

.3
7

%

20
1

9
26

6,
23

6,
25

2
34

,8
74

,8
9

0
1,

91
4,

60
0

30
3,

02
5

,7
4

2
0.

2
40

0
1

.1
7

%

20
2

0
24

9,
51

3,
90

7
36

,1
41

,0
6

7
2,

04
2,

98
1

28
7,

69
7

,9
5

4
0.

2
60

0
-5

.0
6

%

20
2

1
26

5,
63

1,
47

0
40

,6
27

,8
0

2
2,

48
2,

35
1

30
8,

74
1

,6
2

3
0.

2
60

0
7

.3
1

%

20
2

2
27

2,
01

0,
28

5
41

,5
34

,2
8

1
2,

23
4,

56
0

31
5,

77
9

,1
2

6
0.

2
60

0
2

.2
8

%

20
2

3
27

2,
43

1,
26

0
45

,7
96

,7
2

6
2,

28
3,

93
7

32
0,

51
1

,9
2

3
0.

2
60

0
1

.5
0

%

N
o

te
s:

(1
)
A

ss
es

se
d

V
al

ue
is

es
ta

b
li

sh
ed

b
y

C
ra

ve
n

C
o

un
ty

T
ax

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t.

(2
)
In

cl
ud

es
m

o
to

r
ve

hi
cl

es
.

(3
)
A

ll
ta

x
ra

te
s

ar
e

ex
p

re
ss

ed
in

d
o

ll
ar

s
o

f
ta

x
p

er
$

1
0

0
o

f
as

se
ss

ed
va

lu
at

io
n.

(4
)
A

re
va

lu
at

io
n

o
f

al
l

p
ro

p
er

ty
is

re
q

ui
re

d
at

le
as

t
ev

er
y

ei
gh

t
ye

ar
s

b
y

N
o

rt
h

C
ar

o
li

na
G

en
er

al
S

ta
tu

te
s.

T
he

la
st

re
va

lu
at

io
n

w
as

o
n

Ja
nu

ar
y

1
,

2
0

1
6

an
d

w
as

th
e

b
as

is
fo

r
fi

sc
al

2
0

1
7

ta
xe

s.
T

he
ca

lc
ul

at
ed

ta
x

re
ve

nu
e

ne
ut

ra
l

ra
te

w
as

$
.3

1
0

5
.

T
he

ei
gh

t-
ye

ar
re

va
lu

at
io

n
o

f
re

al
p

ro
p

er
ty

b
ec

am
e

ef
fe

ct
iv

e
w

it
h

th
e

2
0

1
0

-1
1

ta
x

le
vy

.
C

ra
ve

n
C

o
un

ty
ad

o
p

te
d

a
si

x-
ye

ar

re
va

lu
at

io
n

sc
he

d
ul

e
in

2
0

1
6

an
d

th
en

a
fo

ur
-y

ea
r

re
va

lu
at

io
n

th
er

ea
ft

er
,

w
hi

ch
w

o
ul

d
ha

ve
b

ee
n

2
0

2
1

.
In

st
ea

d
,

a
sp

ec
ia

l
se

ve
n-

ye
ar

re
va

lu
at

io
n

(r
es

ul
ti

ng
fr

o
m

H
ur

ri
ca

ne
F

lo
re

nc
e)

w
as

ad
o

p
te

d
,

w
hi

ch
is

2
0

2
3

,
ef

fe
ct

iv
e

w
it

h
fi

sc
al

ye
ar

2
0

2
3

-2
4

ta
x

le
vy

.

A
ss

es
se

d
V

al
ue

(1
)

116



T
A

B
L

E
6

T
O

W
N

O
F

R
IV

E
R

B
E

N
D

,N
O

R
T

H
C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

T
A

X
R

A
T

E
S

-
D

IR
E

C
T

A
N

D
O

V
E

R
L

A
P

P
IN

G
G

O
V

E
R

N
M

E
N

T

L
as

t
T

en
F

is
ca

l
Y

ea
rs

F
is

ca
l

T
ax

W
es

t
N

ew
B

er
n

II

Y
ea

r
Y

ea
r

T
ow

n
of

R
iv

er
B

en
d

C
ou

n
ty

of
C

ra
ve

n
(R

he
m

s)
F

ir
e

D
is

tr
ic

t

20
14

2
01

3
0.

26
50

0.
4

67
5

0.
0

3
8

9

20
15

2
01

4
0.

26
50

0.
4

67
5

0.
0

3
8

9

20
16

2
01

5
0.

26
50

0.
4

67
5

0.
0

3
8

9

20
1

7
(1

)
2

01
6

0.
31

05
0.

5
39

4
0.

0
4

5
7

20
18

2
01

7
0.

29
00

0.
5

39
4

0.
0

4
5

7

20
19

2
01

8
0.

24
00

0.
5

39
4

0
.0

4

20
20

2
01

9
0.

26
00

0.
5

49
4

0
.0

4

20
21

2
02

0
0.

26
00

0.
5

49
4

0
.0

4

20
22

2
02

1
0.

26
00

0.
5

60
0

0
.0

3
5

20
23

2
02

2
0.

24
00

0.
4

44
8

0
.0

2
5

N
ot

es
:

(1
)
R

ea
l

pr
op

er
ty

w
as

re
va

lu
ed

on
Ja

nu
ar

y
1,

20
1

6
.

A
ll

ta
x

ra
te

s
ar

e
ex

pr
es

se
d

in
do

ll
ar

s
of

ta
x

pe
r

$1
00

of
as

se
ss

ed
va

lu
at

io
n

.

A
re

va
lu

at
io

n
of

al
l

pr
op

er
ty

is
re

qu
ir

ed
ev

er
y

ei
gh

t
ye

ar
s

by
st

at
e

st
at

ut
e.

T
h

e
ei

gh
t-

ye
ar

re
va

lu
at

io
n

of
re

al
pr

op
er

ty
be

ca
m

e
ef

fe
ct

iv
e

w
it

h
th

e
20

10
-1

1
ta

x
le

vy
.

C
ra

ve
n

C
o

un
ty

ad
op

te
d

a
si

x-
ye

ar
re

va
lu

at
io

n
sc

he
du

le
in

20
1

6
an

d
th

en
a

fo
ur

-y
ea

r
re

va
lu

at
io

n
th

er
ea

ft
er

,
w

hi
ch

w
ou

ld

h
av

e
be

en
20

21
.

In
st

ea
d,

a
sp

ec
ia

l
se

ve
n

-y
ea

r
re

va
lu

at
io

n
(r

es
ul

ti
ng

fr
om

H
ur

ri
ca

ne
F

lo
re

nc
e)

w
as

ad
o

p
te

d
,

w
hi

ch
is

20
2

3,
ef

fe
ct

iv
e

w
it

h
fi

sc
al

ye
ar

20
2

3
-2

4
ta

x
le

vy
.

117



TABLE 7

TOWN OF RIVER BEND, NORTH CAROLINA
PRINCIPAL PROPERTY TAXPAYERS

Current Year and Nine Years Ago

Assessed

Valuation
Rank

Percentage of

Total Assessed

Valuation

Assessed

Valuation
Rank

Percentage of

Total Assessed

Valuation

Taxpayer Type of Business 320,511,923 341,425,554

NC Pace RE LLC Disabled Child & Adult Care Facility 5,477,690$ 1 1.71% 1(1)

Riverstone Assisted Living LLC (2)
Assisted Living Facility 2,317,100 2 0.72% 2,017,800 2 0.59%

Segal Revocable Trust Residence 1,882,840 3 0.59% 1(1)

River Bend Golf and Country Club (3)
Country Club and Golf Course 1,835,510 4 0.57% 2,667,340 1 0.78%

Degraw, Martin C & Denise N Residence 1,645,455 5 0.51% 1(1)

MJA Investments LLC (4)
Commercial 1,312,100 6 0.41% 1,641,000 3 0.48%

Efird, J Frank & Margaret M Land Development 1,103,990 7 0.34% 967,990 6 0.28%

Pridgen, Roland S & Susan M Real Estate 1,005,500 8 0.31% 935,950 7 0.27%

Grant, Lee & Grant, Sommer (5)
Caro-San Maintenance Supplies Store 846,800 9 0.26% 901,600 9 0.26%

Pedulla, Vincent F & Susan C (6)
Residence 785,848 10 0.25% 1,210,923 5 0.35%

Duke Energy Progress, Inc. (7)
Electricity 1(1)

1,305,531 4 0.38%

Taybro LLC Real Estate 1(1)
930,910 8 0.27%

Mattocks Family Properties LLC Land Development 1(1)
864,790 10 0.25%

18,212,833$ 5.68% 13,443,834$ 3.94%

Notes:

Source: Craven County Tax Adminstration
(1) Not within top ten ranking
(2) Formerly known as Pierce Properties #1 LLC
(3) Formerly known as Conjer Green LLC
(4) Formerly known as Berit Peck
(5) Formerly known as RACS Development LLC
(6) Formerly known as Camille Hoffman
(7) Formerly known as Progress Energy Carolinas, Carolina Power & Light Company

Fiscal Year 2023 Fiscal Year 2014
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TABLE 17

TOWN OF RIVER BEND, NORTH CAROLINA
INSURANCE IN FORCE

July 1, 2022 - June 30, 2023

Type of Coverage

Workers' Compensation 1,000,000 Bodily Injury by Accident - Each Accident

1,000,000 Bodily Injury by Disease - Each Employee

1,000,000 Bodily Injury by Disease - Policy Limit

General Liability 1,000,000 Each Occurance

3,000,000 General Aggregate

1,000 Deductible

Umbrella Liability 2,000,000 Liability Limit Each Occurance

Law Enforcement Liability 1,000,000 Each Occurance

3,000,000 General Aggregate

1,000 Deductible

Public Officials Liability 1,000,000 Each Occurance

3,000,000 General Aggregate

2,500 Deductible

Public Employee Blanket Bond 100,000 Each Occurance

250 Deductible

Public Official Bond

Finance Officer 400,000 Liability

0 Deductible

Real and Personal Property 10,450,464 Covered Cause of Loss

1,000 Deductible per Occurance

Includes Boiler & Machinery

Computer Equipment/Media 500,000 Limits of Coverage

1,000 Deductible

Scheduled Equipment 260,769 Scheduled Equipment

500 Deductible

Automobile Liability 1,000,000 Per Occurance

1,000 Deductible

Automobile Comprehensive N/A Actual Cash Value Valuation

500 Deductible

Automobile Collision N/A Actual Cash Value Valuation

500 Deductible

Source: Town of River Bend Finance Department

Details of Coverage

128



TABLE 18

TOWN OF RIVER BEND, NORTH CAROLINA
UTILITY RATE INFORMATION

Fiscal Year 2023 Approved Operating Budget Ordinance

WATER RATES

3/4" 1" 2" 4"

Customer Base Charge per month 15.24 30.90 88.32 276.24

Initial Connection (Tap Fee) (1)
1,250 1,500 3,500 5,000

Non-payment Fee 70 100 100 200

Usage Charge per 1,000 gallons 4.22$

Fire Hydrant Availability Annual Charge 183.00$

SEWER RATES

3/4" 1" 2" 4"

Customer Base Charge per month 24.18 49.43 141.99 444.93

Initial Connection (Tap Fee) (1)
1,250 1,250 1,250 1,250

Usage Charge per 1,000 gallons 9.30$

(1) Minimum charge; applicant shall pay the actual cost if it exceeds the published fee.

METER SIZE

METER SIZE
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M em b ers
Am ericanInstituteofCPAs�N.C.AssociationofCPAs�AICPA DivisionofFirm s

Thom pson,Pric e ,Sc ott,Ad a m s& Co.,P.A.
4024 Ole a nd e rDrive Suite 103
W ilm ing ton,North Ca rolina 28403
Te le phone (910) 791-4872
Fa x(910) 239-8294

Re portO n Inte rna lControlO ve rFina nc ia lRe porting And O n Com plia nc e a nd O the r
M a tte rsBa se d O n An Aud itO fFina nc ia lSta te m e ntsPe rform e d In Ac c ord a nc e W ith

Governm ent AuditingStandards

Ind e pe nd e ntAud itor�sRe port

To the Honorable Mayor and
Members of the Town Council
River Bend, North Carolina

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the
governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund information of the Town of River Bend, North Carolina, as of and for the year ended June 30,
2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprises the Town of
River Bend�s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 7,
2023.

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Town of River
Bend�s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on
the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Town of River Bend�s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Town�s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent
or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the entity�s financial statements will not be prevented or detected and
corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency or combination of deficiencies,
in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit
attention by those charged with governance.
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Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider material weaknesses. However,
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Town of River Bend�s financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could
have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However,
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing
Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity�s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity�s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Thompson, Price, Scott, Adams & Co., PA
W ilm ington,North Carolina

September 7,2023
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TownofRive rBe nd ,North Ca rolina
Sche d ule ofFind ing sa nd Re sponse s

Forthe Fisca lYe a rEnd e d June 30,2023

Se c tion I. Sum m a ryofAud itor�sRe sults

Fina ncia lSta te m e nts

Type ofre porta ud itorissue d onwhe the rthe fina nc ia lsta te m e ntsa ud ite d we re pre pa re d in
a cc ord a nce toGAAP: Unm od ifie d

Inte rna lc ontrolove rfina nc ia lre porting :

M a te ria lwe a kne ss(e s) id e ntifie d ? ye s _X _no

Sig nific a ntDe fic ie nc y(s) id e ntifie d ? ___ye s X no

Nonc om plia nc e m a te ria ltofina nc ia l
sta te m e ntsnote d ? ____ye s X no
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TownofRive rBe nd ,North Ca rolina
Sche d ule ofFind ing sa nd Re sponse s

Forthe Fisca lYe a rEnd e d June 30,2023

Se c tion II�Fina nc ia lSta te m e ntFind ing s

None .
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